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Financial Highlights
MR E

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=1+—-BHLEE

2021 2020 Changes
—E-—F —EEF e
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARB TR ARBTTT

Revenue A 143,815 110,407 30.3%
Profit/(Loss) attributable to equity AATEZEEAEM
holders of the Company A (ER)
— Continuing operations'” —EERLERY (74,367) (180,806) 58.9%
— Discontinued operations'” —BRIEEEERY 100,871 (5,586} (1,905.8%)
26,504 (186,392) (114.2%)
Earnings/(Loss) per share attributable KAREZHEAEML
to equity holders of the Company SRERN(EE)
(expressed in RMB cents per share) (ABBRAREDT]R)
Basic Earnings/(Loss) per share BREXRF,(FE)
— From Continuing operations'” —REFEEEEB" (7.05) (17.12) 58.8%
— From Discontinued operations'” —REBR SR 9.56 (0.53) (1,903.8%)
2.51 (17.65) (114.2%)
Diluted Earnings/(Loss) per share BRESAERN(BE)
— From Continuing operations'” —REBELEEE (7.05) (17.12) 58.8%
— From Discontinued operations'” — 3 E B R sl 9.56 (0.53) (1,903.8%)
2.51 (17.65) (114.2%)
REVENUE BY GEOGRAPHICAL AREAS ZIMIBALE 8l WA

Year ended 31 December

BEtZA=+—-HLEE

2021 2020 Changes
—E-—F —E-THF &
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETR ARETT

The People’s Republic of China (the "“PRC")" s ZE A R A FE ([fhE )" 111,836 88,242 26.7%
Outside the PRC? B 3E 42 31,979 22,165 44.3%
Total revenue A 143,815 110,407 30.3%

(1)

(2)

For the purpose of this annual report, the revenue from the PRC does not
include those from Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan (if any).

The revenue of the continuing operations outside the PRC was primarily derived
from Allied Esports Entertainment, Inc. ("AESE"), an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, which is separately listed on the Nasdag Stock
Exchange ("NASDAQ") and operates eSports business.
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hFEUBRE

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
—E—tF ZE-)N\E ZZT-hE —ZT-TF ZEB--—F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBFTIT ARETT ARETRT AR®BTR
Revenue A 617,025 389,166 144,661 110,407 143,815
Gross profit ES 329,053 154,927 51,898 24,662 56,145
Profit/(Loss] for the year FRERF,(E8) (42,956) (697,513) (456,265) (402,588) 194,326
Attributable to equity RATERFEBEA
holders of the Company JE1h (23,996 (622,970) (419,213] (186,392 26,504
Attributable to non- FEE RS RS
controlling interests (18,960) (74,543) (37,052) (216,196) 167,822
Assets and liabilities BEENRAE
Total assets mEE 1,618,212 1,266,430 978,802 735,367 810,025
Total liabilities waE 162,682 286,456 321,583 247,481 122,038
Total equity B E 1,455,530 979,974 657,219 487,886 687,987
Note: PR RE

On 19 January 2021, AESE entered into a stock purchase agreement (the "SPA"),
which was subsequently amended on 19 March 2021 and 29 March 2021, respectively,
for the disposal of entire equity interest of its wholly-owned subsidiary, Club Services,
Inc. ("CSI"). CSI owns 100% of each of the legal entities that collectively operate or
engage in the Company’'s poker-related business, commonly known as the World
Poker Tour ["WPT"). WPT is the premier name in an internationally televised gaming
and entertainment company that has been involved in the sport of poker since 2002
and created a television show based on a series of high-stakes poker tournaments. As
the Group has committed to a plan to sell the WPT business (the “Disposal Group”)
prior to 31 December 2020, the Disposal Group has been reclassified as “Discontinued
operations” and its assets and liabilities also reclassified as “Assets of disposal group
classified as held for sale” and “Liabilities of disposal group classified as held for
sale”. Details of which are set out in the Company’'s announcements on 19 January
2021, 23 March 2021, 29 March 2021 and 30 March 2021 and the circular of the
Company dated 10 March 2021, respectively.

To supplement its financial statements which is presented in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS”), the Group has also used
non-IFRS adjusted financials as an additional financial measure to evaluate our
financial performance since the listing of the Company’s shares on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange’) in 2014. Given that the
difference between IFRS and non-IFRS financials is insignificant and will not provide
meaningful information to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”), the
Company determines that it will no longer disclose non-IFRS measures.
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ETRBS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Ourgame International Holdings Limited (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | hereby present to
you the results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.

In 2021, we adopted a proactive approach to cope with the overall regulatory
environment at home and abroad as well as the ongoing challenges in the
market. The Company insisted on its overall strategy of domestic and
international “dual-circulation” by continuously exploring the overall
existing business and developing it thoroughly while actively developing new
business. The Company’s business in China has been growing steadily and
healthily, with its existing business being “value-added” continuously,
particularly the "game hall” business. Meanwhile, the Company has been
exploring in new racetracks such as mobile game business and MCN
(multi-channel network) broadcasting. Despite the fact that the e-sports
events outside China and offline tournaments have been hindered to a
certain extent by the COVID-19 pandemic, such events have been gradually
resumed and were persistently endorsed by our cooperation partners and
sponsors. Meanwhile, the new Board and management team have continued
to consolidate and restructure some of the existing businesses and
investments of the Group based on the overall strategic planning, as well as
proactively addressing historical issues to protect and bring more benefits
to the Shareholders.

In respect of our PC game business which has over 20 years of history, the
Company’s business platform sector has been optimised and fine-tuned in
various aspects, such as improving user experience of the premium users,
to further enhance our brand stickiness and visibility and to combine short
videos which are of high popularity recently with live broadcasting projects
in order to raise the user activities, thereby promoting sustainable and
healthy growth of the revenue from PC games in 2021. The Company will
further explore the value of platform users in the future and continue to
provide hundreds of millions of platform users with better services.

In respect of the traditional card and board games projects, Ourgame
continued to press ahead with the cooperation strategy with various
channels. On one hand, our cooperation with video platform giant, iQIYl, and
other quality channels, has made steady progress. On the other hand, a
number of Ourgame’s mobile game products have commenced cooperation
with omni- channels and have been released via more than 20 channels
such as OPPO, 58.com, Tencent Mobile QQ, WeChat Mini Programs, VIVO,

Xiaomi, UC and Kuaishou, covering diversified platforms such as hardcore
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games, contents, community groups, and tools app, thereby completing the
comprehensive layout. We have also cooperated in depth with our partners,
such as Qutoutiao, for Ourgame’s game product, Fight Landlord Now (55 1
M3 3], which was well-received by the market. In the future, such product
model will be replicated in other products and promoted to other partners
for distribution, continuing to cultivate the traditional card and board games

market, while continuing to make new exploration in puzzle games.

Based on Ourgame’s industrial competitive edge in card and board games
sector, the Company has established a MCN operation team that focuses on
card and board games contents. Currently, the operation team has built its
own anchor camp covering various categories, such as Mahjong, Fight
Landlord (J#=), chess, western chess, Four-nation War Chess (PUBI & 4],
bridge and other sectors. The MCN team has continued to create
professional card and board games contents and established a team of
KOLs in card and board games sectors, and has set up accounts for
Mahjong Competitor (fii##5 %], Competitive Mahjong Tournament
Channel (FHmiEESEIEE), Weigi World (EH#EER) and many other
popular card and board games on short video platforms such as Douyin and
Kuaishou and traditional video content platforms such as iQiyi and bilibili,
continuously creating and building personal IP of anchors, live broadcasting
and providing multi-brand coverage for high competitive level and quality
users. Meanwhile, the MCN business has reached a cooperative venture
with the official card and board games of Kuaishou, which has assisted
Kuaishou's promotion of its official card and board games in the live
broadcasting sector. The cooperative venture is a new attempt for a win-win

cooperation between Ourgame and other card and board games operators.

In terms of overseas business, after the business restructuring which lasted
for nearly the entire year of 2020, AESE, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, has actively adapted to the current market environment.
AESE has made new breakthroughs in online gaming competitions and
programme production, and has renewed our contracts, as well as second-
time cooperation venture, among others, with our partners and sponsors. In
early 2021, Allied Esports, a subsidiary of AESE, and HyperX renewed a
long-term cooperation agreement, pursuant to which, HyperX continued to
secure the exclusive naming rights to Allied Esports’ global flagship
property, located at the Luxor Hotel & Casino in Las Vegas, USA. In May
2021, Allied Esports entered into a cooperation agreement with Trovo, an
emerging mobile live stream platform, with respect to tournament
execution and platform content construction, whereby, the parties will
create a new e-sports tournament, namely, Trovo Titans, covering North
America, Latin America and Europe, with prize pools amounted to
US$250,000, by which Allied Esports has leveraged its competitive
resources in tournament event planning, global operation and execution,

and contents output.
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Meanwhile, the Company has set up a subsidiary in Macau, which, with
active business planning ahead, will give full play to the regional advantages
in entertainment and leisure and to develop mind sport games in the
Southeast Asian regions such as Singapore, Vietnam and Cambodia. Various
cooperation projects in Japan by way of investment, joint venture, and

licensing are gradually progressing.

Since its inception in 1998, Ourgame has continued to focus on the
development of card and board games despite various challenges in the
market. Leveraged on its card and board games business, Ourgame has
built a mind sports ecosystem that incorporates online games, competitive
sports events, program production and live broadcasting, hence, continuing
to march towards the global sports and entertainment markets, which
forms a strong linkage with domestic and international “dual-circulation”
between Hong Kong and the United States stock markets. It is believed that
in the future, Ourgame will continue to stride forward and move towards the
goal of becoming the world’s top sports and entertainment company.
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The profit attributable to equity holders of the Company amounted to
RMB26.5 million (which comprised loss of RMB74.4 million from
continuing operations and profit of RMB100.9 million from
discontinued operations] for the year ended 31 December 2021, as
compared with the loss attributable to equity holders of the Company
of RMB186.4 million (which comprised loss of RMB180.8 million from
continuing operations and loss of RMB5.6 million from discontinued
operations) for the year ended 31 December 2020. The profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company was primarily due to the
gain on the disposal of the WPT business.

In 2021, revenue of the Group amounted to RMB143.8 million,
representing an increase of RMB33.4 million or 30.3% as compared
with RMB110.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2020. The
increase was mainly arisen from the card and board games business
in PRC due to new business initiatives. In addition, the in-person
experience revenues of AESE increased primarily attributable to the
removal of COVID-19 capacity restrictions at the AESE's HyperX
Esports Arena in Las Vegas.

In 2021, cost of revenue of the Group amounted to RMB87.7 million,
representing an increase of RMB2.0 million or 2.2% as compared with
RMB85.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2020. The gross
profit margin of the Group increased from 22.3% for the year ended
31 December 2020 to 39.0% for the year ended 31 December 2021.
The increase in gross profit margin of the Group was mainly due to
different costs allocation with the termination of exclusive operation
agreement between Beijing Lianzhong Co., Ltd. ("Beijing Lianzhong"]
and Beijing Maipu Taiqgi Technology Co., Ltd. since 1 January 2021.
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In 2021, other income of the Group amounted to RMB10.5 million,
representing an increase of RMB2.9 million or 38.1% as compared
with RMB7.6 million in 2020. This was primarily due to the increase in
interest income and gain on forgiveness of PayCheck Protection
Program loans and interest netted off with decrease in COVID-19

related rent concessions received.

In 2021, selling and marketing expenses of the Group amounted to
RMB22.0 million, representing an increase of RMB17.8 million or
424.4% as compared with RMB4.2 million in 2020. The increase was
mainly because the Group enhanced the co-operation with multiple
distribution channels during the year and different costs allocation
with the termination of exclusive operation agreement with Beijing

Lianzhong as mentioned above since 1 January 2021.

In 2021, administrative expenses of the Group amounted to RMB128.9
million, representing a decrease of RMB41.4 million or 24.3% as
compared with RMB170.3 million in 2020. The decrease was mainly
due to the loss of restricted bank balance by the withdrawal of cash
held in escrow account to Simon Equity Development, LLC ("Simon”)
as per the investment agreements signed with Simon, but AESE did
not require Simon to return AESE common stock that it received in

exchange for its investment in 2020.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEESHRDIT (&)

7.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

In 2021
to RMB24.1 million, representing an increase of RMB23.9 million or
15,474.8% as compared with RMB0.2 million in 2020. The increase
was mainly due to greater development efforts on new or updated

, research and development expenses of the Group amounted

versions of online games and costs incurred in associated research
and development activities and different costs allocation with the
termination of exclusive operation agreement as mentioned above

since 1 January 2021.

FAIR VALUE CHANGES OF FINANCIAL
ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT
OR LOSS

In 2021,
through profit or loss of the Group amounted to RMB14.2 million, as

loss in fair value changes of financial assets at fair value

compared with loss in fair value changes of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss of RMB13.4 million in 2020. The loss in
2021 and 2020 was mainly due to unexpected changes in the market
environment and some of our investee companies also suffered from
loss during the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

GAIN/(LOSS) ON CONVERSION/REDEMPTION
OF CONVERTIBLE NOTES

In 2021, gain on conversion/redemption of convertible notes of the
Group amounted to RMB6.5 million, as compared with loss on
conversion/redemption of convertible notes of RMB47.7 million for
the year ended 31 December 2020. The amount was mainly due to the
value of common stock issued upon conversion in excess of the
common stock issuable under the original terms as a result from the
amendments of conversion prices of convertible notes of AESE signed
in 2020.
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In 2021, impairment of assets of the Group amounted to RMB2.0
million, as compared with RMB126.4 million in 2020. In 2020, the
impairment of assets mainly arose from the write off of investment by
AESE in TV Azteca, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets in the total amount of RMB113.8 million, for which the
management determined that the future cash flows are not expected

to be sufficient to recover the carrying value of this investment.

The gain on disposal of discontinued operations (as included in profit/
(loss) for the period from discontinued operations) of RMB319.0
million was arisen from the disposal of the entire equity interests of
CSI, an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, owning
100% equity interests of each of the legal entities that collectively
operate or engage in a poker-related business, commonly known as
the WPT.

The profit attributable to equity holders of the Company amounted to
RMB26.5 million (which comprised loss of RMB74.4 million from
continuing operations and profit of RMB100.9 million from
discontinued operations) for the year ended 31 December 2021, as
compared with the loss attributable to equity holders of the Company
of RMB186.4 million (which comprised loss of RMB180.8 million from
continuing operations and loss of RMB5.6 million from discontinued
operations) for the year ended 31 December 2020. The profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company was primarily due to the
gain on the disposal of the WPT business.

In 2021, income tax credit of the Group amounted to RMB0.03 million,

as compared with RMB0.2 million income tax expenses in 2020.
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As at 31 December 2021, the Group's total bank balances and cash
increased by 666.9% from RMB79.4 million as at 31 December 2020 to
RMB609.1 million as at 31 December 2021. The increase was due to
the proceeds from the sale of the WPT business. As at 31 December
2021, the current assets of the Group amounted to RMB705.9 million,
including bank balances and cash of RMB609.1 million, and other
current assets of RMB96.8 million. Current liabilities of the Group
amounted to RMB72.3 million, of which RMB48.1
and other payables and deferred revenue of RMB16.6 million, and
other current liabilities of RMB7.6 million. As at 31 December 2021,
the current ratio (the current assets to current liabilities ratio) of the

llion were trade

Group was 9.76 as compared to 3.15 as at 31 December 2020. Gearing
ratio is calculated on the basis of total borrowings (net of cash and
cash equivalents) over the Group's total equity. The Group’s gearing
ratio as at 31 December 2021 was nil (2020: nil]. The Group currently
intends to finance future expansion, investments and business
operations primarily with internal resources, but may explore other

financing sources in appropriate circumstances.

The Group did not have any material investments during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

The Group did not have any material acquisitions during the year
ended 31 December 2021.
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The Group makes investments in financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss for the purposes of (i) supplementing the Group's games
portfolio to drive higher monetization of our user base and
profitability, (ii] exploring new business opportunities in related areas
of our business eco-system for acquisitions and strategic and
operational synergies, and [iii] leveraging on external financial
resources for expertise and scale. As at 31 December 2021, the
Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss amounted
to RMB56.2 million (which were included as non-current assets of
RMB48.6 million and current assets of RMB7.6 million] (31 December
2020: RMB69.7 million which was included as non- current assets.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group's investments in unlisted equity
investments amounted to RMB56.2 million (which were included as
non-current assets of RMB48.6 million and current assets of RMB7.6
million], which mainly included direct equity investments in selected
startup companies mainly engaged in games or mind sports related
technological research and development and direct subscription to
the interests in private equity funds (the “Private Equity Funds”) that
focus on providing early-stage funding for companies in the mind
sports sector. A breakdown of the majority of these investments is set
out below:

AEBRZARBEH ABERZEREE
ERRE BRI ANEE 23R8
G NHEDHEMAPAZZRREAR
FIRe N - (NRBREFERE R HRE B
TR TE S - DA T IR B I E AR B
1 IE & 15 R ARRE - K (iii) f& Bh A 3D B 75 2R
FRESEEMBZRBERAE R =
—F+ A=+ —H XEEZQAAE
AR EREERARKN2ES
TGIABIERHEEARBIBOEE T
MABEEARKI(EEBL)(ZEZE
F+ZRA=+—H: ARBOTEE T
FARERBEE)

R-B-_—F+-_A=+—8 AKH
RIFLTHREREZRERARES2
BELTGIARERBDEEARKLLLE
ETLRBEEARBIAET)
EERNETRAERR(ETEREEE
HENEHHB MR 2 HEE
GRELREERBETREE NEHR
REBNRAREANNRE LS RE
Ex((ABEREES D 2 2SR
BZRERAMESMAT

Amount of
Capital Contributed Percentage of
Name of Invested Company/Private Equity Funds by the Group  Shareholding Principal Business
BREAF ALEREESER AEEXESHE 2 EREOWK FTEXEY®
Beijing Yilian Investment Centre (L.P.) RMB5,000,000 5% Investment/management
EREMREPL(BRE®) A R #5,000,0007T KRE &R
Gong Qing Cheng Wujiang Xingyao Investment RMB20,000,000 8.635% Investment/management
Management Partnership (L.P.)
HERDNBERREEEARLE(BERER) A R #20,000,0007T RE/EE
Beijing Zhongchuang Yonglian Investment RMB23,000,000 22.77% Investment/management
Management Centre (L.P.)
IRBEAKBIREERDL(ERAR) AR # 23,000,000 7T REEE
Tong Xiang Juli Fengyuan Equity Investment RMB20,000,000 64.52% Investment/management
Fund Management Partnership (L.P.)
MBBENEERERERSEEARDLE A E % 20,000,000 7T KE /&1
(BER&®)
All In Asia Culture and Tourism Development RMB19,574,700 20% Investment/management
Company Limited
BBEMEIREZERER R A AR 19,574,700 7T REEE
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For the year ended 31 December 2021, no dividends have been paid
from the above invested companies as included in non-current assets.
All startup companies invested by the Group are in relatively early
stage, and are mainly focused on product development and launching.
The startup companies are in the internet, sports and entertainment
segment, which is expected to provide us with a platform to leverage
on our experience and resources, and to minimise our investment
risks. We believe that our investment initiative is an important aspect
of our vision to build up our ecosystem as a whole. The Group will
continue to seek other investment opportunities that not only create
synergies on different levels but also offer high-yield return potential.
The Group will continue to monitor its investment in financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss in a responsible manner. There are
no financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in the Group's
investment portfolio that individually constitutes significant
investment as none of the investments has a carrying amount that
accounts for more than 5% of the Group's total assets as at 31
December 2021.

Movements of Financial Assets at Fair Value
through Profit or Loss

The movements of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out below:

HE2_ZEZ2-_—"F+-_A=+—HIF
B st ARERBDEENKRER
APERANRE - AEEKRENAE Z
ZRIEATHERIEE F M EREE -
BXrZ&EhRAAERELER - BIER
RAAEHA BERIRETE  EHE
BREMREHFEE  UFMBARMOER K
BlR UG ERRBERE  ZRMRA
B Rz RERERBEYERBERR
GREEsEZ- R AEEBEESX
TRAE®E LAl R Rz - [ IR R4
mERE N EMEERS - NER K
SESRENEREAAETABRZ S
BEERE RZTEZ—F+=ZA=+
—HB - BAREBBAREZERABAL &GN
EEBEESWA L MAEEKRERS
ZERAREHAER R EELEE
RIEBKEKXNIESE -

BARESAREZENE
EZ%E
BE_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HLFE
BAREH AR 2RAE ROW
PR

Included as Non-Current Assets SEARERBEE
Unlisted equity
investments
kLt
ERRE
RMB'000
AR T
Balance as at 1 January 2021 RZZBZ—F-—F-AZHER 69,683
Addition NE -
Disposals & (6,850])

Fair value changes recognised in RIERERZ DA

profit or loss (14,218)
Exchange difference ME W =R -
Fair value as at 31 December 2021 RZEZ—F+-A=T—HZARE 48,615
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18.

19.

20.

21.

Included as Current Assets

SIARRBEE

Unlisted equity

investments

e}

ERRE

RMB'000

ARBFT

Balance as at 1 January 2021 RZEZ—F—RA—Bz2&H -

Additions nNE 9,000

Disposals & (1,500)

Dividend income i S A 77

Fair value as at 31 December 2021 NZE-_—F+_A=+—B2Z221E 7,577
MATERIAL DISPOSALS 18. EXHBE

Except as disclosed in Note 44 to the consolidated financial BRARFRES M BRRM T ES

statements in this annual report, the Group did not have any material

disposals during the year ended 31 December 2021.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, none of the Group's assets was pledged. As
at 31 December 2020, the convertible notes issued in 2020 are
secured by all assets of AESE.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2021 (2020: nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group mainly operated
in China and in the United States of America and the majority of its
transactions were settled in Renminbi ("'RMB”) or USD, being the
functional currencies of the Group entities to which the transactions
relate. As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have significant

foreign currency exposure from its operations.
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22.

23.

24,

EMPLOYEE'S REMUNERATION AND POLICY

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 180 employees, 99 of which
were responsible for games development and operation or general
administration in the PRC (including Hong Kong), and 81 for AESE.
The total remuneration expenses [including share-based
compensation expense) for the year ended 31 December 2021 were
RMB77.2 million, representing an increase of 17.4% as compared to
the year of 2020.

EVENTS OCCURRED SINCE THE END OF THE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

The Group did not have any material events occurred since the end of
the year ended 31 December 2021.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group does not have other
plans for material investments and capital assets.

22.

23.

24,

{E & % B & BUR
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ESBRS

The Board hereby presents its report together with the audited consolidated ZBES RN REARESERNAEEHZE
T+ A=+ BLEEENKREZE
MRS -

Pl

financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021. =

The principal activities of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021 are online card and board games development and operation
and live broadcast business via its subsidiaries in the PRC and
eSports business via AESE (NASDAQ: AESE]. The activities of our
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 20 to the consolidated

financial statements.

The analysis of the Group’s revenues and segment information is set
out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2021 (including particulars of important events affecting
the Company that have occurred during the year ended 31 December
2021, an analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using
financial key performance indicators and a discussion on the Group's
future business development) is provided in the Chairman’s
Statement on pages 4 to 6 of this annual report. A description of the
principal risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing can be
found on pages 75 to 78 of this Directors’ Report. In addition, the
financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are
available in Note 42 to the consolidated financial statements. Except
as disclosed in this annual report, no other important event affecting
the Company has occurred during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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As far as the Board is aware, except as disclosed herein, the Group
has complied with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group in all material respects during the
year ended 31 December 2021.

The Group values the rights and interests and the needs of each
employee, and strictly observes the provisions of the relevant laws,
statutes and regulations of the PRC to provide employees with various
security, welfare and benefits. The Group has also set up a sound
promotion and assessment system to encourage fair competition. In
addition, the Group attaches importance to communications with its
employees. Apart from personalized mailbox and DingDing accounts,
there are systems in place to allow one-on-one communication
between employees and the Chief Executive Officer and/or chairman,
communication between employees and their line managers, and
communication channels including all-staff town hall meeting.

As users of online card and board games could be regarded as the
main customers of the Group, the Group provides its users with high-
quality and safe services in online events. In relation to online events,
the Group has set up a link to the security center on the official

website and web games to protect users’ game accounts and privacy.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group had approximately
310 suppliers. The Group selects, on its own initiative, suppliers
whose products and services are in compliance with relevant
applicable standards and adopts strict acceptance standards
including a preliminary assessment on the impact of the goods or
services provided by the suppliers on the environment and society.
Under our strict supervision, no risk has been identified in our supply
chain during the year ended 31 December 2021. Please refer to the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Group for further

details.

In 2021, AESE donated US$12,000 to an organization that supports
women in gaming and content creation, namely 100 Dreams Fund
BroadcastHER Academy.

Except the aforesaid, the Group did not make any other charitable
donations during the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: US$0).
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Taking the principal activities of the Group into consideration, less
destruction has been made directly to the environment, but protecting
the environment has always been essential to us and has guided our
actions to minimize our impact. In view of the scarcity of resources,
the Group advocates policies on the efficient use of resources on its
own initiative, motivates all of its employees to participate in
resources conservation activities and encourages them to save water,
power and paper. As most promotion campaigns are conducted
online, packaging or advertisement materials for such campaigns are
therefore not required and no consumption or waste is produced. We
substitute business travels by using remote telephone conferencing

as much as possible in order to reduce traffic emissions.

In the future, continuous efforts will be made by the Group and our
employees in promoting sustainability in environment, social and
corporate governance.

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income on pages 112 to 113 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: nil).

Changes to the reserves of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2021 are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Changes to the reserves of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2021 are set out in Note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements. As at 31 December 2021, the Company had
reserves available for distribution of approximately RMB281.3 million
(2020: RMBA479.4 million].
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10.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND 6.
INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Changes to the property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
of the Group during the year are set out in Notes 17 and 23,
respectively, to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE INCENTIVE 7.
SCHEMES

Details of the Company’s share capital and share incentive schemes
are set out in Notes 35 and 37 to the consolidated financial
statements, the paragraph headed “Share Option Schemes” on pages
20 to 28 and the paragraph headed “Share Award Scheme” on pages
29 to 30 of this annual report, respectively.

SUBSIDIARIES 8.

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2021

are set out in Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY 9.

A summary of the consolidated results and of the financial positions
of the Group is set out on pages 112 to 115 of this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE 10.

COMPANY’'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any listed securities of the Company during the year ended
31 December 2021.
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Apart from the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme,

the

Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, the 2014 Share Option
Scheme as set out in section 12 and the Share Award Scheme as set

out in section 13 of this Directors’

Report,

no equity-linked

agreements were entered into by the Group or existed during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

The Company has adopted three share option schemes, namely, (i)

the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, (i) the Management
Pre-1PO Share Option Scheme and (i) the 2014 Share Option Scheme.

As at 31 December 2021, a total of 73,062,128 share options were
granted to the following Directors pursuant to the Management Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme and the 2014 Share Option Scheme:

BRAEEEREBNEHMEANEEER
NHABEEABRERSE BEEBERR
MEERBRESS T -NFER

PS8 K 31380 P # 0 B 1D 22 B T &)
S RBE—E-_—F+-A=t+—8H
LHEE AEEYETIHFERSE S
§9 155 &%

RRAB RN =IAR R ETE - AR
BERLHBEMBRESE  (1EE

EBERAFEZEEAERESS L) =F
—MERE RS

——F+-A=+—H 2#RE
BB AHEENBRETE RS
T-NEBREFERMTINEEELES
73,062,128 17 B AL AE -

/H

1 omp R

Outstanding Outstanding

asat Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed as at
1 January during during during during 31December  Exercise price
Name of Directors Date of Grant 2021 theyear theyear theyear theyear 2021 per Share

R-B=-% R-B=-%

—A—AH +=-A=+-H
EEp REHBEH HRTE FARE FRTE FEH FRAXX HATE BROKE
Mr. Yang Eric Qing 20 February 2014 20,851,064 - - - - 20,851,064 US$0.16714303
("Mr. Yang")" —E-mE-_A=-+AH 0.16714303% 7T
BELE(HBEE]D" 5 January 2015 11,760,000 - - - - 11,760,000 HK$2.67
—h¥—HAHA 26THTT
8 January 2016 3,920,000 — — - — 3,920,000 HK$5.506
ZE-R"F—-ANAH 55063 7T
Mr. Ng Kwok Leung 20 February 2014 20,851,064 - - - - 20,851,064 US$0.16714303
Frank (Mr.Ng")? —Z—@E-F=-+H 0.16714303% 7T
HERLE 5 January 2015 11,760,000 - - - - 11,760,000 HK$2.67
(MEEED" —Z-AF—-AEA 267THTT
8 January 2016 3,920,000 — — - — 3,920,000 HK$5.506
—E-RE—-ANH 55067 70

Total 73,062,128 — - - — 73,062,128

Bt
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Notes:

(1) Mr. Yang resigned as chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company and an executive Director with effect from 30 June 2020.

(2) Mr. Ng resigned as an executive Director with effect from 29 June 2019
and a Co-Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect from 30
August 2019 and served as the director and chief executive officer of
AESE with effect from 9 August 2019. Mr. Ng also resigned as a
consultant of the Company with effect from 30 June 2020.

Summary of the Share Option Schemes

Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

Purpose

The purpose of the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to give
employees of the Group an opportunity to acquire a personal stake in
the Company and help motivate such employees to optimize their
performance and efficiency, and to retain the employees whose
contributions are important to the long term growth and profitability
of our Group. The options entitle eligible employees to obtain existing
issued shares in the Company from Blink Milestones Limited and will

not involve the Company issuing any new shares.

Exercise Price

The exercise price under the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
is RMB0.1276 per share (adjusted for capitalisation issue, on the basis
of RMBO0.12756). Please refer to “Appendix IV — Statutory and General
Information” of the prospectus of the Company dated 18 June 2014 (the
“Prospectus”] for further information.

Exercise of Option

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) subject to the Employee
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be vested in four equal annual
instalments, with the first instalment representing twenty five percent
(25%) of the Shares subject to the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme vesting on the first anniversary of the date of listing (the
“Listing”) of the Company’'s Shares on the Stock Exchange [i.e. 30
June 2014) (the “Listing Date”), and an additional instalment vesting
on each anniversary thereafter, subject to the fulfilment of the
grantee’s performance target for the full calendar year before the
vesting determined by the Company being fulfilled and the grantee’s
continuing to be an employee of the Company and being in compliance
with the terms and conditions of the option award agreement dated
20 February 2014 through each such date.
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Maximum Numbers of Shares

The maximum numbers of Shares in respect of which options under
the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme may be granted is
25,009,600 Shares. On 7 March 2014, 25,009,600 share options (adjusted
for capitalization issue)] were granted to 29 key employees of the
Company by Blink Milestones Limited, after that no further options
were granted. The particulars of the options granted under the
Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out in “Appendix IV
— Statutory and General Information” of the Prospectus.

Life of the Employee Pre-1PO Share Option Scheme

The Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is effective from 7
March 2014 and the remaining life of the scheme as of the date of this
annual report is less than 2 years.

Outstanding Share Options
The options under the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme were
fully exercised or forfeited in 2019.

Management Pre-1PO Share Option Scheme

Purpose

The purpose of the Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to
give senior management of the Company [the “Participants”) an
opportunity to acquire a personal stake in our Company and help
motivate such Participants to optimize their performance and
efficiency, and also to help retain the Participants whose contributions
are important to the long-term growth and profitability of our Group.

The principal terms of the Management Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme are substantially the same as the terms of the Employee

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme except that:

(a)  the exercise price under the Management Pre-IPQ Share Option
Scheme is US$0.16714303 per Share (adjusted for capitalisation
issue, on the basis of US$0.34398035);

(b)  twenty five percent (25%) of the Shares subject to the
Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be vested on
the first anniversary of the grant date and the remaining Shares
subject to the Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall
be vested in 36 equal monthly instalments with the first
instalment vesting upon the 13th monthly anniversary of the
grant date and each of the remaining instalments vesting on
each monthly anniversary of the 13th monthly anniversary of
the grant date thereafter. The options may be exercised upon
the Listing.
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Maximum Numbers of Shares Available for Issue

The maximum numbers of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options under the Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
is 50,042,553 Shares.

Life of the Management Pre-1PO Share Option Scheme

The Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is effective for a
period of 10 years from 7 March 2014 and the remaining life of the
scheme as of the date of this annual report is less than 2 years.

Outstanding Share Options

As at 31 December 2021, 50,042,554 share options were granted to
certain members of our senior management and Directors under the
Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, of which 3,822,624 share
options were exercised, leaving an outstanding balance of 46,219,930
options, representing approximately 4.23% of the issued Shares as at
31 December 2021.

Save as disclosed, none of the options so far granted have been

exercised, forfeited and/or lapsed.

Details of the movements of options under the Management Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2021 are
set out in the table below and in Note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements:

Outstanding

ORTHRSREEE
EREBEARAAMEBEESIBRESIET
RO EERERETEEANETNR
= H B % {5 A&50,042,553 % ©

EEBESRABRENHERES B
E5
EREERAMEENBRES G
T-mMAE=ALARTEBEEN
BEAFRAN HHBTEHALR
e

HRTEERE
R-ZZE-_—F+_-_A=+—H8 BRIE
EEEBXAAAEER BRI AR
MHETEREEEXNERESTRY
50,042,554 17 8 Ax - K #13,822,624 17 B8
AE i B ETTIE - B8R T 46,219,93010 B A%
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BT R R KR
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ALFENESHEBEIARTRREAY
MR EI7

Outstanding

asat Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed asat
Position in relevant 1January  during during during  during 31 December  Exercise price
Grantees Group companies  Date of Grant 2021 theyear theyear theyear theyear 2021 per Share
RZZ=-fF RZB=-F
REBEE -A-H FR R f " R t=ZA=t+-H
ABA A EBA R A8 i R1T R g (iR ik HATE  BROEE
Connected person of the Company
AARBEAL
Mr. Yang[” Connected person of 20 February 2014 20,851,064 - — — — 20,851,064 US$0.16714303
the Company
B AREHEALT Z—FT-ME-A=-TH 0.16714303% 7T
Mr. Ngm Connected person of 20 February 2014 20,851,064 - — — — 20,851,064 US$0.16714303
the Company
fhkE” AARBEAT Z—E-WE-A=+H 0.16714303% 7T
Mr. Zhang Connected person of 20 February 2014 4,517,802 - — — — 4,517,802 US$0.16714303
Peng"” the Company
RExRLEY ARRBEAT —E-WE-A=+AH 0.16714303% 7T
Total 46,219,930 - - - - 46,219,930
@t
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Notes:

(1) Mr. Yang resigned as chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company and an executive Director with effect from 30 June 2020.

(2) Mr. Ng resigned as an executive Director with effect from 29 June 2019
and a Co-Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect from 30
August 2019. Mr. Ng also resigned as a consultant of the Company with
effect from 30 June 2020.

(3) Mr. Zhang Peng resigned as the president of the Company with effect
from 25 May 2019. Mr. Zhang Peng also resigned as a consultant of the
Company with effect from 30 June 2020.

2014 Share Option Scheme

Purpose

The Company adopted the 2014 Share Option Scheme on 19
November 2014 (the “Adoption Date"). The 2014 Share Option Scheme
is valid for a period of 10 years from the grant date of each option. The
purpose of the 2014 Share Option Scheme is to provide key
employees, directors or officers of the Group (the "Eligible Persons”)
with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the Company
and to encourage them to work towards enhancing the value of the
Company and its Shares for the benefit of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole. The 2014 Share Option Scheme provides the
Company with a flexible means of retaining, incentivizing, rewarding,
remunerating, compensating and/or providing benefits to Eligible

Persons.

Any individual, being an employee, director or officer of any member
of the Group whom the Board or its delegatel(s] considers, in their
sole discretion, to have contributed or will contribute to the Group is

entitled to be offered and granted options.

Number of Shares Available for Issue under the 2014 Share
Option Scheme

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the 2014 Share Option Scheme and any
other schemes is 78,400,000, being no more than 10% of the Shares
in issue as at the Adoption Date. Such scheme mandate limit may be
refreshed at any time by obtaining approval of the Shareholders in
general meetings and/or such other requirements prescribed under
the Listing Rules from time to time. However, the overall limit on the
number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the 2014
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company at any time must not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue

from time to time.
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At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 13 May 2016,
the Shareholders approved the proposed refreshment of the scheme
mandate, so that the Company could grant further options under the
2014 Share Option Scheme for subscription of up to a total of
78,719,037 additional Shares. Further details are set out in the
circular of the Company dated 12 April 2016.

Maximum Entitlement to Participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the options granted and to be granted under the 2014 Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemels] of the Company to
each Eligible Person [including both exercised and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the total
number of Shares in issue (the “Individual Limit"). Any further grant
of options to an Eligible Person which would result in the aggregate
number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
granted and to be granted to such Eligible Person in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such further grant exceeding
the Individual Limit shall be subject to separate approval of the
Shareholders.

Determination of the Exercise Price

The amount payable for each Share to be subscribed for under an
option in the event of the option being exercised shall be determined
by the Board but shall be not less than the greater of: (a) the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet issued by
the Stock Exchange on the grant date; (b) the average closing price of
the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the grant
date; and (c) the nominal value of a Share on the grant date.

The option period is to be determined and notified by the Board to
each grantee at the time of making an offer, and shall not expire later
than ten years from the grant date of the 2014 Share Option Scheme.
There is no minimum period for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised in general. However, at the time of granting any
option, the Board may, on a case by case basis, make such grant
subject to such conditions, restrictions or limitations including (without
limitation] those in relation to the minimum period of the options to
be held and/or the performance targets to be achieved as the Board

may determine in its absolute discretion.
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Vesting period of the Share Options
(1) 25% of the share options shall vest and be exercisable with
effect from the first anniversary of the grant date;

(2)  the second 25% of the share options shall vest and be
exercisable with effect from the second anniversary of the grant
date;

(3)  the third 25% of the share options shall vest and be exercisable
with effect from the third anniversary of the grant date; and

(4)  the remaining 25% of the share options shall vest and be
exercisable with effect from the fourth anniversary of the grant
date.

Exercise of Option
The options may be exercised up to 25% of the Shares for each year
after the first anniversary of the grant date of the share option for four
consecutive years.

Payment on Acceptance of Share Option

An amount of RMB1.00 must be paid as consideration for the grant of
the share options and such payment must be made within 20 business
days from the date the share option grant offer is made to the Eligible
Person.
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Movements in the Share Options/Outstanding Share Options

Details of the movements of the options under the 2014 Share Option

EBREBE HXITRERE

TR NFEREFEETBEENE

Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in the E-E-_—FF+_A=+—HIEFEH
table below: BE)FBFHNTXK
Outstanding Outstanding
asat Granted Exercised Cancelled  Lapsed asat
1January  during during during during 31 December Exercise price
Grantees Date of Grant Exercisable period 2021 theyear theyear theyear theyear 2021 per Share
R-B=-% R-B=-%
-A-8 £R) R £R £/ +ZA=+-H
ERA REAH pER:E: L HATHE R (g4 e ¥ HATHE BRITREE
Connected person of the Company
ARRHEAL
Mr. Yang‘” 5 January 2015 5 January 2015 — 11,760,000 — — — — 11,760,000 HK$2.67
‘ 4 January 2025
BELE" “Z-RF-AEA “T-RF-AEHEZE 26T T
ZE-A%5—-AMWmA
8 January 2016 8 January 2016 — 3,920,000 - - - - 3,920,000 HK$5.506
7 January 2026
—E-"%—-ANR ZE-R"E-ANRE 5506 7T
“Z-RE-RAtH
Mr. Ng* 5 January 2015 5 January 2015 — 11,760,000 - - - - 11,760,000 HK$2.67
‘ 4 January 2025
gL “Z-RF-AEA “T-RF-AEHEZE 26T T
—E-A%5—-AMWmA
8 January 2016 8 January 2016 — 3,920,000 - - - - 3,920,000 HK$5.506
7 January 2026
—E-x"%—-ANR ZE-R"E-ANRE 5506 T
“Z-RE-RAtH
Employees of the Company
ARREE
5 January 2015 5 January 2015 — 18,323,839 - - — (100,000 18,223,839 HK$2.67
4 January 2025
—E-1%—-ARA —Z-h¥—-fhHZ%E 2678
-5 —-AMmA
9 July 2015 9 July 2015 — 13,295,000 - — —  (887,500) 12,407,500 HK$4.402
8 July 2025
“E-RFtANA “Z-REtLANRE 44028 TT
R s AN
17 May 2016 17 May 2016 — 700,000 - - - - 700,000 HK$3.684
16 May 2026
“T-A"FRA+ttH ZE-R"FRAt+tHZE 3.6847 T
ZEZRERATRA
7 September 2016 7 September 2016 — 1,190,000 - - - - 1,190,000 HK$3.95
6 September 2026
- ENAtA —E-R"¥NAtEZE 39587
ZZZRENARE
28 April 2017 28 April 2017 — 27 April 2027 120,000 - - - - 120,000 HK$2.886
ZE—+tFMAZFTN\H ZE-+tEMAZ+N\RE 2886 T
“ZtFMA-TtA
Total 64,988,839 - - - (987,500] 64,001,339
@
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Notes:

(1) Mr. Yang resigned as chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company and an executive Director with effect from 30 June 2020.

(2) Mr. Ng resigned as an executive Director with effect from 29 June 2019
and a Co-Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect from 30
August 2019. Mr. Ng also resigned as a consultant of the Company with
effect from 30 June 2020.

As at 31 December 2021, 84,840,000 options have been granted under
the 2014 Share Option Scheme, and 8,655,400 options have been
forfeited, 10,880,250 options have lapsed and 1,303,011 options have
been exercised, leaving an outstanding balance of 64,001,339 options,
representing approximately 5.94% of the issued Shares as at 31
December 2021. No share option was granted in 2021. Save for the
above, none of the options so far granted have been exercised,
forfeited and/or lapsed.

Life of the 2014 Share Option Scheme
The 2014 Share Option Scheme is effective for a period of 10 years
from 19 November 2014 and the remaining life of the scheme as of

the date of this annual report is less than 3 years.

Valuation of Share Options

Details of the valuation of share options granted are set out in Note 37
to the consolidated financial statements.
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The Company adopted a share award scheme on 19 May 2017 [the
“Share Award Scheme”). The Share Award Scheme is not a share
option scheme and is not subject to the provisions of Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules.

Purpose of the Share Award Scheme

The purpose of the Share Award Scheme is to align the interests of
eligible persons with those of the Group through ownership of Shares,
dividends and other distributions paid on Shares and/or the increase
in value of the Shares, and to encourage and retain eligible
participants to the Share Award Scheme (the “Share Award Scheme
Participants”) to make contributions to the long-term growth and
profits of the Group.

Maximum Number of Shares to be Granted

The aggregate number of Shares underlying all grants made pursuant
to the Share Award Scheme (excluding awarded Shares which have
been forfeited in accordance with the Share Award Scheme) will not
exceed 7% of the total number of issued Shares as at the date of
adoption of the Share Award Scheme (i.e. 15 May 2017], being
55,084,636 Shares (the “Share Award Scheme Limit"). If the Company
awards any Shares which are to be newly issued, it shall be subject to
an annual limit of 3% of the Shares in issue as at the date of each

annual general meeting of the Company.

Vesting of Awards

The Board or its delegate(s] may from time to time while the Share
Award Scheme is in force and subject to all applicable laws,
determine such vesting criteria and conditions or periods for the

Award to be vested.
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Movements in the Share Award Scheme

As of 31 December 2021, 39,632,494 Shares were purchased by the
Company for the purpose of the Share Award Scheme, and an
aggregate of 38,013,483 Shares were awarded to the Share Award
Scheme Participants.

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the
date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lu Jingsheng (Chief Executive Officer)"
Mr. Gao Hong"

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Li Yangyang (Chairman)®
Mr. Liu Jiang

Mr. Liu Xueming"’

Ms. Gao Liping"
Mr. Hua Yumin®
Mr. Chen Xian"”
Ms. Fu Qiang®
Mr. Hu Wen”

Ms. Wu (Claire) Libing"”

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Ma Shaohua
Mr. Zhang Li""
Mr. Guo Yushi'?

Professor Huang Yong'™

Notes:

(1) Mr. Lu Jingsheng was re-designated as an executive Director and
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect from
1 May 2021.

(2) Mr. Gao Hong was removed as an executive Director with effect from 6
May 2021.

(3) Mr. Li Yangyang resigned as the acting Chief Executive Officer of the

Company with effect from 1 May 2021, and was re-designated as a non-
executive Director with effect from 31 March 2022.

(4) Mr. Liu Xueming was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect
from 6 May 2021.
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(5) Ms. Gao Liping was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect
from 4 November 2021.

(6) Mr. Hua Yumin was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect
from 4 November 2021.

(7) Mr. Chen Xian resigned as a non-executive Director with effect from 5
February 2021.

(8) Ms. Fu Qiang was removed as a non-executive Director with effect from
6 May 2021.

(9) Mr. Hu Wen was removed as a non-executive Director with effect from 6
May 2021.

(10)  Ms. Wu (Claire] Libing was appointed as a non-executive Director with
effect from 6 May 2021 and resigned as a non-executive Director with
effect from 24 September 2021.

(11 Mr. Zhang Li was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
with effect from 6 May 2021.

(12)  Mr. Guo Yushi was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
with effect from 4 November 2021.

(13)  Professor Huang Yong resigned as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 14 May 2021.

Biographical Details of Directors

Executive Director

Lu Jingsheng, aged 43, has been an executive Director and the chief
executive officer of the Company since 1 May 2021. Mr. Lu was an
independent non-executive Director from 30 June 2020 to 1 May 2021.
He holds a bachelor of economics degree in international business
administration from the University of International Business and
Economics, and has the qualifications of American Certified Public
Accountant, Chinese Certified Public Accountant and fund practice, as
well as ACCA member of British Certified Public Accountant. Since
June 2018, he has served as the financial director of Beijing
International Advertising & Communication Group (1t R BIBE EEEE
£ 3. From February 2013 to June 2018, he served as a director of
Zhejiang Sunriver Culture Co., Ltd. (HIITHIRX(LAR K BRAR]) and
the responsible person for the Beijing region of Xiamen XTone
Animation Co., Ltd. [EPIPEENE B A R]). From October 2001 to
October 2010, he served as the audit manager at the audit department
of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants Co., Ltd.
Beijing Branch ({BE)EKEFMEHAERIFILRSFH) and a
senior auditor at the audit department of Deloitte’s Boston Branch in
the United States.
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Non-Executive Directors

Li Yangyang, aged 43, has been chairman of the Board since 30 June
2020 and a non-executive Director since 31 March 2022. Mr. Li was an
executive Director from 30 June 2020 to 31 March 2022 and the acting
chief executive officer of the Company from 30 June 2020 to 1 May
2021. Mr. Li has served as the chairman of the board of directors of
World Business Services Union (E417%@) and Choi Shun
Investment Limited (RPIFIEREBFRE A7) since 2014. In 2008, he
integrated Zhejiang Dongyang Elephant Media Co., Ltd. (/TGRSR
{EE AR A7), Beijing Elephant Guozhong Advertising Co., Ltd. (3L
ARBEFELEER AR and Beijing Elephant Zhiyuan Cultural Media
Co., Ltd. BERARZ T EHE AR 2 ) into Elephant Media Group (X
ZEEEE) and served as the chairman of the board of directors of
Elephant Media Group. In 2003, he founded Business Media China
Group (PR ES NERAMR A A and served as its chief executive
officer. In 2001, he served as Assistant President of China Great Wall
Industry Corporation (FF Bl K& T L Q).

Liu Jiang, aged 54, had been an executive Director since the
incorporation of our Company until 27 March 2015 when he was
re-designated as a non-executive Director on the same day. Mr. Liu
joined our Group in December 2010 and holds directorship in Beijing
Lianzhong Co., Ltd.. He also serves as chairman of the board of
directors of Hehong Holdings Group. Mr. Liu received his Bachelor of
Economics from the East China Jiaotong University, China in 1991.

Liu Xueming, aged 36, has been a non-executive Director since 6 May
2021. Mr. Liu has served as the chairman of Ruian Yuyue Technology
Company Limited (mEmFREHEEREEAF) since December
2016. From 2015 to 2016, Mr. Liu was a senior manager at the legal
department of China National Native Produce and Animal By-
Products Import & Export Corporation (FE - E&EE H AL AT, a
subsidiary of the China National Cereals, Oils and Foodstuffs
Corporation. From June 2014 to 2015, Mr. Liu was a manager at the
governmental affairs department of Procter & Gamble (China) Ltd.
EZ2(FE)ERAF)). Mr. Liu obtained a bachelor of laws in
international economic law from the University of International
Business and Economics (“UIBE”) in June 2008, a master of laws in
international commercial law from the Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam
in July 2009 and a doctor of philosophy in international law from the
UIBE in June 2014.
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Gao Liping, aged 60, has been a non-executive Director since 4
November 2021. Ms. Gao has been a director of Aimer Co., Ltd.* (B %
1D BBR AR ("Aimer”] (stock code: 603511.SH) since January 2017,
the shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Ms.
Gao has over 38 years” experience in accounting and finance. She was
a vice president of finance of Aimer from August 1995 to December
2016, an accounting supervisor of Beijing Wangma Computer
Corporation* (1t R £ EJE4E A R]) from March 1993 to July 1995 and
a general ledger accountant (#2BR&5T) of the 5th Factory of Beijing
Automation Instrumentation Co., Ltd.* BtREBEMLERAM from
December 1983 to February 1993. Ms. Gao obtained a bachelor of
industrial enterprise accounting degree from Renmin University of
China in July 1990 and a master of business administration (finance)
degree from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in July 2014.

Hua Yumin, aged 43, has been a non-executive Director since 4
November 2021. Mr. Hua has over 20 years’ experience in corporate
finance and investment. He has been a chairman of the investment
committee of Liuzhou Dongtou Venture Capital Management Co.,
Ltd.* (BN RIZEIZEIRE BT AR AT since August 2018. From May
2007 to July 2018, he was a board secretary and investment manager
of Shunli Ban Information Service Co., Ltd.* (IEF|##z 2 BRFSHAD AR
A 7)) (formerly known as Qinghai Mingjiao Co., Ltd.* (5B MH A
BR2 7)) (stock code: 000606.57), a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange. From April 2002 to April 2007, he was an investment
manager of Tianjin Teda Venture Capital Corporation Limited (K)#Zz
ERIBRERM AR AR]). Mr. Hua obtained a bachelor of economics
degree from Tianjin University of Finance and Economics in July 2002
and a joint master’'s degree in international trade and economic
relations from Nankai University and Flinders University in October
2005. He further obtained a master of business administration degree

from China Europe International Business School in October 2014.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ma Shaohua, aged 42, has been an independent non-executive
Director since 30 June 2020. Mr. Ma holds a Bachelor of Laws from
Northern Jiaotong University (now known as Beijing Jiaotong
University] and a master of public administration from the Party
School of the CPC Central Committee. Since 2018, he has worked at
Legend Holdings Corporation.
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Zhang Li, aged 47, has been an independent non-executive Director
since 6 May 2021. Mr. Zhang has extensive experience and knowledge
in accounting and financial management. Mr. Zhang has been the
chief accountant (EfE&&TAN) of Joinach Certified Public Accountants
(bR AR SR 2 5T RIS 75 F7) since 2009. Prior to that, Mr. Zhang was a
regional finance director of China of Popular Holdings (KFRIZAZZ(D
BBRAF] from 2005 to 2007 and an assistant to president of
Shandong Wohua Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (ILIFAZEEE SRS A (D
R 2 &]) from 2003 to 2005. Mr. Zhang obtained a master of business
administration from the China Europe International Business School
and has the qualifications of Chinese Certified Public Accountant, the
Chinese Certified Tax Agent and fund practice.

Guo Yushi, aged 50, has been an independent non-executive Director
since 4 November 2021. Mr. Guo has been a founder and the chief
executive officer of Quanjing Tengfei Management Technology (Beijing]
Co., Ltd* (2REREEFHLELRIBR AT since March 2014, and
the chief executive officer of Beijing Quanjing Gaoyuan Consulting Co.
Ltd* ERE2ESERZEMERAR) since December 2011. From
August 2009 to September 2011, Mr. Guo was a partner of Korn Ferry
(NYSE: KFY), a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange. From
September 2004 to July 2009, he was a chief partner of Gallup
Consulting Co., Ltd. (Beijing), and from September 2003 to August
2004, he was a marketing director of Gallup Consulting Co., Ltd.
(Shanghai). From July 1997 to August 1999, he worked in China Forest
International Travel Agency* [FREIZRMEIRIKITH]) and was
responsible for the business development of the company. Mr. Guo
obtained a bachelor’'s degree in forestry and a master of ecology
degree from Beijing Forestry University in July 1994 and July 1997,
respectively. He further obtained a master’'s degree in leisure
management from the University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign in
July 2001 and a master of business administration degree from the
Emory University in June 2003.

*  For identification purpose only
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Mr. Lu Jingsheng has entered into a service contract with the
Company under which he agreed to act as an executive Director for a
term of three years commencing on 1 May 2021, the service contract
will continue thereafter until which may be terminated by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either Mr. Lu or the

Company.

Pursuant to his re-designation as a non-executive Director, Mr. Li
Yangyang has entered into a new service contract with the Company
for a term of three years commencing on 31 March 2022. Mr. Ma
Shaohua has signed an appointment letter with the Company for a
term of three years commencing on 30 June 2020, Mr. Liu Xueming
and Mr. Zhang Li have each signed an appointment letter with the
Company for a term of three years commencing on 6 May 2021, Ms.
Gao Liping, Mr. Hua Yumin and Mr. Guo Yushi have each signed an
appointment letter with the Company for a term of three years
commencing on 4 November 2021, and Mr. Liu Jiang has signed an
appointment letter with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from the date of his appointment letter and subject to
the terms and conditions specified therein. The appointments of
Directors are subject to the provisions of retirement and rotation of
Directors under the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles
of Association”).

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting (the "AGM"] has an unexpired service
contract which is not determinable by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at any time during the year ended 31 December
2021,
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Details of the remuneration of the Directors and those of the five
highest paid individuals are set out in Notes 15 and 16 to the
consolidated financial statements. The remuneration of the Directors
is determined based on the market price and contribution made by
such Director to the Company.

There has been no arrangement under which any Director has waived

or agreed to waive any emoluments.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director or other
officers of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the
assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or
sustained by him/her as a Director or other officers of the Company in
defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which

judgment is given in his/her favor, or in which he/she is acquitted.
The Company has maintained Directors’ liability insurance during the

year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date of this annual report
which provides appropriate cover for the Directors.
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As at 31 December 2021, solely based on the disclosure of interests
forms filed by the relevant parties, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance [Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the "SFO")
which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they have taken, or are deemed to
have, under such provisions of the SFOJ; or (b) were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company; or (c) were required, pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the "Model
Code”), to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were
as follows:
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Approximate

percentage
Number of of interest in
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares held"® the Company"
NN R
BEEng B REMEE FERAEAY R N n
Shares
B 4
Mr. Li Yangyang Beneficial owner 8,958,000(L) 0.83%
ES R b EmEA A
Interest in controlled corporation'” 307,888,906(L) 28.57%
RyELE "
Mr. Liu Jiang Interest of spouse 2,182,000(L) 0.20%
2T E B
Interest in controlled corporation 63,679,864(L) 5.91%
YA E R
Mr. Lu Jingsheng ("Mr.Lu") Beneficial owner® 22,000,000(L) 2.04%
BEm A A ([BERE] EmlEaA”
Mr. Liu Xueming Beneficial owner" 2,250,000(L) 0.21%
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Notes:

(1) Among the 307,888,906 Shares held by Choi Shun Investment Limited,
50,000,000 Shares of which are held by Choi Shun Investment Limited,
221,653,555 Shares of which were purchased from a third party and the
transaction has not been completed and 36,235,351 Shares of which
Choi Shun Investment Limited is only entitled to exercise the voting
rights.

(2) The interest is directly held by Wise Empire Holdings Limited, which was
purchased from a third party by China Changjiang River Ltd and the
transaction has been completed on 9 July 2021.

(3) The interest was granted to Mr. Lu pursuant to the Share Award Scheme
on 30 December 2021.

(4) The interest was granted to Mr. Liu Xueming pursuant to the Share
Award Scheme on 30 December 2021.

(5) The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in such Shares.

(6) These percentages are calculated on the basis of 1,077,799,887 Shares
inissue as at 31 December 2021.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company and their respective
associates had or was deemed to have any interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which the Directors and chief executive
of the Company are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFOJ, or were required to be recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which
were required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the

Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short FTERFERAQTRGD - 1BE
Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares and R REESDPHEEINESRS
Debentures of the Company EXRE

Solely based on the disclosure of interests forms filed by the ERBERAARETERTMEZMEIN
substantial shareholders of the Company with the Stock Exchange, as BHREEERE R_BE-_—F+-A=
at 31 December 2021, the following persons (other than the Directors +—H8 Rk BEKDERRARE
or the chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions BETHEERBEZEARBEGHE
in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company as B HER AR ARBEZIGHFER
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under EauftmmERAEMAT(ESH
section 336 of the SFO: ARREBITBRARBIMNMT :

Approximate

percentage
Number of of interest in
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares held”  the Company'®"”
HARRF
fEEW
BREESE BB B EEME FREROEE" A E 2 e
Choi Shun Investment Limited Beneficial owner"” 307,888,906(L) 28.57%
B EIREBRAA EEEEAN
Irena Group Co., Ltd. Interest of controlled corporationm 290,690,848(L) 26.97%
BEZEXEROHBERAR Tk EEREY
Glassy Mind Holdings Limited Beneficial owner™” 290,690,848(L) 26.97%
SEEREBRAT BEEHEEANY
Mr. Yang Eric Qing ("Mr. Yang") Beneficial owner” 36,531,064(L) 3.39%
HBERE(BEED EamEa A"
Interest of controlled corporation®  221,653,555(L) 20.57%
SR A E R
Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank ("Mr. Ng") Beneficial owner™ 36,531,064(L) 3.39%
HEREE(REED Eama Al
Interest of controlled corporation®  221,653,555(L) 20.57%
TR A E R
Mr. Zhang Peng Beneficial owner 12,884,425(L) 1.20%
iR MB 5 A ExnBEBA
Interest of controlled corporation®  221,653,555(L) 20.57%
Tk E "
Total Victory Global Limited Interest of controlled corporation’®  221,653,555(L) 20.57%
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Name of Shareholder

BREREEEB

Capacity/Nature of Interest

56 HEEHE

Number of
Shares held"”

Frs 5 8 B "

Approximate
percentage
of interest in
the Company
LR NN
RN

m 1%4] E ﬁ ttlsllwl

Jianying Ourgame High Growth Investment Fund

ERBEREREREES

Lynch Barry Patrick

Middleton Edward Simon

CMC Ace Holdings Limited

CMC Capital Partners, GP, L.P.

CMC Capital Partners, GP, Ltd.

CMC Capital Partners, L.P.

La Confiance Investments Ltd.

Le Bonheur Holdings Ltd.

Wise Empire Holdings Limited

China Changjiang River Ltd
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Beneficial owner®

EREAAY

Interest of receiver
%E ANER

Interest of receiver
BE AR

Beneficial owner®?

BEREAAY

Interest of controlled corporation'
REE g

Interest of controlled corporation
170 5% B 4 25

Interest of controlled corporation
REE g

Interest of controlled corporation
Rk E s

Interest of controlled corporation
REEE R

Beneficial owner”

EAEAN

Interest of controlled corporation'”
REEEEE"

221,653,555(L)

132,464,366(L)

132,464,366(L)

117,600,000(L)

117,600,000(L)

117,600,000(L)

117,600,000(L)

117,600,000(L)

117,600,000(L)

63,679,864 (L)

63,679,864 (L)

20.57%

12.29%

12.29%

10.91%

10.91%

10.91%

10.91%

10.91%

10.91%

5.91%

5.91%



EEZRS (B8)

Notes:

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

(10)

Among the 307,888,906 Shares held by Choi Shun Investment Limited,
50,000,000 Shares of which are held by Choi Shun Investment Limited,
221,653,555 Shares of which were purchased from a third party and the
transaction has not been completed and 36,235,351 Shares of which
Choi Shun Investment Limited is only entitled to exercise the voting
rights.

The 290,690,848 Shares represent the same block of Shares held by a
chain of ownership involving Glassy Mind Holdings Limited.

Mr. Yang resigned as Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
and an executive Director with effect from 30 June 2020. The interest
comprises 20,851,064 underlying Shares and 15,680,000 underlying
Shares granted to Mr. Yang pursuant to the Management Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme and the 2014 Share Option Scheme, respectively. Details
of the share options granted are set out in the section headed "Share
Option Schemes”.

Mr. Ng resigned as an executive Director with effect from 29 June 2019
and a Co-Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect from 30
August 2019. The interest comprises 20,851,064 underlying Shares and
15,680,000 underlying Shares granted to Mr. Ng pursuant to the
Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the 2014 Share Option
Scheme, respectively. Details of the share options granted are set out in
the section headed “Share Option Schemes”.

The interest is directly held by Jianying Ourgame High Growth
Investment Fund (i mi R &K KR EEE) in which Total Victory Global
Limited, controlled by Mr. Yang, Mr. Ng and Mr. Zhang Peng, has the
majority voting rights.

The 117,600,000 Shares represent the same block of Shares held by a
chain of ownership involving CMC Capital Partners.

The interest is directly held by Wise Empire Holdings Limited, which was
purchased from a third party by China Changjiang River Ltd and the
transaction has been completed on 9 July 2021.

The percentage figures have been subject to rounding adjustments.
Accordingly, figures shown in totals may not be an arithmetic
aggregation of the figures preceding them.

The letter “"L" denotes the person’s long position in such Shares.

The percentages are calculated on the basis of 1,077,799,887 Shares in
issue as at 31 December 2021.
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Save as disclosed above, solely based on the disclosure of interest
forms filed by the substantial shareholders of the Company with the
Stock Exchange, as at 31 December 2021, the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company were not aware of any other person (other
than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had an
interest or short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or
debentures of the Company as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, save as disclosed below,
no other related party transaction disclosed in Note 40 to the
consolidated financial statements constitutes a connected transaction
or continuing connected transaction which should be disclosed
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. All the connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions with disclosure
requirements under the Listing Rules during the year are listed
below. The Directors confirm they have complied with the disclosure

requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Connected Transactions

Grant of Award Shares to Directors Pursuant to the Share
Award Scheme

On 30 December 2021, the Board resolved to grant 22,000,000 award
Shares to Mr. Lu and 2,250,000 award Shares to Mr. Liu Xueming
pursuant to the Share Award Scheme, both of them are Directors. The
award Shares granted to the two Directors represent approximately
2.25% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this
annual report.

Since Mr. Lu and Mr. Liu Xueming are connected persons of the
Company, the grant of the award Shares to each of them constitutes a
connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Further details of the grant of award Shares are set out in the

announcement of the Company dated 30 December 2021.

Annual Report 2021

%LY%H@%%'E@W$“?E%
P 3R 1) B X2 P 4R A2 M) M R I ER R AR

:g:—¢+fﬂ:+—5*%$&$
RATETBAEBTABEMEMA
T(EFLIARFATETRAERINRK
ARABRD  HEABROKEREETHES
ARIEE R HE (& B 55336 {6 iC 8 7
AR AMREZ GO 17 B/ B A e

R -

REBEEZZE=-Z—F+=_A=+—HLF
EW*%TY%&@%%v%éW%ﬁ
KM OB BN EMEE IR IR
RIBE EmRBEUAZE BT LB ED
MEXFRFERERS - FAMEA
BT EMRAEERAETNEERS RF
BHAERXHINTXHY EEHRES
BET ETRAUFUAZSEBENRER
EEO

BERS
BEEREOEBSGEDESELR
B B% 12
R-_ZTE-_—F+_A=Z+H B=ZFC
BORIBIE B D SR AT B A RE St A B
B B 4E A 4% 22,000,000 A% 22 B B% (5 K
2,250,000 #ZEIRR D - A REE -
RYZMEBESZREBROHEERERR
AR AFIRE BB BHITIRAL2.25% -

MREEERBSHEERARA ZH
BAL RELTRAFUAS ﬁﬁ
EERHEBBRNDER AR ZHE
5o

EHEFLERBRND 2E—TFHFBHRAR
ANRBHAEA-_ZTE-_—F+-_A=+HB2

At



EEZRS (B8)

Contractual Arrangements

The VIE Structure 1

On 11 December 2001, the State Council promulgated the Regulations
for the Administration of Foreign-Invested Telecommunications
Enterprises ( (GMNEREBEREEIEHE)) (the "FITE Regulations”),
which were amended on 10 September 2008. According to the FITE
Regulations, foreign investors are not allowed to hold more than 50%
of the equity interests of a company providing value-added
telecommunications services. In addition, a foreign investor who
invests in a value-added telecommunications business in the PRC
must demonstrate a good track record and prior experience in
providing value-added telecommunications outside the PRC prior to
acquiring any equity interests in any value-added telecommunications
services business in the PRC (the "Qualification Requirement’).
Currently, none of the applicable PRC laws, regulations or rules
provides clear guidance or interpretation on the Qualification
Requirement. Therefore, in order for the Company to be able to carry
on its business in the PRC, the Group has entered into a series of
agreements to enable the Company to gain effective control over, and
receive all the economic benefits generated by the business currently
operated by Beijing Lianzhong and its subsidiary on the one hand, and
Beijing Lianzhong and its shareholders on the other hand. Please
refer to the Prospectus for further details.

As at 31 December 2021, the Company has no update to disclose in

relation to the Qualification Requirement.
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As disclosed in the Prospectus, the Group conducts its online game
business through the PRC operating entity, Beijing Lianzhong, an
important wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group. Beijing Lianzhong is
principally engaged in the operation of online card and board games.
Because of certain foreign investment restrictions, it was not viable
for the Company to hold Beijing Lianzhong directly through equity
ownership as a foreign investor. In line with common practice in
industries which is subject to foreign investment restrictions in the
PRC, the Company would gain effective control over, and receive all
the economic benefits generated by the business currently operated
by Beijing Lianzhong and its subsidiaries through a series of
contractual arrangements [the “Contractual Arrangements 1)
between Beijing Lianzhong Garden Network Technology Co., Ltd. (the
"WFOE 1), the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary on the one hand,
and Beijing Lianzhong and its shareholders on the other hand. The
Contractual Arrangements 1 allow Beijing Lianzhong's financials and
results of operations, together with those of its subsidiaries, to be
consolidated into our financials as if it was a wholly-owned Subsidiary
of our Group (the “VIE Structure 17).

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company controlled
Beijing Lianzhong and WFOE 1 through the Contractual Arrangements
1. WFOE 1 is a limited company incorporated under the laws of the
PRC on 21 January 2014 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Lianzhong
Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited, a company incorporated under the
laws of Hong Kong on 18 December 2013 and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. WFOE 1 is therefore a connected person
of the Company pursuant to Rule 14A.07(5) of the Listing Rules. By
virtue of the Contractual Arrangements 1, Beijing Lianzhong is a
connected person of the Company for the purposes of Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. The transactions under the Contractual
Arrangements 1 therefore constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Company. The Company confirms that it has
complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of these continuing
connected transactions.

Reasons for the Contractual Arrangements 1

Details of the reasons for using the Contractual Arrangements 1 are
set out on pages 130 to 132 of the Prospectus.
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Risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements 1

We believe the following risks are associated with the Contractual
Arrangements 1. Further details of these risks are set out on pages
35 to 39 of the Prospectus.

o If the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish
the structure for operating our business in China do not comply
with applicable PRC laws and regulations, or if these laws and
regulations or their interpretations change in the future, we
could be subject to severe penalties and our business may be

materially and adversely affected.

o The Group relies on the Contractual Arrangements 1 to control
and obtain economic benefits from Beijing Lianzhong, which
may not be as effective in providing operational control as equity
ownership.

o The shareholders of Beijing Lianzhong may have conflicts of
interest with us, which may materially and adversely affect our

business and financial condition.

J Certain terms of the Contractual Arrangements 1 may not be
enforceable under PRC laws.

o We may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets held by Beijing
Lianzhong that are important to the operation of our business if
Beijing Lianzhong declares bankruptcy or becomes subject to a
dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

o The Contractual Arrangements 1 between the WFOE 1 and
Beijing Lianzhong may subject our Group to increased income
tax due to the different income tax rates applicable to the WFOE
1 and Beijing Lianzhong, which may adversely affect our results
of operations.

o The Group's exercise of the option to acquire equity interests of
Beijing Lianzhong may be subject to certain limitations and the

ownership transfer may subject us to substantial costs.

J The Contractual Arrangements 1 between the WFOE 1 and
Beijing Lianzhong may be subject to scrutiny by the PRC tax
authorities and any finding that we or Beijing Lianzhong owe
additional taxes could substantially reduce our consolidated net

income and the value of our Shareholders’ investment.
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Mitigation actions taken by the Company

. The Company has existing protections measures under the
Contractual Arrangements 1. The Company’s Risk Management
Committee will regularly review the compliance and
performance of such conditions under the Contractual

Arrangements 1.

o The Company’s public affair department and legal department
will deal with matters relating to compliance and regulatory
enquiries from relevant PRC authorities and report to the Board

on a regular basis.

o Legal advisers and other professional have been and will
continue to be retained to assist the Company to deal with
related matters arising from the Contractual Arrangements 1,
and the auditor of the Group was engaged to provide annual
confirmations regarding the Contractual Arrangements 1.

The extent to which the Contractual Arrangements 1 relate to
requirements other than the foreign ownership restriction

All of the Contractual Arrangements 1 are subject to the restrictions
as set out on pages 130 to 132 of the Prospectus.

Contractual Arrangements 1

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Contractual
Arrangements 1 comprised six agreements, namely (a) the Master
Exclusive Service Agreement 1, [(b] the Business Cooperation
Agreement 1, (c) the Exclusive Option Agreement 1, [d] the Share
Pledge Agreement 1, (e] the Proxy Agreement 1 and (f) the Power of
Attorney 1.
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The following diagram illustrates how economic benefits flow from

Beijing Lianzhong to our

TREMBRESORE ERBER

Group under the Contractual Arrangements 1: EEBEROLCENE

(1)

(2)

(3)

Convenants not to materially affect Beijing Lianzhong's assets and business and
right to appoint its directors and officers (Note 1)

Power of attorney to exercise all shareholders' rights in Beijing Lianzhong (Note 2]

Exclusive option to acquire all or part of the equity interest in Beijing Lianzhong

(Note 3)

(4

(Note 4)

First priority security interest over the entire equity interest in Beijing Lianzhong

(1) TEHUERMRZEEREFURZEEESTRERBMB 2 RFEREATE 2 H (1)
(2) TT{EIEAREE R A BORIER 2 R RFEE (HFE2)
(3) WAL AEE R 2 ER AP B 2 WA B A (MAE3)

(4) LR R 2RI 2 5 — @R E M (M)

The WFOE 1 P Original Shareholders (Note 6]

SMEEE DR FRIGARER (FI5Es)
Management and consultation service E !
(Note 5) v 100%
I M A AR (HTEES) v

Beijing Lianzhong
1B R

Notes: it =

1.

Please refer to the section headed “Contractual Arrangements 1 —
Business Cooperation Agreement 1" of this annual report for details.
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Please refer to the section headed "Contractual Arrangements 1 — 2. ERAFE F2HREAEFRIAOTH1—
Proxy Agreement and Power of Attorney 1" of this annual report for ZithE R ERTEE ] 6
details.

Please refer to the section headed “Contractual Arrangements 1 — 3. BEFS F2HUAERIEHTH1—
Exclusive Option Agreement 1" of this annual report for details. BRERAET 1] —8 o

Please refer to the section headed “Contractual Arrangements 1 — 4. BEFS F2HUAERIEHTH1—
Share Pledge Agreement 1" of this annual report for details. M0 & 1175 1 | — &0 e

Please refer to the section headed “Contractual Arrangements 1 — 5. BHEFS BF2HUAERIEHTH1—
Master Exclusive Service Agreement 1" of this annual report for details. BRRB AW —E -

Original Shareholders are Mr. Zhang Rongming, Mr. Liu Jiang, Mr. Shen 6. RIRR AREEA LA B4 R A
Dongri, Mr. Bao Yuegiao, Ms. Long Qi and Ms. Wu Lan. K HRBELE BRI RSMR L.
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Master Exclusive Service Agreement 1

Beijing Lianzhong entered into a master exclusive service agreement
with the WFOE 1 on 28 January 2014 (the "Master Exclusive Service
Agreement 1), pursuant to which, in exchange for a quarterly service
fee, Beijing Lianzhong agreed to engage the WFOE 1 as its exclusive
provider for the following services:

J any activities not within its normal business scope, or operating
its business in a way that is inconsistent with its past practice;

J providing technology development and transfer, and technical
consulting services;

o providing occupation and pre-occupation staff training services;

o providing public relation services;

o providing market investigation, research and consulting
services;

o providing mid- or short-term market development and market

planning services;

. providing human resource management and internal
information management;

. providing network development, upgrade and daily
maintenance;

. providing sale services of self-produced products;
. licensing of software;
. providing maintenance services in respect of computer software

and hardware system, database and computer servers;

. providing maintenance and upgrade services in respect of the
online games;

. providing training services in respect of online game technology
and operations;

. providing research and development services in respect of
online game software and maintenance of the system;

. selling and authorising Beijing Lianzhong to license software;
and
. other services determined from time to time by the WFOE 1

according to the need of business and capacity of the WFOE 1
and its designated affiliates.
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Under the Master Exclusive Service Agreement 1, the service fee is
equal to 100% of the consolidated net profits of Beijing Lianzhong.
The WFOE 1 may adjust the service fee at its sole discretion with
reference to the working capital requirements of Beijing Lianzhong
and in accordance with several factors relating to the services
provided, including (i} technical difficulty and complexity of the
services; (i) time spent in providing the services; [iii] contents and
commercial value of the services; and (iv) the benchmark price of
similar services in the market. Since Beijing Lianzhong's funding
requirements are satisfied by their residual operating cash after
paying the service fee to the WFOE 1, we do not expect to transfer any
net proceeds from the Global Offering to Beijing Lianzhong.

Intellectual property rights are developed during the normal course of
business of Beijing Lianzhong since its daily operations involve,
among other things, research and development and game
development. Pursuant to the Master Exclusive Service Agreement 1,
any intellectual properties developed by performance of the Master
Exclusive Service Agreement 1, including but not limited to copyrights,
trademarks, patents, technical secrets and knowhow, belong to the
WFOE 1. If a development is based on the intellectual properties
owned by Beijing Lianzhong, Beijing Lianzhong shall warrant and
guarantee that such intellectual properties are flawless and it shall
bear all damages and losses caused to the WFOE 1 by any flaw of
such intellectual properties. The WFOE 1 has the right to recover all

of its losses from Beijing Lianzhong for liabilities to any third party.

The Master Exclusive Service Agreement 1 can be terminated by the
WEFOE 1 at any time upon 30 days’ written notice to Beijing Lianzhong.
The Master Exclusive Service Agreement 1 shall also be terminated
upon the transfer of all the shares of Beijing Lianzhong to the WFOE 1
and/or a third party designated by the WFOE 1 pursuant to the

Exclusive Option Agreement 1.
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Business Cooperation Agreement 1

Beijing Lianzhong, its shareholders and the WFOE 1 entered into a
business cooperation agreement on 28 January 2014 (the "Business
Cooperation Agreement 1°). Under the Business Cooperation
Agreement 1, Beijing Lianzhong and its shareholders, jointly and
severally, agree and covenant that, without obtaining the written
consent of the WFOE 1, Beijing Lianzhong shall not, and Beijing
Lianzhong's shareholders shall cause Beijing Lianzhong not to,
engage in any transaction which may materially affect its asset,

obligation, right or operation, including without limitation:

J any activities not within its normal business scope, or operating
its business in a way that is inconsistent with its past practice;

. merger, reorganisation, acquisition or restructuring of its
principal business or assets, or acquisition or investment in any

other form;

o offering any loan to any third party, incurring any debt from any
third party, or assuming any debt other than in the ordinary

course of business;

J engaging, changing or dismissing any director or any senior
management officer;

o selling to or acquiring from any third party, mortgaging,
licensing or disposing of in other ways tangible or intangible

assets, other than in the ordinary course of business;

J incurring, inheriting, assuming or guaranteeing any debt that
are not incurred during the ordinary course of business, using
its assets to provide security or other forms of guarantees to
any third party, or setting up any other encumbrances over its

assets;

o making any supplement, amendment or alternation to its
articles of association and by-laws, increasing or decreasing of
its registered capital or changing the structure of its registered

capital in other manners;

. making a distribution of a dividend, or share interest or
sponsorship interest in any way, provided that upon the written
request of the WFOE 1, Beijing Lianzhong shall immediately
distribute part or all of its distributable profits to its
shareholder(s) who shall in turn immediately and
unconditionally pay or transfer to the WFOE 1 any such
distribution;

Annual Report 2021

EXEIERmE
R-_ZT—MmME—/F =+ N84 7B
BoERERIABECEIGILERA
EmZ(EREEHR) - BREEBKA
e bR B R R ERE LR R @R
REWRFE RAESIEBECEE
AREZEMNEBRT  ERBRAA AR
Bt R R AR EI R R N2 M) s
HEE BB BIXILLEERNEAY
Z2NEMNRS  BEETERR :

e WIHHEHETLEXRHHEAMNEM
mE AR T MOR S — B
TAEEEER:

e HIBEBHEENAH BA-
W EH  EMEMEZANK
BagE:

e REFEBBRENII MEFE=
TREEMER S BREEME
= EREBSREEAER

s ZR EEIMEEMEFHEM
SRERAS

e BREFEBBREMNUIN AEMSE
=R ESRKE  ER - R
Hit W AREBEVRELEE

. S8 o REXERIIENE
EEBBEPIIRNEMER  F
REEBERNAME=ZFRHFER
MEEMEANERIYEEE
REEMEMEERE:

e HHAMZEEMA LM AIEDE
CECEIRRCHIES - -yl Y 2
HEMERNSLAELMD AKEH
A E AR

o NEMAADTADIREKB BN ER
IS MERTRIGT RRING
BELCFIBEHEEAREK bR
BRALANRAEBRERERD KEBS
K2 EA DI E N - BRR A RS
REGEGRIEBEELE 1IN
HERTABEDIK



EEZRS (B8)

o executing any material contract, except contracts executed in
the ordinary course of business (for purpose of this subsection,
the WFOE 1 may define a material contract at its sole
discretion);

o selling, transferring, mortgaging or disposing of in any manner
any legal or beneficial interest in its business or revenues, or

allowing the encumbrance thereon of any security interest;

o a dissolution or a liquidation and distribution of residual assets; or

. causing any of its branches or subsidiaries to engage in any of
the foregoing or enter into any contract, agreement or other
legal documents which may lead to or result in any of the
foregoing.

In addition, Beijing Lianzhong agreed and covenanted to the WFOE 1

that Beijing Lianzhong shall, and the shareholders shall cause Beijing

Lianzhong to:

o accept suggestions raised by the WFOE 1 over the engagement
and replacement of employees, daily operations, dividend
distribution and financial management systems of Beijing
Lianzhong, and Beijing Lianzhong shall strictly abide by and

perform accordingly;

J maintain Beijing Lianzhong's corporate existence in accordance
with good financial and business standards and practices by
prudently and effectively operating its business and handling its

affairs;

o conduct Beijing Lianzhong's businesses in the ordinary course
of business to maintain the asset value of Beijing Lianzhong
and refrain from any act or omission that may adversely affect
Beijing Lianzhong's operating status and asset value;

o provide the WFOE 1 with information on Beijing Lianzhong's
business operations and financial condition at the request of
the WFOE 1;

o if requested by the WFOE 1, procure and maintain insurance in
respect of Beijing Lianzhong's assets and business from an
insurance carrier acceptable to the WFOE 1, at an amount and
type of coverage typical for companies that operate similar
businesses;
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. immediately notify the WFOE 1 of the occurrence or possible
occurrence of any litigation, arbitration or administrative
proceedings relating to Beijing Lianzhong's assets, business or

revenue; and

o execute all necessary or appropriate documents, take all
necessary or appropriate actions and file all necessary or
appropriate complaints or raise necessary and appropriate
defences against all claims so as to maintain the ownership by
Beijing Lianzhong of all of its assets.

According to the Business Cooperation Agreement 1, the
shareholders of Beijing Lianzhong shall only appoint persons
designated by the WFOE 1 as directors, the general manager, the
chief financial officer and other senior management members of
Beijing Lianzhong, and the shareholders shall dismiss any such
directors or senior management members upon the request of the
WEFOE 1. Beijing Lianzhong and its shareholders also jointly and
severally covenanted that Beijing Lianzhong shall seek appropriate

approval from the WFOE 1 prior to entering into any material contract.

Furthermore, the shareholders agree that, unless required by the
WFOE 1, they shall not put forward, or vote in favour of, any
shareholders’ resolution to, or otherwise request Beijing Lianzhong
to, distribute profits, funds, assets or property to the shareholders, or
to issue any dividends or other distributions with respect to the shares
of Beijing Lianzhong held by the shareholders.

The Business Cooperation Agreement 1 shall remain effective as long
as Beijing Lianzhong exists, unless the WFOE 1 terminates it upon 30
days” advance written notice or upon the transfer of all the shares
held by Beijing Lianzhong's shareholders to the WFOE 1 and/or a third
party designated by the WFOE 1.

Exclusive Option Agreement 1

Beijing Lianzhong and its shareholders entered into an exclusive
option agreement with the WFOE 1 on 28 January 2014 (the “Exclusive
Option Agreement 1°], pursuant to which the WFOE 1 has a right to
require the respective shareholders to transfer any or all the shares
of Beijing Lianzhong they hold to the WFOE 1 and/or a third party
designated by it, in whole or in part at any time and from time to time,
at the lowest price allowable under PRC laws and administration

regulations at the time of transfer.
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The Exclusive Option Agreement 1 shall remain effective as long as
Beijing Lianzhong exists, and cannot be terminated by either Beijing
Lianzhong or its shareholders. The Exclusive Option Agreement 1 can
be terminated (i) by the WFOE 1 at any time upon 30 days’ advance
written notice to Beijing Lianzhong and its shareholders; or (i) upon
the transfer of all the shares held by the shareholders to the WFOE 1
and/or a third party designated by the WFOE 1.

Beijing Lianzhong and its shareholders, among other things, have
covenanted that:

o without the prior written consent of the WFOE 1, they shall not
in any manner supplement, change or amend the articles of
association and bylaws of Beijing Lianzhong, increase or
decrease its registered capital, or change the structure of its
registered capital in other manners;

o they shall maintain Beijing Lianzhong’'s corporate existence in
accordance with good financial and business standards and
practices by prudently and effectively operating its business and
handling its affairs;

o without the prior written consent of the WFOE 1, they shall not
sell, transfer, mortgage or dispose of in any manner any assets
of Beijing Lianzhong (except in the ordinary course of business),
or legal or beneficial interest in the business or revenues of
Beijing Lianzhong, or allow the encumbrance thereon of any
security interest;

. without the prior written consent of the WFOE 1, they shall not
incur, inherit, guarantee or assume any debt, except for debts
incurred in the ordinary course of business;

o they shall always operate all of Beijing Lianzhong's businesses
during the ordinary course of business to maintain the asset
value of Beijing Lianzhong and refrain from any action/omission
that may adversely affect Beijing Lianzhong's operating status
and asset value;

o without the prior written consent of the WFOE 1, they shall not
cause Beijing Lianzhong to execute any material contract (as
defined by the WFOE 1 at its sole discretion), except the
contracts executed in the ordinary course of business;
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without the prior written consent of the WFOE 1, they shall not
cause Beijing Lianzhong to provide any person with any loan or

credit other than in the course of ordinary business;

they shall provide the WFOE 1 with information on Beijing
Lianzhong's business operations and financial condition at the
request of the WFOE 1;

if requested by the WFOE 1, they shall procure and maintain
insurance in respect of Beijing Lianzhong's assets and business
from an insurance carrier acceptable to the WFOE 1, at an
amount and type of coverage typical for companies that operate

similar businesses;

without the prior written consent of the WFOE 1, they shall not
cause or permit Beijing Lianzhong to merge, consolidate with,

acquire or invest in any person;

they shall immediately notify the WFOE 1 of the occurrence or
possible occurrence of any litigation, arbitration or
administrative proceedings relating to Beijing Lianzhong's

assets, business or revenue;

to maintain the ownership by Beijing Lianzhong of all of its
assets, they shall execute all necessary or appropriate
documents, take all necessary or appropriate actions and file
all necessary or appropriate complaints or raise necessary and
appropriate defences against all claims;

they shall ensure that Beijing Lianzhong shall not, without the
prior written consent of the WFOE 1, in any manner distribute
dividends to its shareholder(s], provided that upon the written
request of the WFOE 1, Beijing Lianzhong shall immediately
distribute part or all of its distributable profits to its
shareholder(s) who shall in turn immediately and
unconditionally pay or transfer to the WFOE 1 any such
distribution;

at the request of the WFOE 1, they shall appoint any persons
designated by the WFOE 1 as the directors and/or executive

directors of Beijing Lianzhong;
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o they shall cause the meeting of shareholders and the board of
directors of Beijing Lianzhong to pass shareholders’ resolutions
and board resolutions in accordance with the instruction of the
WFOE 1; and

o unless otherwise mandatorily required by PRC laws, Beijing
Lianzhong shall not be dissolved or liquidated without prior
written consent by the WFOE 1.

Share Pledge Agreement 1

The shareholders of Beijing Lianzhong and the WFOE 1 entered into a
share pledge agreement on 28 January 2014 (the "Share Pledge
Agreement 1°]. Under the Share Pledge Agreement 1, the
shareholders of Beijing Lianzhong unconditionally and irrevocably
pledged all of the shares of Beijing Lianzhong that they own, including
any interest or dividend paid for such shares, to the WFOE 1 as a
security for the performance of the obligations by Beijing Lianzhong
and its shareholders under the Master Exclusive Service Agreement 1,
the Business Cooperation Agreement 1, the Exclusive Option
Agreement 1 and other agreements to be executed among Beijing
Lianzhong, its shareholders and the WFOE 1 from time to time
(collectively the “Principal Agreements 17).

The pledge shall remain valid until all parties have agreed to
terminate the Share Pledge Agreement 1, the Principal Agreements 1
have been fulfilled to the satisfaction of the WFOE 1 or all of the
Principal Agreements 1 have expired or been terminated.

Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an event of
default (as defined in the Share Pledge Agreement 1), the WFOE 1
shall have the right to require Beijing Lianzhong's shareholders to
immediately pay any amount payable by Beijing Lianzhong under the
Master Exclusive Service Agreement 1, repay any loans and pay any
other due payments, and the WFOE 1 shall have the right to exercise
all such rights as a secured party under any applicable PRC law,
including without limitations, (i) to sell all or any part of the pledged
shares at one or more public or private sales upon three days’ written
notice to the pledgor, and [ii) to execute an agreement with Beijing
Lianzhong's shareholders to acquire the pledged shares based on
their monetary value which shall be determined by referencing the

their market price.
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Proxy Agreement 1 and Power of Attorney 1

Beijing Lianzhong, each of its shareholders and the WFOE 1 entered
into a proxy agreement and power of attorney on 28 January 2014 (the
"Proxy Agreement 1 and Power of Attorney 1°). Under the Proxy
Agreement 1 and Power of Attorney 1, each shareholder irrevocably
appointed the WFOE 1 [as well as its successors, including a
liquidator, if any, replacing the WFOE 1] as its attorney-in-fact to
exercise on its behalf, and agreed and undertook not to exercise
without such attorney-in-fact’s prior written consent, any and all right
that it has in respect of its shares in Beijing Lianzhong, including

without limitation:

o to call and attend shareholders” meetings of Beijing Lianzhong,
and receive notices and materials with respect to the

shareholders’ meeting;

o to execute and deliver any and all written resolutions and
meeting minutes in the name and on behalf of such
shareholder;

. to vote by itself or by proxy on any matters discussed on
shareholders” meetings of Beijing Lianzhong, including without
limitation, the sale, transfer, mortgage, pledge or disposal of
any or all of the assets of Beijing Lianzhong;

o to sell, transfer, pledge or dispose of any or all of the shares in
Beijing Lianzhong;

J to nominate, appoint or remove the directors, supervisors and
senior management of Beijing Lianzhong when necessary;

. to oversee the economic performance of Beijing Lianzhong;

o to have full access to the financial information of Beijing
Lianzhong at any time;

o to file any shareholder lawsuits or take other legal actions
against Beijing Lianzhong's directors or senior management
members when such directors or members are acting to the
detriment of the interest of Beijing Lianzhong or its

shareholder(s);
o to approve annual budgets or declare dividends;

. to manage and dispose of the assets of Beijing Lianzhong;
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o have the full rights to control and manage Beijing Lianzhong's
finance, accounting and daily operation (including but not
limited to signing and execution of contracts and payment of
government taxes and duties);

. to approve the filing of any documents with the relevant
governmental authorities or regulatory bodies; and any other
rights conferred by the articles of association of Beijing
Lianzhong and/or the relevant laws and regulations on the
shareholders.

In addition, if any share transfer is contemplated under the Exclusive
Option Agreement 1 and the Share Pledge Agreement 1 that Beijing
Lianzhong's shareholders enter into for the benefits of the WFOE 1 or
its affiliate, the WFOE 1 shall have the right to sign the share transfer
agreement and other relevant agreements and to perform the
Exclusive Option Agreement 1 and the Share Pledge Agreement 1.

The Proxy Agreement 1 and Power of Attorney 1 shall remain effective
as long as Beijing Lianzhong exists. Beijing Lianzhong's shareholders
shall not have the right to terminate the Proxy Agreement 1 and
Power of Attorney 1 or to revoke the appointment of the attorney-in-
fact without the prior written consent of the WFOE 1.

Save as disclosed above, there were no new contractual
arrangements entered into, renewed or reproduced among Beijing
Lianzhong and its shareholders, and the WFOE 1 during the year
ended 31 December 2021. There was no material change in the
Contractual Arrangements 1 and/or the circumstances under which
they were adopted for the year ended 31 December 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, none of the Contractual
Arrangements 1 has been unwound as none of the restrictions that
led to the adoption of structured contracts under the Contractual
Arrangements 1 has been removed.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EETTRS(B)

Revenue and Assets subject to the Contractual BRZHE1ETHRAREE
Arrangements 1
The revenue, loss for the year and total assets subject to the

BRRIATHERARA  BELREE

Contractual Arrangements 1 are set out as follows: EFHHNT
Year ended Year ended
31 December 2021 31 December 2020
BE-Z—-_—% HE-T-ZTF
+TZA=t+—-HLEFEE TZA=+—HILFE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETT
Revenue A 10,402 88,242
Loss for the year FRNEE (33,645) (22,444)
As at As at
31 December 2021 31 December 2020
R-BZ—%F R-E-TF
+t=A=+-—~H +=ZA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T ARETTT
Total assets 4aE E 442,407 454,462

HE-_ZT-_—F+-A=+—HIEF
B AHNTHIBEBTHNFEFREAREIE
DRMEAREEF R A KE T EE D
72%(ZZF T F :799%) K-173% (=
E_FF :56%)

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the revenue and loss for the
year subject to the Contractual Arrangements 1 amounted to
approximately 7.2% (2020: 79.9%) and -17.3% (2020: 5.6%) of the
revenue and profit/loss for the year of the Group respectively.

RZE-_—F+-_A=Z+—H ' &4
ZHIETHNREEGAEBBEEY
54.6% (ZZFE =FF : 41.8%) o

As at 31 December 2021, the total assets subject to the Contractual
Arrangements 1 amounted to approximately 54.6% (2020: 61.8%) of
the total assets of the Group.
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In the opinion of our PRC legal advisor King & Wood Mallesons ("PRC
Legal Advisor”) dated 26 January 2016, the Contractual Arrangements
1 are valid, binding and are in compliance with and enforceable under
the applicable PRC laws and regulations, except that the Contractual
Arrangements 1 provide that the arbitral tribunal or the arbitrators
may award remedies over the shares or land assets of Beijing
Lianzhong, relief or winding up of Beijing Lianzhong, and that courts
of competent jurisdictions are empowered to grant interim injunctive
relief or other interim relief in support of the arbitration when
formation of the arbitral tribunal is pending or under appropriate
circumstances, while under PRC laws, an arbitral tribunal or the
arbitrators has no power to grant injunctive relief or provisional or
final liquidation order to preserve the assets or any shares of Beijing

Lianzhong in case of dispute.

VIE Structure 2

On 9 February 2017, the Board announced that the Group was
conducting a series of reorganisation steps that involve, among other
things, (i) the Group establishing a new VIE structure by entering into
new VIE agreements [(collectively, the Master Exclusive Service
Agreement 2, the Business Cooperation Agreement 2, the Proxy
Agreement 2 and Power of Attorney 2, and the Exclusive Option
Agreement 2 and the Share Pledge Agreement 2} among Tianjin
Lianhzhong Lequ Technology Development Co., Ltd. (the "WFOE 2")
and Beijing Lianzhong Tiandi Technology Development Co., Ltd
("Lianzhong Tiandi") (formerly known as Beijing Guangyao Hudong
Technology Development Co., Ltd), a limited liability company
established in the PRC which was owned as to 100% by Mr. Liang Jie,
and (i) Beijing Lianzhong entering into asset transfer agreements
with Lianzhong Tiandi, pursuant to which Beijing Lianzhong would
transfer certain assets relating to the eSports, sports e-commerce
business and other non-card-and-board games new internet
businesses of the Group ("eSports Business’] to Lianzhong Tiandi.
Lianzhong Tiandi will principally be engaged in the eSports Business.
Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 9 February
2017 for further details.

On 31 May 2018, Mr. Liang Jie and Mr. Ping Yan entered into a share
transfer agreement, pursuant to which Mr. Liang Jie transferred 1%
of the shares of Lianzhong Tiandi to Mr. Ping Yan (the “Share
Transfer”]. Upon closing of the Share Transfer, Mr. Liang Jie and Mr.
Ping Yan are the nominee shareholders of Lianzhong Tiandi holding
its equity interest as to 99% and 1%, respectively. The Group has thus
established the New VIE Structure due to the addition of Mr. Ping Yan
to Lianzhong Tiandi by entering into the New VIE Agreements with Mr.
Liang Jie, Mr. Ping Yan and/or Lianzhong Tiandi. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 31 May 2018 for further details.
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On 10 March 2022, Mr. Liang Jie and Mr. Ping Yan entered into a
share transfer agreement, pursuant to which Mr. Liang Jie and Mr.
Ping Yan agreed to transfer 99% and 1% of the equity interests of
Lianzhong Tiandi to Mr. Yang Huichao and Ms. Tuo Ying (collectively
the "Nominee Shareholders”], respectively. A new set of VIE
agreements (the "2022 VIE Agreements”) including the business
cooperation agreement, the proxy agreement and power of attorney,
the exclusive option agreement and the share pledge agreement was
entered into in light of the change of registered shareholders of
Lianzhong Tiandi. Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 10 March 2022 for further details.

After the signing of the 2022 VIE Agreements, the financial results of
Lianzhong Tiandi is accounted for and consolidated in the accounts of
the Group. Lianzhong Tiandi is therefore accounted for as if it is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the “"VIE Structure 2”). Mr.
Yang Huichao, being the substantial shareholder of Lianzhong Tiandi,
will become a connected person of the Company. Accordingly, the
transactions contemplated under the 2022 VIE Agreements constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

Reasons for entering into the 2022 VIE Agreements

As disclosed in the Prospectus, due to applicable laws and regulatory
restrictions on foreign ownership in the telecommunications industry
(including online games and other internet related businesses] in the
PRC and restrictions on foreign investors conducting value-added
telecommunications services, the Group operates its businesses in
the PRC through Beijing Lianzhong, and the Group has in place a
series of contractual arrangements with Beijing Lianzhong that are
designed to allow the Company to exercise control over the operations
of Beijing Lianzhong and enjoy the economic benefits generated by
Beijing Lianzhong. Detailed reasons as to why our businesses are
required to be carried out by way of contractual arrangements from a
perspective of compliance with PRC laws are set out in the section
headed “Contractual Arrangements” on page 130 to 132 of the
Prospectus.

The reason for changing the registered shareholders of Lianzhong
Tiandi is that Mr. Liang Jie and Mr. Ping Yan are no longer employees
of the Group and to further enhance the Company’s internal control
and management system. From the perspective of administration
purposes, the Company is of the view that nominee shareholders of
Lianzhong Tiandi should be employees of the Group who are able to
perform related responsibilities of registered shareholders of
Lianzhong Tiandi (including signing any documents relating to
Lianzhong Tiandi).
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The VIE Structure 2 will remain in place for the Group’s management
of its investments, most of which are in the telecommunications
industry, and the investments are restricted on foreign ownership and
investors in the PRC.

The Group believes that such added flexibilities and focus will be
instrumental to nurturing and growing the various investments while
continuing to maintain a healthy growth in the Online Games
Business. Further details of the reasons for entering into the 2022 VIE
Agreements are set out in the announcement of the Company dated
10 March 2022.

Risks associated with the 2022 VIE Agreements

We believe the following risks, among others, are associated with the
2022 VIE Agreements:

. If the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish
the structure for operating our business in China do not comply
with applicable PRC laws and regulations, or if these laws and
regulations or their interpretations change in the future, we
could be subject to severe penalties and our business may be

materially and adversely affected.

. The Group relies on the 2022 VIE Agreements to control and
obtain economic benefits from Lianzhong Tiandi, which may not
be as effective in providing operational control as equity

ownership.

o The shareholders of Lianzhong Tiandi may have conflicts of
interest with us, which may materially and adversely affect our
business and financial condition.

J Certain terms of the 2022 VIE Agreements may not be
enforceable under PRC laws.

o We may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets held by
Lianzhong Tiandi that are important to the operation of our
business if Lianzhong Tiandi declares bankruptcy or becomes

subject to a dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

o The 2022 VIE Agreements be subject to scrutiny of the PRC tax
authorities and transfer pricing adjustments and additional tax
may be imposed, which may adversely affect our results of
operations.
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o The Group’'s exercise of the options to acquire equity interests
of Lianzhong Tiandi may be subject to certain limitations and
the ownership transfer may subject us to substantial costs.

° The 2022 VIE Agreements between the WFOE 2 and Lianzhong
Tiandi may be subject to scrutiny by the PRC tax authorities and
any finding that we or Lianzhong Tiandi owe additional taxes
could substantially reduce our consolidated net income and the
value of our Shareholders’ investment.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 10 March
2022 for further details.

Mitigation actions taken by the Company
The same mitigation actions as that for the VIE Structure 1 have been
and will be taken for the VIE Structure 2:

. The Company has existing protections measures under the
2022 VIE Agreements. The Company's Risk Management
Committee will regularly review the compliance and

performance of such conditions under the 2022 VIE Agreements.

o The Company’s public affair department and legal department
will deal with matters relating to compliance and regulatory
enquiries from relevant PRC authorities and report to the Board

on a regular basis.

o Legal advisers and other professionals have been and will
continue to be retained to assist the Company to deal with
related matters arising from the 2022 VIE Agreements, and the
auditor of the Group will be engaged to provide annual

confirmations regarding the 2022 VIE Agreements.

2022 VIE Agreements

The 2022 VIE Agreements under the VIE Structure 2 are on
substantially the same terms as those currently in place under the
VIE Structure 1, save as to the identity of the operating vehicle, the
identity of the wholly foreign owned enterprise, and the identity of the
registered owners of the respective operating vehicle.

As at the date of this Directors” Report, the 2022 VIE Agreements
comprised six agreements, namely (a) the Master Exclusive Service
Agreement 2, [(b] the Business Cooperation Agreement 2, [c] the
Exclusive Option Agreement 2, (d) the Share Pledge Agreement 2, (e]
the Proxy Agreement 2 and (f] the Power of Attorney 2.
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In relation to the 2022 VIE Agreements under the VIE Structure 2, the
Company will fulfill and comply with the same conditions as those
imposed on the contractual arrangements under the VIE Structure 1

as disclosed on pages 150 to 152 of the Prospectus, mutatis mutandis.

The following diagram illustrates how economic benefits flow from
Lianzhong Tiandi to our Group under the 2022 VIE Agreements:
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Master Exclusive Service Agreement 2

Lianzhong Tiandi entered into a master exclusive service agreement
with the WFOE 2 on 9 February 2017 (the "Master Exclusive Service
Agreement 2"}, pursuant to which, in exchange for a quarterly service
fee, Lianzhong Tiandi agreed to engage the WFOE 2 as its exclusive
provider for the following services:

o providing technology development and transfer, and technical

consulting services;

o providing occupation and pre-occupation staff training services;

. providing public relation services;

o providing market investigation, research and consulting
services;

o providing mid- or short-term market development and market

planning services;

o providing human resource management and internal

information management;

o providing network development, upgrade and daily
maintenance;

. providing sale services of self-produced products;
o licensing of software;
o providing maintenance services in respect of computer software

and hardware system, database and computer servers;

o providing maintenance and upgrade services in respect of the

online games;

o providing training services in respect of online game and

eSports technology and operations;

o providing research and development services in respect of

online game software and maintenance of the system;

o selling and authorising Lianzhong Tiandi to license software;
and
o other services determined from time to time by the WFOE 2

according to the need of business and capacity of the WFOE 2
and its designated affiliates.
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The service fee is equal to 100% of the consolidated net profits of
Lianzhong Tiandi. The WFOE 2 may adjust the service fee at its sole
discretion with reference to the working capital requirements of the
WFOE 2 and in accordance with several factors relating to the
services provided, including (i} technical difficulty and complexity of
the services; [ii] time spent in providing the services; (iii] contents and
commercial value of the services; and (iv) the benchmark price of
similar services in the market. Our PRC Legal Advisor is of the opinion
that such payment of service fees is not subject to any legal or
regulatory requirements in the PRC and does not violate any PRC
laws.

Any intellectual properties developed by performance of the Master
Exclusive Service Agreement 2, including but not limited to copyrights,
trademarks, patents, technical secrets and knowhow, belong to the
WFOE 2. If a development is based on the intellectual properties
owned by Lianzhong Tiandi, Lianzhong Tiandi shall warrant and
guarantee that such intellectual properties are flawless and it shall
bear all damages and losses caused to the WFOE 2 by any flaw of
such intellectual properties. The WFOE 2 has the right to recover all
of its losses from Lianzhong Tiandi for liabilities to any third party.

The Master Exclusive Service Agreement 2 can be terminated by the
WFOE 2 at any time upon 30 days” written notice to Lianzhong Tiandi.
The Master Exclusive Service Agreement 2 shall also terminate upon
the transfer of all the shares of Lianzhong Tiandi to the WFOE 2 and/
or a third party designated by the WFOE 2 pursuant to the Exclusive
Option Agreement 2.

Business Cooperation Agreement 2

Lianzhong Tiandi, the Nominee Shareholders and the WFOE 2 entered
into a business cooperation agreement on 10 March 2022 (the “Business
Cooperation Agreement 2°). Under the Business Cooperation
Agreement 2, Lianzhong Tiandi and the Nominee Shareholders, jointly
and severally, agreed and covenanted that, without obtaining the
written consent of the WFOE 2, Lianzhong Tiandi shall not, and the
Nominee Shareholders shall cause Lianzhong Tiandi not to, engage in
any transaction which may materially affect Lianzhong Tiandi's asset,

obligation, right or operation, including without limitation:

o any activities not within its normal business scope, or operating
its business in a way that is inconsistent with its past practice;

o merger, reorganisation, acquisition or restructuring of its
principal business or assets, or acquisition or investment in any

other form;
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offering any loan to any third party, incurring any debt from any
third party, or assuming any debt other than in the ordinary
course of business;

engaging, changing or dismissing any director or any senior

management officer;

elling to or acquiring from any third party, mortgaging,
licensing or disposing of in other ways tangible or intangible
assets, other than in the ordinary course of business;

incurring, inheriting, assuming or guaranteeing any debt that
are not incurred during the ordinary course of business, using
its assets to provide security or other forms of guarantees to
any third party, or setting up any other encumbrances over its
assets;

making any supplement, amendment or alternation to its
articles of association and by-laws, increasing or decreasing of
its registered capital or changing the structure of its registered
capital in other manners;

making a distribution of a dividend, or share interest or
sponsorship interest in any way, provided that upon the written
request of the WFOE 2, Lianzhong Tiandi shall immediately
distribute part or all of its distributable profits to its
shareholder(s] who shall in turn immediately and
unconditionally pay or transfer to the WFOE 2 any such
distribution;

executing any material contract, except contracts executed in
the ordinary course of business (for purpose of this subsection,
the WFOE 2 may define a material contract at its sole
discretion);

selling, transferring, mortgaging or disposing of in any manner
any legal or beneficial interest in its business or revenues, or

allowing the encumbrance thereon of any security interest;
dissolution or liquidation and distribution of residual assets; or
causing any of its branches or subsidiaries to engage in any of
the foregoing or enter into any contract, agreement or other

legal documents which may lead to or result in any of the
foregoing.
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In addition, Lianzhong Tiandi agreed and covenanted to the WFOE 2
that Lianzhong Tiandi shall, and the shareholders of Lianzhong Tiandi
shall cause Lianzhong Tiandi to:

accept suggestions raised by the WFOE 2 over the engagement
and replacement of employees, daily operations, dividend
distribution and financial management systems of Lianzhong
Tiandi, and Lianzhong Tiandi shall strictly abide by and perform
accordingly;

maintain Lianzhong Tiandi’'s corporate existence in accordance
with good financial and business standards and practices by
prudently and effectively operating its business and handling its

affairs;

conduct Lianzhong Tiandi's businesses in the ordinary course
of business to maintain the asset value of Lianzhong Tiandi and
refrain from any act or omission that may adversely affect

Lianzhong Tiandi's operating status and asset value;

provide the WFOE 2 with information on Lianzhong Tiandi's
business operations and financial condition at the request of
the WFOE 2;

if requested by the WFOE 2, procure and maintain insurance in
respect of Lianzhong Tiandi's assets and business from an
insurance carrier acceptable to the WFOE 2, at an amount and
type of coverage typical for companies that operate similar
businesses;

immediately notify the WFOE 2 of the occurrence or possible
occurrence of any litigation, arbitration or administrative
proceedings relating to Lianzhong Tiandi's assets, business or
revenue; and

execute all necessary or appropriate documents, take all
necessary or appropriate actions and file all necessary or
appropriate complaints or raise necessary and appropriate
defences against all claims so as to maintain the ownership by
Lianzhong Tiandi of all of its assets.
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According to the Business Cooperation Agreement 2, the Nominee
Shareholders shall only appoint persons designated by the WFOE 2 as
directors, the general manager, the chief financial officer and other
senior management members of Lianzhong Tiandi, and the Nominee
Shareholders shall dismiss any such directors or senior management
members upon the request of the WFOE 2. Lianzhong Tiandi and the
Nominee Shareholders also jointly and severally covenanted that
Lianzhong Tiandi shall seek appropriate approval from the WFOE 2
prior to entering in to any material contract.

Furthermore, the Nominee Shareholders agreed that, unless required
by the WFOE 2, they shall not put forward, or vote in favour of, any
shareholder’s resolution to, or otherwise request Lianzhong Tiandi to,
distribute profits, funds, assets or property to the Nominee
Shareholders, or to issue any dividends or other distributions with
respect to the shares of Lianzhong Tiandi held by the Nominee
Shareholders.

The Business Cooperation Agreement 2 shall remain effective as long
as Lianzhong Tiandi exists, unless the WFOE 2 terminates it upon 30
days” advance written notice or upon the transfer of all the shares in
Lianzhong Tiandi held by the Nominee Shareholders to the WFOE 2
and/or a third party designated by the WFOE 2.

Exclusive Option Agreement 2

Lianzhong Tiandi and the Nominee Shareholders entered into an
exclusive option agreement with the WFOE 2 on 10 March 2022 (the
“"Exclusive Option Agreement 2"}, pursuant to which the WFQE 2 has
a right to require the Nominee Shareholders to transfer any or all the
shares of Lianzhong Tiandi they hold to the WFOE 2 and/or a third
party designated by it, in whole or in part at any time and from time to
time, at the lowest price allowable under PRC laws and administration

regulations at the time of transfer.

Lianzhong Tiandi, the Nominee Shareholders, among other things,

have covenanted that:

J without the prior written consent of the WFOE 2, they shall not
in any manner supplement, change or amend the articles of
association and bylaws of Lianzhong Tiandi, increase or
decrease its registered capital, or change the structure of its

registered capital in other manners;
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they shall maintain Lianzhong Tiandi's corporate existence in
accordance with good financial and business standards and
practices by prudently and effectively operating its business and
handling its affairs;

without the prior written consent of the WFOE 2, they shall not
sell, transfer, mortgage or dispose of in any manner any assets
of Lianzhong Tiandi (except in the ordinary course of business),
or legal or beneficial interest in the business or revenues of
Lianzhong Tiandi, or allow the encumbrance thereon of any
security interest;

without the prior written consent of the WFOE 2, they shall not
incur, inherit, guarantee or assume any debt, except for debts
incurred in the ordinary course of business;

they shall always operate all of Lianzhong Tiandi's businesses
during the ordinary course of business to maintain the asset
value of Lianzhong Tiandi and refrain from any action/omission
that may adversely affect Lianzhong Tiandi's operating status
and asset value;

without the prior written consent of the WFOE 2, they shall not
cause Lianzhong Tiandi to execute any material contract (as
defined by the WFOE 2 at its sole discretion], except the
contracts executed in the ordinary course of business;

without the prior written consent of the WFOE 2, they shall not
cause Lianzhong Tiandi to provide any person with any loan or

credit other than in the course of ordinary business;

they shall provide the WFOE 2 with information on Lianzhong
Tiandi’s business operations and financial condition at the
request of the WFOE 2;

if requested by the WFOE 2, they shall procure and maintain
insurance in respect of Lianzhong Tiandi's assets and business
from an insurance carrier acceptable to the WFOE 2, at an
amount and type of coverage typical for companies that operate

similar businesses;
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. without the prior written consent of the WFOE 2, they shall not
cause or permit Lianzhong Tiandi to merge, consolidate with,

acquire or invest in any person;

o they shall immediately notify the WFOE 2 of the occurrence or
possible occurrence of any litigation, arbitration or
administrative proceedings relating to Lianzhong Tiandi's

assets, business or revenue;

o to maintain the ownership by Lianzhong Tiandi of all of its
assets, they shall execute all necessary or appropriate
documents, take all necessary or appropriate actions and file
all necessary or appropriate complaints or raise necessary and

appropriate defences against all claims;

o they shall ensure that Lianzhong Tiandi shall not, without the
prior written consent of the WFOE 2, in any manner distribute
dividends to its shareholder(s), provided that upon the written
request of the WFOE 2, Lianzhong Tiandi shall immediately
distribute part or all of its distributable profits to its
shareholder(s) who shall in turn immediately and
unconditionally pay or transfer to the WFOE 2 any such
distribution;

o at the request of the WFOE 2, they shall appoint any persons
designated by the WFOE 2 as the directors and/or executive
directors of Lianzhong Tiandi;

o they shall cause the meeting of shareholders and the board of
directors of Lianzhong Tiandi to pass shareholders’ resolutions
and board resolutions in accordance with the instruction of the
WFOE 2; and

o unless otherwise mandatorily required by PRC laws, Lianzhong
Tiandi shall not be dissolved or liquidated without prior written
consent by the WFOE 2.

The Exclusive Option Agreement 2 shall remain effective as long as
Lianzhong Tiandi exists, and cannot be terminated by either Lianzhong
Tiandi or the Nominee Shareholders The Exclusive Option Agreement
2 can be terminated (i) by the WFOE 2 at any time upon 30 days’
advance written notice to Lianzhong Tiandi or the Registered Owner;
or (i) upon the transfer of all the shares held by the shareholders to
the WFOE 2 and/or a third party designated by the WFOE 2.
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Share Pledge Agreement 2

The Nominee Shareholders entered into an share pledge agreement
with the WFOE 2 on 31 May 2018 (the "Share Pledge Agreement 2").
Under the Share Pledge Agreement 2, the Nominee Shareholders
unconditionally and irrevocably agreed to pledge all of the shares of
Lianzhong Tiandi that they own, including any interest or dividend paid
for such shares, to WFOE 2 as a security for the performance of the
obligations by Lianzhong Tiandi, the Nominee Shareholders under the
Master Exclusive Service Agreement 2, the Business Cooperation
Agreement 2, the Exclusive Option Agreement 2 and other
agreements to be executed among Lianzhong Tiandi, the Nominee
Shareholders and the WFOE 2 from time to time (collectively the
“Principal Agreements 2").

The pledge shall remain valid until all parties have agreed to
terminate the Share Pledge Agreement 2, the Principal Agreements 2
have been fulfilled to the satisfaction of the WFOE 2 or all of the
Principal Agreements 2 have expired or been terminated.

Proxy Agreement 2 and Power of Attorney 2

Lianzhong Tiandi, the Nominee Shareholders entered into a proxy
agreement and power of attorney with the WFOE 2 on 10 March 2022
(the "Proxy Agreement 2 and Power of Attorney 2"). Under the Proxy
Agreement 2 and Power of Attorney 2, the Nominee Shareholders
irrevocably agreed to appoint the WFOE 2 (as well as its successors,
including a liquidator, if any, replacing the WFOE 2] as their attorney-
in-fact to exercise on their behalf, and agreed and undertook not to
exercise without such attorney-in-fact’s prior written consent, any
and all right that they have in respect of its shares in Lianzhong
Tiandi, including without limitation:

o to call and attend shareholders” meetings of Lianzhong Tiandi,
and receive notices and materials with respect to the

shareholders’ meeting;

o to execute and deliver any and all written resolutions and
meeting minutes in the name and on behalf of such
shareholder;

o to vote by itself or by proxy on any matters discussed on

shareholders” meetings of Lianzhong Tiandi, including without
limitation, the sale, transfer, mortgage, pledge or disposal of
any or all of the assets of Lianzhong Tiandi;
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EEZRS (B8)

. to sell, transfer, pledge or dispose of any or all of the shares in
Lianzhong Tiandi;

o to nominate, appoint or remove the directors, supervisors and

senior management of Lianzhong Tiandi when necessary;

. to oversee the economic performance of Lianzhong Tiandi;

o to have full access to the financial information of Lianzhong
Tiandi at any time;

. to file any shareholder lawsuits or take other legal actions
against Lianzhong Tiandi's directors or senior management
members when such directors or members are acting to the
detriment of the interest of Lianzhong Tiandi or its
shareholder(s);

. to approve annual budgets or declare dividends;
o to manage and dispose of the assets of Lianzhong Tiandi;
o to have the full rights to control and manage Lianzhong Tiandi's

finance, accounting and daily operation (including but not
limited to signing and execution of contracts and payment of

government taxes and duties);

o to approve the filing of any documents with the relevant
governmental authorities or regulatory bodies; and

° any other rights conferred by the articles of association of
Lianzhong Tiandi and/or the relevant laws and regulations on

the shareholders.

In addition, if any share transfer is contemplated under the Exclusive
Option Agreement 2 and the Share Pledge Agreement 2 that the
Nominee Shareholders enters into for the benefits of the WFOE 2 or
its affiliate, the WFOE 2 shall have the right to sign the share transfer
agreement and other relevant agreements and to perform the

Exclusive Option Agreement 2 and the Share Pledge Agreement 2.

The Proxy Agreement 2 and Power of Attorney 2 will remain effective
so long as Lianzhong Tiandi exists. Lianzhong Tiandi's shareholders
will not have the right to terminate the Proxy Agreement 2 and Power
of Attorney 2 or to revoke the appointment of the attorney-in-fact

without the prior written consent of the WFOE 2.
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EEZRS (B8)

Revenue and Assets subject to the 2022 VIE Agreements

The revenue, loss for the year and total assets subject to the 2022 VIE
Agreements are set out as follows:

TECCFURESERHBER

THBRAREE

TR _FUEERERBERETINF
NEA - BEREEESRIINT

Year ended Year ended

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

BE-_Z_-_—F§ H=E —EF

+TZA=+—-HLFE +:H:+ EEEE

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR T ARBT T

Revenue A 103,154 —
Loss for the year FRNEE (5,935) (6,373)
As at As at

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

R-ZE-—F RZE_ZTF

+=—A=+—H +-—A=+—H

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR T ARBT T

Total assets mEE 93,183 67,849

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the revenue and loss for the
year subject to the 2022 VIE Agreements amounted to approximately
71.7% (2020: 0%) and -3.1% (2020: 1.6%) of the revenue and profit/
loss for the year of the Group respectively.

As at 31 December 2021, the total assets subject to the 2022 VIE
Agreements amounted to approximately 11.5% (2020: 9.2%) of the
total assets of the Group.

In the opinion of our PRC legal advisor, namely Commerce & Finance
Law Offices dated 10 March 2022, the 2022 VIE Agreements are valid,
binding and are in compliance with and enforceable under the
applicable PRC laws and regulations, except that the 2022 VIE
Agreements provide that the arbitral tribunal or the arbitrators may
award remedies over the shares or land assets of Lianzhong Tiandj,
relief or winding up of Lianzhong Tiandi, and that courts of competent
jurisdictions are empowered to grant interim injunctive relief or other
interim relief in support of the arbitration when formation of the
arbitral tribunal is pending or under appropriate circumstances, while
under PRC laws, an arbitral tribunal or the arbitrators has no power
to grant injunctive relief or provisional or final liquidation order to
preserve the assets or any shares of Lianzhong Tiandi in case of
dispute.
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Confirmation from Independent Non-Executive
Directors

The independent non-executive Directors reviewed the Contractual
Arrangements 1 and the 2022 VIE Agreements [(collectively the
“Continuing Connected Transactions”) and the independent auditor’s
report, and confirmed that the Continuing Connected Transactions
have been entered into (i} in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group, (ii) on normal commercial terms or better, and (iii)
according to the relevant agreements governing each of the
Continuing Connected Transactions on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

The Directors also confirmed that no dividends or other distributions
have been made by Beijing Lianzhong and Lianzhong Tiandi to the
holders of its equity interests which are not otherwise subsequently
assigned or transferred to the Group.

Confirmations from the Company’s Independent
Auditor

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
Continuing Connected Transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has confirmed in a letter to the Board that
with respect to the Continuing Connected Transactions entered into in
the year ended 31 December 2021:

(al  nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to
believe that the Continuing Connected Transactions have not
been approved by the Board; and

(b)  nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to
believe that the transactions were not entered into, in all
material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements
under the Continuing Connected Transactions governing such
transactions.

A copy of the auditor's letter on the Continuing Connected

Transactions of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 has

been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.
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EEZRS (B8)

We believe that there are certain risks involved in our operations,
some of which are beyond our control. The principal risks and
uncertainties the Group is facing are as follows:

Risks Relating to the Business and Industry of the
Company

If the Group fails to continuously strengthen its existing games and
launch new games, or if its games lose their popularity, the Group
may not be able to retain existing players and attract new players,
which will adversely affect the business and results of the operation
of the Group. The Group relies on third-party channels to distribute a
substantial number of our games, and our business and results of
operations may be adversely affected if these third-party channels
breach their obligations to us, or if we fail to maintain relationships
with a sufficient number of channels, or if our commercial
arrangements with these third-party channels become less favorable
to us, or if these channels lose popularity among internet users.

Since 2018, the Company encountered intensified competition and
challenges in its China domestic card and board games business,
both from intense competition from new apps that provide online
game room functions, as well as adverse payment policy changes in
the Company’'s main mobile carrier payment partners. The negative
impact on both PC and mobile China domestic card and board game
businesses of the Company, particularly in the beginning of 2018,
consequently caused a fairly substantial downturn on revenue and
profitability of the Company. During the year ended 31 December
2021, given the regulatory environment and market conditions within
China, the Group’s online card and board games business in China
continued to face the highly challenging conditions together with
unexpected and regulatory headwinds in the same business, and
given the continuous spread of COVID-19 pandemic, the offline
tournaments were under restrictions, which has an impact on our

revenue to a certain extent.
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Risks and Uncertainties Related to Various PRC
Laws and Regulations

We face risks and uncertainties relating to the applicability of certain
PRC laws and regulations to our card and board games, and we
cannot assure that such laws and regulations will not be interrupted
in ways unfavorable to us. As electronic publications that provide
telecommunication services and Internet culture services, online
games are subject to various PRC laws and regulations of multiple
government authorities including the Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology of the PRC, National Radio and Television
Administration of the PRC, National Press and Publication
Administration of the PRC, National Copyright Administration of the
PRC, Ministry of Culture and Tourism of the PRC. There is no
assurance that our online games will not further be deemed to violate
any applicable PRC laws in the future. Similarly, there is no assurance
that our game business will not be challenged or subject to any
regulatory actions in the PRC. If we are forced to discontinue any of
our existing games or if we are unable to offer any new games in the
PRC due to regulatory restrictions, our business and growth

prospects may be materially and adversely affected.

In addition, our operation may be affected due to inappropriate
personal behavior by our players and employees. We have adopted
policies and implemented measures to comply with applicable laws
and regulate players’ and employees’ behaviors. Our virtual game
points and virtual goods can only be used in our games and have no
monetary value outside our games. We prohibit players or employees
from engaging in transfers of virtual currency between themselves.
We actively monitor such transfers and other offensive player
behavior on our online game platform. However, we cannot assure
that all our players or employees will comply with applicable laws and

our policies or that we will not be held liable for their violations.
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Risks Relating to Preferential Tax Treatment

Under the Enterprise Income Tax Law, the current statutory
enterprise income tax rate is 25%. Our PRC operating entity, Beijing
Lianzhong, has been qualified as a High and New Technology
Enterprise since 2008. Under the relevant PRC tax regulations, as a
High and New Technology Enterprise, Beijing Lianzhong is entitled to
a preferential tax rate of 15%. Beijing Lianzhong renewed this
qualification in August 2020 for a three-year period commencing from
December 2020. In addition, Beijing Lianzhong was respectively
accredited by the National Development and Reform Commission, the
Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of the PRC, the
Ministry of Finance, the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC and the
State of Taxation as a Key Software Enterprise within National
Planning Layout for the Years 2013 to 2017. As a result, Beijing
Lianzhong is entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 10% for the
year ended 31 December 2017. As Beijing Lianzhong recorded a loss
for the years 2018, 2019 and 2020, we were unable to apply for the
renewal the recognition for the Key Software Enterprise within
National Planning Layout for the Years 2018, 2019, 2020 and 2021. If
Beijing Lianzhong continues to record loss in future, it will still fail to
renew the qualification as a Key Software Enterprise within National
Planning Layout, its applicable enterprise income tax rate will be 15%
when its qualification as a High and New Technology Enterprise
remains valid.

Risks Relating to our Corporate Structure

We rely on our contractual arrangements to control and obtain
economic benefits from the PRC operating entities, Beijing Lianzhong
and Lianzhong Tiandi, which may not be as effective in providing
operational control as equity ownership. Meanwhile, the shareholders
of Beijing Lianzhong and Lianzhong Tiandi may have conflicts of
interest with us, which may materially and adversely affect our
business and financial condition. Furthermore, if the PRC government
finds that the contractual arrangements that established the
structure for operating our business in China do not comply with
applicable PRC laws and regulations, or if these laws and regulations
or their interpretations change in the future, we could be subject to
severe penalties and our business may be materially and adversely
affected.
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Risks Relating to Litigations

We may from time to time involve in disputes with parties including
but not limited to governmental entities, customers, suppliers,
contractors, employees and other third party service providers and
legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our business.
Claims and/or enforcement of judgement are or may be brought
against members of the Group based on a number of causes such as
infringement of intellectual property rights, breach of contracts or
employment agreements or other reasons. If the disputes or claims
are not resolved or settled through negotiation or mediation, the
Group may be involved in lengthy and costly litigation or arbitration
proceedings, which may divert the Group’s financial and managerial
resources. In the event that the Group prevails in those legal
proceedings, there is no assurance that the judgement or awards will
be effectively enforced. The actual amounts that need to be paid by
the Group could differ from the provisions made by the Group, if any.
Any material charges associated with claims brought against the
Group and material write downs associated with the Group’s claims
could have adverse impact on our financial condition, results of

operations and cash flow.

For PRC, the ultimate customers are individual players paying
through payment channels. As such, our Directors consider that it is
not practicable to identify the five largest customers for the year
ended 31 December 2021 and we did not rely on any single customer
during the year. For instance, none of our customers accounted for 5%
or more of our revenue for the year ended 31 December 2021. For
AESE, the five largest customers accounted for approximately 63.9%
of the AESE's revenue and the largest customer accounted for
approximately 20.2% of the AESE’s revenues for the year ended 31
December 2021.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the purchases from the
Group's five largest suppliers accounted for a total of approximately
47.7% of the Group's total purchases from all of the suppliers. The
purchases from our top supplier in 2021 accounted for approximately
16.1% of the Group's total purchases.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s Shares) had an interest in any of the major customers or
suppliers noted above.
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EEZRS (B8)

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) has
reviewed the accounting principles and policies adopted by the Group
and discussed the Group’s internal controls and financial reporting
matters with the management. The Audit Committee has reviewed
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2021.

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association, although there are no restrictions against such rights

under the laws in the Cayman Islands.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 180 employees, 99 of which
were responsible for games development and operation or general
administration and live broadcast business in the PRC (including
Hong Kong), and 81 for AESE. The total remuneration expenses
lincluding employee related share-based compensation expense] for
the year ended 31 December 2021 were RMB77.2 million,

representing an increase of 17.4% as compared to the year of 2020.

We provide various employee benefits and social insurance to our
employees. We also provide share options and Shares under the
Share Award Scheme to better motivate our employees.

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of its Directors as at the latest practicable date
prior to the publication of this annual report, the Directors confirm
that the Company has maintained the amount of public float as
required under the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December
2021.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EETTRS(B)

27. AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Grant
Thornton Hong Kong Limited. A resolution for its re-appointment as
auditor of the Company for the coming year will be proposed at the
AGM.

There have been no change of the auditor for the preceding three

years.

29. TAXRELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company's

securities.

On behalf of the Board
Lu Jingsheng
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

13 June 2022
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EXEERS

The Board of Directors is hereby to present the corporate governance report
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Company is committed to maintaining and promoting stringent
corporate governance policies. The principle of the Company’s corporate
governance is to promote effective internal control measures and to
enhance the transparency and accountability of the Board to all
Shareholders.

Compliance with the Corporate Governance Code

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date of this annual
report, the Company has complied with the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the "Corporate Governance Code"] contained
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, except for a deviation from code
provision C.2.1 (formerly code provision A.2.1] which requires that the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be separated and should not

be performed by the same individual.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of the Company
for the purpose of complying with the Corporate Governance Code and
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance practices of the
Company.

Model Code

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules to govern securities transactions by its Directors. Having
made specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors have confirmed that they
have strictly complied with the required standards as set out in the Model
Code during the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Board currently comprises one executive Director, five non-executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.
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The composition of the Board during the year ended 31 December 2021 and

up to the date of this annual report is as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr.
Mr.

Lu Jingsheng (Chief Executive Officer)"
Gao Hong"”

Non-Executive Directors

Mr.
Mr.
Mr.

Ms.

Mr.
Mr.

Ms.

Mr.

Ms.

Li Yangyang (Chairman)”
Liu Jiang
Liu Xueming"

(5)

Gao Liping
Hua Yumin'®
Chen Xian"”
Fu Qiang®
Hu Wen"

Wu (Claire) Libing""”

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr.
Mr.
Mr.

Professor Huang Yong

Ma Shaohua
Zhang Li"

Guo Yushi"?
(13)

Notes:

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

Mr. Lu Jingsheng was re-designated as an executive Director and appointed as
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect from 1 May 2021.

Mr. Gao Hong was removed as an executive Director with effect from 6 May
2021.

Mr. Li Yangyang resigned as the acting Chief Executive Officer of the Company

with effect from 1 May 2021. Mr. Li Yangyang was re-designated as a non-
executive Director with effect from 31 March 2022.

Mr. Liu Xueming was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 6
May 2021.

Ms. Gao Liping was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 4
November 2021.

Mr. Hua Yumin was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 4
November 2021.

Mr. Chen Xian resigned as a non-executive Director with effect from 5 February
2021.

Ms. Fu Qiang was removed as a non-executive Director with effect from 6 May
2021.
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(9) Mr. Hu Wen was removed as a non-executive Director with effect from 6 May
2021.

[10]  Ms. Wu (Claire) Libing was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect
from 6 May 2021 and resigned as a non-executive Director with effect from 24
September 2021.

(11)  Mr. Zhang Li was appointed as an independent non-executive Director with
effect from 6 May 2021.

(12)  Mr. Guo Yushi was appointed as an independent non-executive Director with
effect from 4 November 2021.

(13)  Professor Huang Yong resigned as an independent non-executive Director with
effect from 14 May 2021.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Directors” on pages 31 to 34 of this annual report. As at 31 December 2021,
there was no relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship(s]) between the Board members under the
Corporate Governance Code.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”)

Code provision C.2.1 [formerly code provision A.2.1) of the Corporate
Governance Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive
should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.

During the period from 1 January 2021 to 1 May 2021, Mr. Li Yangyang was
both the Chairman and acting Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
During the period in which Mr. Li served as both the Chairman and the
acting Chief Executive Officer, he was responsible for general operation,
investment and strategy of the Company and was instrumental to the
Company’s growth and business expansion. The Board considered that
vesting the roles of chairman and acting Chief Executive Officer in Mr. Li
was beneficial to the management of the Group. The balance of power and
authority was ensured by the operation of senior management and the
Board, which comprises experienced and high-calibre individuals. Mr. Lu
Jingsheng was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company with
effect from 1 May 2021 and immediately following the appointment of Mr. Lu
as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, Mr. Li resigned from the
position of acting Chief Executive Officer of the Company and the Company
has complied with code provision C.2.1 since then. As at the date of this
annual report, the Board currently comprises one executive Director, five
non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors and

therefore has a fairly strong independence element in its composition.
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Board Meetings and General Meetings Held in 2021 R_E_—FEONESEESE
RIERKE

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board convened nine REBEEZE_-_ZT - —F+_-_A=Z+—HBHILFE

meetings, one annual general meeting and four extraordinary general K -EFEZ@EBBALNEH  —AREBEEKX
meetings. A summary of the attendance record of the Directors is setoutin =~ @ R ABREFFHI ARG -EFHELEME
the table below: EHIINT & :

Number of Board Number of general
meetings attended/ meetings attended/

Name of Directors eligible to attend eligible to attend
HE AR HE TR
EEpnR ETSERARY BREXERH
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Lu Jingsheng'” P R A S A 16/16 5/5
Mr. Gao Hong” =B 8/8 11
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Li Yangyang" ZHE R EY 16/16 5/5
Mr. Liu Jiang 21T 15/16 0/5
Mr. Liu Xueming" 2| g g 4 v 8/8 0/4
Ms. Gao Liping" BEFL" 1/2 N/A TN B
Mr. Hua Yumin® EHREEY 2/2 N/A ANiE
Mr. Chen Xian"” bR 5% st A N/A TiE A
Ms. Fu Qiang® Bog &+ 8/8 0/1
Mr. Hu Wen" B S 8/8 0/1
Ms. Wu (Claire) Libing"” SEKLZLM 3/4 0/4
Independent Non-executive Directors BIAFHTES
Mr. Ma Shaohua B g A 3/3 0/5
Mr. Zhang Li""" ZhexM 8/8 0/4
Mr. Guo Yushi" BEGEE" 2/2 N/A @A
Professor Huang Yong'"” =EHK 6/9 0/1

(1) Mr. Lu Jingsheng was re-designated as an executive Director with effect from (1) FER4EE4+BH/EIABITEE BT - —
1 May 2021. FRA—BRBRER-

(2) Mr. Gao Hong was removed as an executive Director with effect from 6 May (2) SEEAEWBERNTESHE A - - —
2021. FRAANHEEY-

(3)  Mr. Li Yangyang was re-designated as a non-executive Director with effect (3] ZFHBBE4+R BT AN TEE B _T=
from 31 March 2022. —F=ZR=T—BEEN:

(4) Mr. Liu Xueming was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 6 (4) REREGEZTTAIEHNTEET B2 =
May 2021. —FRARNBRER-

(5)  Ms. Gao Liping was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 4  (5) SEFLTEEZTAFHDTEE B_ZT=
November 2021. —F+—AMBERBER-

(6) Mr. Hua Yumin was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 4 (6) EFRAGLESTAIEHNTEST B -2 =
November 2021. —F+—AmBREMS-
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(7) Mr. Chen Xian resigned as a non-executive Director with effect from 5 February
2021.

(8) Ms. Fu Qiang was removed as a non-executive Director with effect from 6 May
2021.

(9) Mr. Hu Wen was removed as an executive Director with effect from é May 2021.

(10]  Ms. Wu (Claire) Libing was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect
from 6 May 2021 and resigned as a non-executive Director with effect from 24
September 2021.

(11)  Mr. Zhang Li was appointed as an independent non-executive Director with
effect from 6 May 2021.

[12]  Mr. Guo Yushi was appointed as an independent non-executive Director with
effect from 4 November 2021.

(13)  Professor Huang Yong resigned as an independent non-executive Director with
effect from 14 May 2021.

The Board has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors a written annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and considers each of them to be independent.

The term of office of our independent non-executive Directors is three years
with effect from the date of their letters of appointment or until the third
annual general meeting of the Company since the date of their letters of
appointment (whichever is sooner] and subject to the terms and conditions
specified therein. Mr. Ma Shaohua has been appointed as independent non-
executive Directors commencing from 30 June 2020. Mr. Zhang Li has been
appointed as an independent non-executive Director commencing from 6
May 2021.
executive Director commencing from 4 November 2021.

Mr. Guo Yushi has been appointed as an independent non-
Each of them is
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company at least once every three years in accordance with
the Articles of Association.
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After Professor Huang Yong resigned as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 14 May 2021, the Company was not in compliance
with (i} Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules, which stipulates that the board of
directors shall comprise at least three independent non-executive directors,
(i) Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules, which stipulates that the independent
non-executive directors shall represent at least one-third of the board, and (iii)
Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules, which stipulates that the remuneration
committee must chaired by an independent non-executive director. As the
Company requires more time to identify a suitable candidate to fill up
vacancy of the independent non-executive Director, the Company applied for
and the Stock Exchange granted a waiver from strict compliance with Rules
3.10, 3.10A and 3.25 of the Listing Rules and an extension of time for a
period expiring on 16 November 2021 for filling the vacancy. Mr. Guo Yushi
was appointed as an independent non-executive Director and the chairman
of the remuneration committee with effect from 4 November 2021 and
immediately following the appointment of Mr. Guo as an independent non-
executive Director and the chairman of the remuneration committee, the
Company has complied with the Rules 3.10(1), 3.10A and 3.25 of the Listing
Rules since then.

Each of the non-executive Directors has separately been appointed for a
term of three years with effect from the date of their letters of appointment
or until the third annual general meeting of the Company since the date of
their letters of appointment (whichever is sooner] and subject to the terms
and conditions specified therein. Mr. Liu Jiang has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company commencing from 27 March 2015. Mr. Liu
Xueming has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company
commencing from 6 May 2021. Ms. Gao Liping and Mr. Hua Yumin have
entered into letters of appointment with the Company commencing from 4
November 2021. Upon the re-designation of Mr. Li Yangyang as a non-
executive Director, he has entered into a service contract commencing from
31 March 2022. Each of them is subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting of the Company at least once every
three years in accordance with the Articles of Association.

The Board is the primary decision making body of the Company and is
responsible for overseeing the Group's businesses, strategic decisions and
performance and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. The Board makes
decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.
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All Directors,
executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business

including non-executive Directors and independent non-

experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board has developed
measures for implementing good corporate governance policies and
practices and has delegated to the Board committees various
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of references.

Our senior management is responsible for the day-to-day management of
our business and is responsible for overseeing the general operation,

business development, finance and marketing.

Each newly appointed Director shall receive formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Company
and full awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations under the

Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors will be continuously updated on the statutory and regulatory
regime and the business environment to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities. Directors are also encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Company secretary of the Company updates the Directors on the latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements from time to time, to ensure compliance and enhance their
awareness of good corporate governance practices.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, all Directors, namely Mr. Lu
Jingsheng", Mr. Gao Hong”, Mr. Li Yangyang . Mr. Liu Jiang, Mr. Liu
Xueming”, Ms. Gao Liping®, Mr. Hua Yumin', Mr. Chen Xian”, Ms. Fu
Qiang®, Mr. Hu Wen”, Ms. Wu (Claire) Libing"”, Mr. Ma Shaohua, Mr. Zhang
Li"", Mr. Guo Yushi"
continuous professional training to develop and refresh their knowledge

and Professor Huang Yong"™ have participated in

and skills in relation to their contribution to the Board.
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Directors’ knowledge and skills are continuously developed and refreshed

by, inter alia, the following means:

(1)

(2)

(3)

participation in continuous professional training seminars and/or
conferences and/or courses and/or workshops on subjects relating
to, inter alia, corporate governance, directors’ duties and legal and
regulatory changes organised and/or arranged by the Company and/
or professional bodies and/or lawyers;

reading materials provided from time to time by the Company to
Directors regarding legal and regulatory changes and matters of

relevance to the Directors in the discharge of their duties; and

reading news, journals, magazines and/or other reading materials
regarding legal and regulatory changes and matters of relevance to

the Directors in the discharge of their duties.

Name of Directors

EFFEB(HAP

BEINTAABEERRRE

GIPIE: 958731

(1)

(2)

(3)

DEARBRFEERBERREM
%??&/&ﬂitﬁ%ﬁ(ﬁ*@%)m%

CEERANEZREREEYINEE
éi?-%iu B RS RHRE
R/ RTAEY

ARBATHREERHREBEIERRE
2y ULEBEERTHEHBENEBEE
MBIEER - &
MEEMARRMERY UREFERE
TERBRBEEBEENNE BT R
R/ S E A B EM K o

Training received

EERE FriEZ sl
Executive Director HITES

Mr. Lu Jingsheng'” BE R A (2], (3)
Non-executive Directors FEITES

Mr. Li Yangyang? =HBEEY (2, (3]
Mr. Liu Jiang 2Tt (1), (2), (3)
Mr. Liu Xueming"! 2|28 (1), (2], (3)
Ms. Gao Liping® BEFLt" (1), (2), (3)
Mr. Hua Yumin® EFRELY (1], (2], (3)
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHTES

Mr. Ma Shaohua FELE (2], (3)
Mr. Zhang Li"" ajﬁai“” (2, (3)
Mr. Guo Yushi"? BEALELE" (2), (3)

Ul

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

Mr. Lu Jingsheng was re-designated as an executive Director with effect from
1 May 2021.

Mr. Li Yangyang was re-designated as a non-executive Director with effect
from 31 March 2022.

Mr. Gao Hong was removed as an executive Director with effect from 6 May
2021.

Mr. Liu Xueming was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 6
May 2021.

Ms. Gao Liping was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 4
November 2021.
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(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)
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Mr. Hua Yumin was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 4
November 2021.

o Mr. Chen Xian resigned as a non-executive Director with effect from 5 February

2021.

© Ms. Fu Qiang was removed as a non-executive Director with effect from é May

2021.

) Mr. Hu Wen was removed as an executive Director with effect from é May 2021.

Ms. Wu (Claire) Libing was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect
from 6 May 2021 and resigned as a non-executive Director with effect from 24
September 2021.

Mr. Zhang Li was appointed as an independent non-executive Director with
effect from 6 May 2021.

Mr. Guo Yushi was appointed as an independent non-executive Director with
effect from 4 November 2021.

03 Professor Huang Yong resigned as an independent non-executive Director with

effect from 14 May 2021.

The Board has established four committees, namely, the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination and Corporate Governance
Committee, and the Risk Prevention and Digital Assets Management
Committee (formerly known as the Risk Management Committee), for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’'s affairs. Each of these
committees is established with defined written terms of reference. The
terms of reference of the Board committees are available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee in compliance with Rule
3.21 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial
reporting process and internal control system of the Group, review and
approve connected transactions and provide advice and comments to the
Board.

As at 31 December 2021, the Audit Committee consisted of three members:
Mr. Zhang Li, Mr. Ma Shaohua and Mr. Liu Xueming. Mr. Zhang Li and Mr.
Ma Shaohua are independent non-executive Directors, and Mr. Liu Xueming
is a non-executive Director. Mr. Zhang Li is the chairman of the Audit

Committee.

v EZRATEZIRFPTES 8 _F=
—Ft—AmMBREN-
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ARRRBEXR-

BT - —F—

@ BRLLTHBRPIFNTEERE B _F=
—FRANBRBEY -

v HAXAEERERNTEERE B -_F=——
FRHANBREREY -

W RBALLIREETIAFHTES B2
—FRANBEAEY HOBTHEHRITE
E HIE—FAA-TMOARBRER-

M BENELEEEERBUFNTES B-F
TR RARAREN-

W R EREEREEARBUFRTES B2
Eo-F+-AOBRAEK-

W O EEHBRBECBLFRTES BT - —
FHATMARERS-

EFEgcRYIOEEZES B %%§§@~%

MzEe RAELRLEERZE
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) NEBARAEHARBAT %FX
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During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Audit Committee held three
meetings. The attendance record of the Audit Committee members is set
out in the table below:

Name of Committee Member

REBEEZZ-_—F+ZA=1+—HLEFE"
%TE;EEE {T_/Aalﬁﬁz %$?§/\EEX
BEMeaLBoEaEN TER:

Number of meetings
attended/eligible to attend

ZEERENE HE AHESREAH
Mr. Zhang Li" EhkE" n
Mr. Liu Xueming Z 2Rk n
Mr. Ma Shaohua FAOERE 3/3
Mr. Lu Jingsheng® BE R A S D 2/2
Mr. Hu Wen" BASCSE Y 2/2

Mr. Zhang Li was appointed as an independent non-executive Director and the
chairman of the Audit Committee with effect from 6 May 2021.

g Mr. Liu Xueming was appointed as a non-executive Director and a member of

the Audit Committee with effect from 6 May 2021.

© Mr. Lu Jingsheng was re-designated as an executive Director and resigned as

the chairman of the Audit Committee with effect from 1 May 2021.

“ Mr. Hu Wen was removed as a non-executive Director and ceased to be a

member of the Audit Committee with effect from 6 May 2021.

During the meetings, the Audit Committee met with the external auditor and
reviewed the financial results and reports of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2020 and the six months ended 30 June 2021.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee in compliance
with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code. The
primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to review and make
recommendations to the Board on the terms of remuneration packages,
bonuses and other compensation payable to our Directors and other senior
management.

As at 31 December 2021, the Remuneration Committee consisted of three
members: Mr. Guo Yushi, Mr. Ma Shaohua and Mr. Zhang Li. All of them are
independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Guo Yushi is the chairman of the

Remuneration Committee.
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During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Remuneration Committee

held one meeting to discuss and recommend to the Board for approval the

remuneration of the new Directors appointed during the year. The

attendance record of the Remuneration Committee members is set out in
the table below:

Name of Committee Member

REE_Z

NN

—F+=A=t—ALFE"

HFHEZEEART —REF mILERE
ZEHRERAFENTESTTFMN -FHEES
B FEREEN TR :

Number of meetings
attended/eligible to attend

ZEEHENE HE AHEEBRAH
Mr. Guo Yushi'! BERKE" N/A A~ i A
Mr. Ma Shaohua BLESELE 11
Mr. Zhang Li? EhHeE? N/A 7 i F
Professor Huang Yong" =EHRY 11
Mr. Gao Hong" SP i 1/1
Ms. Fu Qiang"® Bzt 1/1
Mr. Lu Jingsheng" BER £ L EY 11

m

(2)

(3

(4)

(5)

(6)

Mr. Guo Yushi was appointed as an independent non-executive Director and the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee with effect from 4 November 2021.

Mr. Zhang Li was appointed as an independent non-executive Director and a
member of the Remuneration Committee with effect from 6 May 2021.

Professor Huang Yong resigned as an independent non-executive Director and
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee with effect from 14 May 2021.

Mr. Gao Hong was removed as an executive Director and ceased to be a

member of the Remuneration Committee with effect from 6 May 2021.

Ms. Fu Qiang was removed as a non-executive Director and ceased to be a
member of the Remuneration Committee with effect from 6 May 2021.

Mr. Lu Jingsheng was re-designated as an executive Director and resigned as
a member of the Remuneration Committee with effect from 1 May 2021.

U]

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5]

(6)
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Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee

The Company has established a Nomination and Corporate Governance
Committee in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code. The primary
duties of the Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of Directors and

management of Board succession.

As at 31 December 2021,

Committee consisted of three members: Mr. Li Yangyang, Mr. Ma Shaohua

the Nomination and Corporate Governance

and Mr. Zhang Li. Mr. Li Yangyang is an executive Director, Mr. Ma Shaohua
and Mr. Zhang Li are independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Li Yangyang
is the chairman of the Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee held four meetings to recommend to the Board the
appointments of the new Directors during the year and to review the Board
Diversity Policy (as defined hereinafter). The attendance record of the
Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee members is set out in
the table below

Name of Committee Member

R3BRE
RAARERBECEEATARIRAREE
ERLZEE RERGEERZEENEE

BERMEZZAEREFGUAITERNES
@ku”ﬂiﬁﬁ °

*EBEES

ZEZ—F+ZA=+—H REBEEDEZE
EREBem-_EREBAEK TBBEE B

EEREHNRE - TBBLERATE
E BLERERENEERBBILERNTE
E-FEBAERRERNEERZESE
Fl_go

RBE-_FT-_—F+_A=1t—-RHLFE"
REMGCEERZBECHTOAEHE W
EESHBEFATNESNEZE UENES
EEZAEBR(ERAL T - RAREEER
ZEEREMERLFCEHN T X

Number of meetings
attended/eligible to attend
HE AHEERERE

ZEERENE

Mr. Li Yangyang"” BB EE"
Mr. Ma Shaohua BAERE
Mr. Zhang Li? 573 o
Mr. Lu Jingsheng” BE R A D
Mr. Chen Xian" PR 5% o 4
Professor Huang Yong" BEEHE"

o Mr. Li Yangyang was re-designated as a non-executive Director with effect

from 31 March 2022.
2 Mr. Zhang Li was appointed as an independent non-executive Director and a
member of the Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee with effect
from 6 May 2021.
e Mr. Lu Jingsheng was re-designated as an executive Director and resigned as
a member of the Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee with effect
from 1 May 2021.
@ Mr. Chen Xian resigned as a non-executive Director and a member of the
Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee with effect from 5 February
2021.
© Professor Huang Yong resigned as an independent non-executive Director and
a member of the Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee with effect
from 14 May 2021.
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Risk Prevention and Digital Assets Management
Committee

The Company has established a Risk Prevention and Digital Assets
Management Committee (formerly known as the Risk Management
Committee). The primary duties of the Risk Prevention and Digital Assets
Management Committee are to assist the Board in providing leadership,
direction, and oversight with regard to the Group’s overall risk appetite and
tolerance and risk management framework, including risk policies and
process and controls, and in managing and supervising the Group’s digital
assets [(including but not limited to all digital IT tangible and intangible
assets developed and used by the Group, such as product backends, IT
intangible assets, data assets, information databases, and digital

currencies).

As at 31
Management Committee consisted of three members: Mr. Lu Jingsheng,

December 2021, the Risk Prevention and Digital Assets

Mr. Ma Shaohua and Mr. Liu Jiang. Mr. Lu Jingsheng is an executive
Director, Mr. Ma Shaohua is an independent non-executive Director and Mr.
Liu Jiang is a non-executive Director. Mr. Lu Jingsheng is the chairman of

the Risk Prevention and Digital Assets Management Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Risk Prevention and Digital
Assets Management Committee held five meetings to discuss how to
strengthen internal control systems and the assets management. The
attendance record of the Risk Prevention and Digital Assets Management

Committee members is set out in the table below:

Name of Committee Member

ERHERBTEEEEZES

ARBERIBBRHERBFEEEELZS
g(AEERERZESR) HTEBRERHEY
EEeRE KEREBASENEREAR
mirE AT AREERB(BRERK
BREFARES) ITHAEENBRFEE
(BRETRRERRE TELEE  8E
BE BABBEERBFERSZAEETH
NREBO—UBFTNERRELEE)ETT

= £
BEEEE-

R-_E-—F+_F=+—8 EBHIERX
HFTEEEEZE SR BN EAK: BER
EhE BLEXERBITIEE -ERALE
BRITEE BSLELERBBUENTES
RBTIASEBIENTEE BERELEAR
SIFERETEEERRZESXRE -

REBEEZZT-_—F+Z_A=+—HLFE"
BB ENEFEEEELZESDERTANR
T U mOANEANSEERAREE
ER-RABRNEAMBTEEERZESNE
Ve HEHFLHRERN TR

Number of meetings
attended/eligible to attend

ZEEMENS HETHEERRE
Mr. Lu Jingsheng' P R A S A 5/5
Mr. Ma Shaohua BogERLE 2/5
Mr. Liu Jiang 2T k£ 1/5
Mr. Gao Hong” SEEE? 5/5
Ms. Fu Qiang” (LS oduuid 4/5
g Mr. Lu Jingsheng was appointed as the chairman of the Risk Prevention and " EREAERZTEARRBRHERATEES

Digital Assets Management Committee with effect of 6 May 2021. BZEgXR BT FRABRAE

e

@ Mr. Gao Hong was removed as an executive Director and ceased to be the

chairman of the Risk Prevention and Digital Assets Management Committee
with effect from 6 May 2021.
e Ms. Fu Qiang was removed as a non-executive Director and ceased to be a
member of the Risk Prevention and Digital Assets Management Committee
with effect from 6 May 2021.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules (previously code provision A.5.6 of the
Corporate Governance Code] stipulates that a policy concerning diversity of
board members should be adopted. The Company adopted the Board
“Board Diversity Policy”) on 27 March 2015. The
Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee also reviewed and

diversity policy (the

agreed on measurable objectives for implementing diversity on the Board.
The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of
a number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills and
knowledge. The measurable objectives identified by the Nomination and
Corporate Governance Committee include: a material number of Board
members should have served as senior management with companies;
certain Board members should have experience with listed companies; and
certain Board members should have experience with conducting businesses
in the telecommunications industry. The Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee is satisfied that the composition of the Board is
sufficiently diverse.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board's composition under

diversified perspectives was summarized as follows:

Educational background

ETRAFEBR2EIREEE AT RIS
XEEAL.61R) HTE AR Wﬁ@ﬁ%%@ﬁk%%ﬁ
EHBE - ARAER _E-—RAF=A=-+
J:EI?%T%%WE%@WE;E(EE&%(F§$§EE
BZRBE]) REREEERZEENE
EZHNRAEETEEEXRESZ TILNAGFE
BR-ARASREBERZHREZRENR
EFEglBZ il ZFEREH/RETRRY
R Flk - XERBEER Bk FEL
BoRERMB - -RELRECEERZEGIH
MAFERERER EEgAHOKERR

SHEAREESREEBE - A TEFEENE
EABRETARIENER: RETES

CREEABRENEHRELENLER -2
ERTCEERZESENESSHNAKRER
- |k

RAFERBY E=eEZLLAETHA
AOBEan T

WS Bagnetor Master B+ PhD B+
Gender Male 53 Female &
151
Age Group
31-40 41-50 51-60
FhAER
Industry background
Phei Telecom Industry B Others Hft
Position backgrojtir;i Senior Executive RARITIRA B
BhEE
Experience with listed comz(jny Yes & No %
%ﬁ 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 J
0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9
Number of Directors
EEIN |
Notes: 5T -
PhD : Doctor of Philosophy |l e nTiva
Master : Master’'s Degree (=R 1= =XV
Bachelor : Bachelor's Degree S+ B8
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The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate governance

duties as required under the Corporate Governance Code:

to develop and review the Company’s policies and practice on

corporate governance;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional

development of Directors and senior management;

to review and monitor the Company's policies and practices on

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual applicable to employees and Directors; and

to review the Company’'s compliance with the Corporate Governance

Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year, the Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee

reviewed and discussed the following nomination and corporate governance

matters:

the re-appointment of Directors;

the appointment of new Directors;

the composition of the Board;

the assessment of the independence of independent non-executive

Directors; and

the draft reports of the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
and the Corporate Governance Report of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2020.
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The Corporate Governance Code stipulates that a nomination policy should

be formulated and adopted, and the Company adopted a nomination policy

accordingly on 29 March 2019. The main contents of the nomination policy

are set out below:

Selection Criteria

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the following

criteria (among other things) should be considered:

(a)

(b)

(c]

(d)

(e)

(f)

(g)

Character and integrity.

Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience and diversity aspects under the Board Diversity Policy

that are relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy.

Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the
Board.

Requirement for the Board to have independent Directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules, and whether the candidate would
be considered independent with reference to the independence
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in
terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and gender
diversity.

Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties as

a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of the Company.

Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s
business and succession plan and where applicable, may be adopted
and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee from time to time for nomination of Directors
and succession planning.

Annual Report 2021
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Nomination Procedures

(a)

Appointment of New Director

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee and/or
the Board should, upon receipt of the proposal on appointment
of new Director and the biographical information (or relevant
details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate with reference
to the criteria as set out above to determine whether such

candidate is qualified for directorship;

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee and/or the
Board should rank them by order of preference based on the
needs of the Company and reference check of each candidate

(where applicable);

The Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee should
then recommend to the Board to appoint the appropriate

candidate for directorship, as applicable;

For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder for election
as a Director at the general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee and/or the
Board should evaluate such candidate with reference to the
criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate

is qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination and Corporate Governance

Committee and/or the Board should make recommendation to

Shareholders in respect of the proposed election of Director at the

general meeting.

RBES
(a) EEHES

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)
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(b) Re-election of Director at General Meeting
(i]  The Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee and/or
the Board should review the overall contribution and service to
the Company of the retiring Director and the level of
participation and performance on the Board;

(il The Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee and/or
the Board should also review and determine whether the

retiring Director continues to meet the criteria as set out above;

(i) The Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee and/or
the Board should then make recommendation to Shareholders
in respect of the proposed re-election of Director at the general

meeting.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect a
candidate as Director at the general meeting, the relevant information
of the candidate will be disclosed in the circular to Shareholders and/
or explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the relevant
general meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules and/or

applicable laws and regulations.

The Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee will conduct regular
review on the structure, size and composition of the Board and this policy
and where appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy and business needs.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial

statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021.
The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events

or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.
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The Company appointed Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited ("Grant
Thornton”] as the external auditor for the year ended 31 December 2021. A
statement by Grant Thornton about their reporting responsibilities for the
financial statements is included in the Independent Auditor's Report on
pages 104 to 111 of this annual report.

The remuneration paid/payable to Grant Thornton in respect of audit
services and non-audit services for the year ended 31 December 2021
amounted to RMB1.65 million and RMBO0.54 million, respectively. The non-
audit services mainly include the review of the consolidated interim financial
statements of the Group and the reporting accountant’s work on the

Group's disposal of the entire equity interest of Club Services, Inc.

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company has engaged RSM
Consulting (Hong Kong) Limited, an independent consultancy firm, to
provide consulting services to the Company. RSM Consulting (Hong Kong)
Limited is conducting a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control system which covers the aspects of the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control system and procedures, and will make
recommendations to the Board to address and rectify the weaknesses
identified. Such review is conducted on a continual basis. The review of the

Group's risk management system is carried out regularly.

The Company has established internal control policies and documents in
respect of information and communication, monitoring, anti-cheating
programs, revenue and receivables, purchase and payables, information
security and intellectual property rights, financial management, financial
reports, fixed and intangible assets, human resources, taxation, investment,
legal management and research and development. The Board considered
the resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs and
budget of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions are adequate.
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The Group's internal control system includes a well-established
organizational structure with clearly defined lines of responsibilities and
authority. On 30 June 2020, the Risk Management Committee was renamed
as the Risk Prevention and Digital Assets Management Committee to review
and manage the assets of the Company, assist the Board in providing
leadership, direction, and oversight with regard to the Group’s overall risk

appetite and tolerance and risk management framework.

The Company also has an Internal Audit Department which primarily
performed internal audit and reviewed the internal control system of the
Group to ensure the effectiveness of internal control procedures and strict
compliance with different standards and policies across different
businesses and operations of the Group during the year ended 31 December
2021.

To manage the risks regarding inside information, we have adopted the
Model Code as the Company's own code of conduct for dealing in securities
of the Company by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, the Company confirmed that all members of the Board complied
with the Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2021. Senior
management, executives and staff who, because of their offices in the
Company are likely to possess inside information, have also been requested
to comply with the Model Code for securities transactions. No incident of
non-compliance with the Model Code by such employees was noted by the

Company during the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Directors are of the view that procedures, systems and controls should
be strengthened and improved to make a proper assessment of the financial

conditions and prospects of the Group on an ongoing basis.

Ms. Ng Sau Mei, the director of the Listing Services of TMF Hong Kong
Limited (a company secretarial services provider), serves as the company
secretary of the Company. Her primary contact person at the Company is
Ms. Xiao Yundan, head of the legal department of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, Ms. Ng Sau Mei has undertaken

not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance with
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

Annual Report 2021
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Convening of Extraordinary General Meetings by
Shareholders

Pursuant to article 12.3 of the Articles of Association, the Board may,
whenever it thinks fit, convene extraordinary general meetings. General
meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition of any two or
more Shareholders deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong
Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal office,
the registered office specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists held as at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company.

General meetings may also be convened on the written requisition of a
Shareholder which is a recognised clearing house (or its nominee(s))
deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the
event the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered
office specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist,
provided that such requisitionist held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company

which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within a further
21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing more
than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene the
general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
meetings may be convened by the Board provided that any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the
date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be

reimbursed to them by the Company.
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Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board and Contact
Details

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send
written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal with

verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to
the following:

Address: 31/F, Tower Two, Times Square, 1 Matheson Street,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
For the attention of the Board of Directors of Ourgame
International Holdings Limited

Email: fawubu(@ourgame.com

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders is
essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding of the
Group's business performance and strategies. The Company endeavours to
maintain an ongoing dialogue with Shareholders and in particular, through
annual general meetings and other general meetings. At the AGM, Directors
(or their delegates as appropriate) will be available to meet Shareholders

and answer their enquiries.

Code provision F.1.1 (formerly code provision E.1.5) of the Corporate
Governance Code stipulates that a dividend policy should be formulated and
adopted, and the Company adopted a dividend policy accordingly. The main
principles and guidelines of the dividend policy are set out below:

(a)  The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend payout

ratio.

(b)  The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute dividends to
the shareholders of the Company subject to the requirements of the
Articles of the Association, Cayman Islands law and other applicable

laws and regulations and the dividend policy.

Annual Report 2021
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The Board shall have regard to the factors of the Group, including
past financial results, past and forecasted cash flows, business
conditions and strategies, future operations and earnings, capital
requirements and expenditure plans, interests of shareholders, any
restrictions on payment of dividends (including contractual
restrictions, i.e. from financing-related agreements] and any other
factors that the Board may consider relevant, when considering the
declaration and payment of dividends.

Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the Group
and the principles and factors set out herein, dividends may be
proposed and/or declared by the Board for a financial year or period
in the form of an interim dividend, a final dividend, a special dividend
and/or any distribution of net profits that the Board may deem
appropriate. Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to
shareholders” approval. The Company may declare and pay dividends
by way of cash or scrip or by other means that the Board considers

appropriate.

Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert to the
Company in accordance with the Articles of Association.

Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to shareholders’

approval.

The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash or scrip
or by other means that the Board considers appropriate.

For the avoidance of doubt, there is no assurance that dividends will be paid

in any particular amount for any given period notwithstanding the adoption

of this policy. If the Board decides to recommend, declare or pay dividends,

the form, frequency and amount will depend upon the situation and

applicable factors at the relevant time. The Board will review this policy as

appropriate from time to time.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company did not make any

significant changes to its constitutional documents. The latest version of the

Company’'s Memorandum and Articles of Association is available on the

websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BIREEIRS

Grant Thornton
2 [=]

To the members of Ourgame International Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability]

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ourgame
International Holdings Limited [the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together,
the “Group”] set out on pages 112 to 268, which comprise the consolidated
December 2021, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,

statement of financial position as at 31

the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant

accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2021,
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International

and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated

Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing ("ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants” Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants ("IESBA Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BIKEARS (&)

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows: EEEGFRERNEREAZELMRAT ¢
Impairment assessment of property, plant and ME RBERRERIEREESE
equipment and right-of-use assets BY 3k 18 5% 1

Refer to notes 2.6, 2.15, 2.21, 4.1(c), 11, 17 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

RARE SR ERMEE2.6 215221 41(c)~ 11~ 17K 18 °

Key Audit Matter
BRETSEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEEBRNMNEREERAER

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has property, plant and
equipment of RMB29,640,000 (net of impairment loss of
RMB51,318,000 and right-of-use assets of RMB20,527,000 (net
of impairment loss of RMB27,981,000).

The management performed impairment assessment by
measuring the recoverable amount of cash generating
units ("CGUs") to which the property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets belong, based on value-in-use of

the CGUs supported by future discounted cash flows .

We identified the impairment assessment of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets as key audit
matter because of their significance to the consolidated
financial statements and the level of subjectivity associated
with the assumptions used in estimating the recoverable
amount of the CGUs, including cash flows forecast, growth
rate used to extrapolate the cash flows and the rate at
which they are discounted.
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Our audit procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of CGUs to which the property, plant and

equipment and right-of-use assets belong included:

— reviewing the cash flow forecast of the CGUs prepared
by the management and comments provided by client’s
finance advisors after reviewing of the cash flow
forecast prepared by the management;

— assessing the reasonableness of key assumptions
(including operating margins, long-term growth rate
and discount rates) based on our knowledge of the
business and industry and taking into account of the
accuracy of previous forecasts and historical
information; and

—  testing the management’'s sensitivity calculations by
applying our own sensitivity analysis to the cash flows
forecast, long-term growth rates and discount rates to
ascertain the extent to which reasonable adverse
changes would, either individually or in aggregate
require an impairment of either the property, plant and

equipment or right-of-use assets.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BUKBERS (8)

Provision for expected credit losses (‘ECL”) of financial M EEMNEHEEEIE ([
assets EEEER]) &iE

Refer to notes 2.11, 4.1(a), 11, 24, 26 and 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

BEAMBHRMEE2114.10@) 1124~ 26 27 °
Key Audit Matter
HAREETEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEEETRNNEEREBESE

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
recognised ECL on financial assets (including trade and
other receivables] amounting to RMB1,980,000.

ECL are based on management'’s estimation by taking into
account the credit loss experience, ageing of overdue
receivables, debtors’” repayment history and debtors’
financial position and an assessment of both the current
and forecast general economic conditions, all of which
involve a significant degree of management judgements.

We identified the ECL assessment of financial assets as a
key audit matter because the assessing ECL of financial
assets is a subjective area which requires the

management’s judgement and uses of estimates.

BE-T-—#+-A=t+-BILEYE BEEEZ
SRHAE(REESREMEREHIE WESEEHAE
AR #1,980,0007T °

EHEEERANREEEEEREREEFELSR
S OB B - BT AR RS AR A
B 75 R DA TR 1 TR B B BB AR OB KR 40 1 5 2t
4 REESRERENE DL -

BEEZALKBEREENTEHREEBEFGIIFRR
BiTEHE RAACRMEERHEEFSENTEBET
B HFEZERENHE MER G-

Our audit procedures in relation to the ECL on financial assets

included:

— reviewing and assessing the application of the Group's
policy for calculating the ECL;

— evaluating techniques and methodology in the ECL

model against the requirements of IFRS 9;

— assessing the reasonableness of management’s loss
allowance estimates by examining the information used by
management to form such judgements, including testing
the accuracy of the historical default data, evaluating
whether the historical loss rates are appropriately adjusted
based on current economic conditions and forward-
looking information and examining the actual losses
recorded during the current financial year and assessing
whether there was an indication of management bias

when recognising loss allowances; and

— evaluating the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls which govern
credit control, debt collection and estimation of ECL.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BUKBERS (8)

Assessment of legal claims ERERENDG

Refer to notes 2.16 and 46(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

REEMBIMEMTE2.16 K 46(a) °
Key Audit Matter
BREETSE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEEETRONNEEEESE

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had possible or actual
legal claims and disclosed as contingent liabilities.

The determination and estimation of outcomes of the legal
claims are judgemental by nature and dependent on future
events, which are inherently uncertain.

We identified the assessment of legal claims as a key audit
matter because of the amounts involved is significant to
the consolidated financial statements and the level of
management judgement assessing the probability of
outcome and in determining a reasonable estimate of each
claim. This led to a high degree of auditor judgement and
subjectivity in evaluating management’s assessment of the
outcome in respect to the legal claims.
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Our audit procedures in relation to the assessment of legal
claims included:

— enquiring of the directors for actual and potential
obligations arising during the year, and challenged
whether provisions are required for these obligations;

— understanding of existing obligations, including claims
and litigations and the directors” assessment regarding
the likelihood of the existence of obligations;

— discussing the reasonableness in respect of assessment
of significant litigation and claims with the Group’'s
internal legal counsel;

— obtaining letters from the Group’'s external legal
advisors that evaluate current status, likely outcome,
magnitude of and exposure to any liabilities that may
arise from the relevant litigation and claims;

— comparing the directors’ assessment of the risk and
estimation of these obligations to underlying contracts
and correspondences and assessing the reliability of the
directors’ assessments by comparing them with the
opinions given by the Group’s external legal advisors;
and

assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures in
respect of significant legal claims.

BEERNERREFNENEAEFEE:

MEESAFAEENERNEEREME LER2
DA Z ST BERTIREE

- ERRAET(BRRELFRIANREEHECLH
FEHEE AT BEMERT A

— B BEERNIEEEMNTREAFARRETG
K& 2

- # BEREIMEEBEEESE R AFFMEE AR
N ARER BENARERABAFLARRED
EENEMEE:

- HREFENEBIGEABANRBANZERL
MEtETLEE TABKEE BEEINIFERE
RRRENERETLE  FHRESTEOAELE &

- i BEREABMEXEIRRERBENRAEE-

HREEERERAT —E-—FER @



Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BUKBERS (8)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the 2021 annual report of the
Company, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report
in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs
issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The directors assisted by the audit committee are responsible for

overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BUKBERS (8)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or

accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users

taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures

made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BUKBERS (8)

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors” use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

— Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BUKBERS (8)

From the matters communicated the audit committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

11th Floor, Lee Garden Two

28 Yun Ping Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

13 June 2022

Kan Kai Ching
Practising Certificate No.: P07816
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
moBmREMEZE NG R

Fortheyearended 31 December2021 HE=—ZT-_—F +_A=+—HILFE

2021 2020
—E-—F —EZEF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B & AR®T T AR T T
CONTINUING OPERATIONS: FREEER:
Revenue A b 143,815 110,407
Cost of revenue NN (87,670) (85,745)
Gross profit EX 56,145 24,662
Other income H W as 7 10,547 7,640
Selling and marketing expenses HELTBHEER (21,981) (4,192)
Administrative expenses TR (128,876) (170,345)
Share-based compensation expense VARR 1 72 E B 6 B 2 5 =2 37 (18,686) (25,978)
Research and development expenses g9 (24,141) (155)
Finance costs A& B AR 8 (6,441) (42,271)
Share of profits of associates, net DR N AR N FE R 2] - 3.813
Fair value changes of financial assets at & AR EFT ABzH 2
fair value through profit or loss EHMEEZANEY 42(g) (14,218) (13,373)
Fair value changes of convertible notes AR ZEEZ AR BEEH 32 — (6,902)
Fair value changes of investment REWMEZ AR EET
properties 150 -
Gain on deregistration/disposal of BUH s S B A A
subsidiaries 2 Ww - 4,682
Gain on disposal of an associate HE—AEE AR 2 W E 21 7,608 —
Gain on disposal of financial assets at HEZRARNBEFABRZ
fair value through profit or loss THEE 2 WE 42(a) 110 —
Gain/[Loss) on conversion/redemption of ~ B3 /fE B A] 2 fF 21K 2
convertible notes Wz (E1R) 32 6,453 (47,711)
Impairment of assets BERE " (2,021) (126,383]
Loss before income tax from continuing HBE XL EB KRS HA
operations B8 (135,351) (396,513)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrigfiE e, (M%) 9 34 (152)
Loss for the year from continuing REBFESEEL2
operations FRER 10 (135,317) (396,665)
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS: A ERE K !
Profit/(Loss) after tax for the period/ H/ FAKREERIEECEER
year from discontinued operations BB B & m (&) 44(b) 329,643 (5,923
Profit/(Loss) for the year FREF(BR) 194,326 (402,588)
Other comprehensive loss for theyear SFREMEEEIRE
Item that may be subsequently reclassified & A EFHH =BT M
to profit or loss: HE
Currency translation differences ERREERE (28,689) (26,129)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) FREERE(FE)AHE
for the year 165,637 (428,717)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income (Continued)

REBDRAMEENSR (&)

Forthe year ended 31 December 2021 &=

—E - F+-_fB=+—HItFEE

2021 2020
—EZ—F —E-THF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt 5 ARBT T AR T T
Profit/(Loss) for the year attributable to: T 5| A £ FE{E FE REF,
(BH) :
Equity holders of the Company RARRERFEA
— Continuing operations —REKEED (74,367) (180,806)
— Discontinued operations —BERIEEEXEE 100,871 (5,586
26,504 (186,392)
Non-controlling interests FEIE MR i A
— Continuing operations —BREEER (60,950) (215,859)
— Discontinued operations —BERIEREER 228,772 (337)
167,822 (216,196)
194,326 (402,588)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) THALTEEERZEKZE
for the year attributable to: (BR) &8
Equity holders of the Company AAREEEFEA
— Continuing operations —REKEES (94,995) (179,881)
— Discontinued operations —BERIEEEEB 100,871 (14,637)
5,876 (194,518)
Non-controlling interests FEPE IR =
— Continuing operations —RHEKEEY (69,011) (213,811)
— Discontinued operations —BERIEREER 228,772 (20,388)
159,761 (234,199)
165,637 (428,717)
Earnings/(Loss) per share BREAN(FHR)
(expressed in RMB cents per share) (AEBRARESF|R) 13
Basic earnings/(loss) per share BREXEN,(EE)
From continuing operations RERFEKEET (7.05) (17.12)
From discontinued operations RE BRI EEET 9.56 (0.53)
2.51 (17.65)
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share BREERN,(EE)
From continuing operations REFEREET (7.05) (17.12)
From discontinued operations KEBKRIEEEEB 9.56 (0.53)
2.51 (17.65)

The notes on pages 120 to 268 form part of these consolidated financial S 120E 268 B st ARG A M ERE — 2D -
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

fm S B RRE

Asat31December2021 R=—ZE=-_—&F+-_A=+—H

2021 2020
=B —F —E_ETF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B = AR®T T AR T T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERER
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y- BEREE 17 29,640 48,723
Right-of-use assets FRHEEE 18 20,527 12,196
Investment properties KEME 19 2,900 —
Interests in associates B E QAR = 21 — 4,250
Goodwill 5k 22 = -
Intangible assets wmEE 23 2,411 1,253
Financial assets at fair value through BRARERABRZ
profit or loss SREE 25 48,615 69,683
Non-current prepayments e EN A A 26 = -
104,093 136,105
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 565 4Lb4
Trade and other receivables B 5 N H b g W kIR 27 53,823 51,906
Loans to third parties BYE=ZFRZEXR 24 = —
Financial assets at fair value through BRAREFAEBRZ
profit or loss THREE 25 7,577 —
Restricted bank balances PR H R 1T 45 £ 28 34,897 32,622
Bank balances and cash IRITHEBRLIRE 29 609,070 79,417
705,932 164,409
Assets of disposal group classified as DEAFBEHENDLEAER
held for sale &= 44(a) — 434,853
705,932 599,262
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 REAENFRIE 30 48,091 52,228
Deferred revenue R 3T WA 31 16,571 13,493
Convertible notes Al ]RR =R 32 = 13,610
Lease liabilities HEaE 33 7,457 6,231
Loans payable R E & 34 — 12,789
Income tax liabilities FrieBiaE 188 1,940
72,307 100,291
Liabilities of disposal group classified as 7 8 A5 & 09 H & 48 5
held for sale =R 44(a) = 90,111
72,307 190,402
Net current assets REBEEFE 633,625 408,860
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERRBER 737,718 544,965
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

REMBEBRRE (B)

Asat31December2021 R—ZE=-—F+_-_HA=+—H

2021 2020
—EZ—F —E-THF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B E AR®ET ARET T
Non-current liabilities kRBEME
Convertible notes Al AR = 32 — 9,734
Lease liabilities HERE 33 49,731 44,944
Loans payable & B 34 - 2,401
49,731 57,079
Net assets EEFE 687,987 487,886
EQUITY R
Share capital N 35 335 335
Reserves 1 36 279,256 240,615
Equity attributable to equity holders of AARIERFE ARLEZR
the Company 279,591 240,950
Non-controlling interests eI R 408,396 246,936
Total equity ExmE 687,987 487,886

Li Yangyang Lu Jingsheng
EX R fE R A&
Director Director
BFE BFE

The notes on pages 120 to 268 form part of these consolidated financial 581202268 B i ¥ B ARG ISR K — 39 ©

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mOERBER

Forthe year ended 31 December 2021 & ZE —

2 —FT_A=T—HILEE

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

ARARERAAEEER
Shares held
under the Non-
Share Share  Statutory  Translation ~ Share option Other Share Award Retained controlling Total
capital  premium* reserve* reserve* reserve* reserve* Scheme eamings Sub-total interests equity
RERHED
RA BAEE EEdEr AERE BRERE AtRer AEEEZRG REEA i FERER il 4]
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT AR%TR ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETL ARETT ARETIL
[Note35)  (Note36lall  (Note 36(bl) (Note3blc)l  (Note36(d)]  [Note 3blel Note 37)
(Hritss)  (HfaEdelal) (HPiEelol) (R¥aESelcl)  (RPEE3sld))  (Ff3Eelel) (HtiEan)
Balance at 1 January 2020 RZB-%§-A-H2
43 340 1,055,094 38,025 26,134 116,014 66,815) (15,242) (734,839) 418711 238,508 657,219
Total comprehensive loss for the year A2 EFBAE
Loss for the year ERNEE - - - - - - - 186,392) (186,392) (216,198) (402,588)
Other comprehensive loss for the year £ REH 2 EEE
Currency translation differences EBEEEE - - - (8,126) - - - - (8,126) (18,003) (26,129)
- - - 8,126) - - - 186,392) 194518) (236,199) (628,717)
Transactions with owners HEAARS
Share-based compensation IRHAEROHE

(Note 37(c) and Note 371f) (B 3E37(c) R Mt £ 3711) - - - - - 12,07 533 - 12590 15,145 7%
Transfer upon forfeiture of RENERERER

share options - - - - (79 - - 79 - - -
Cancellation of issuance of shares & 88/ {7 17 (H5£35)

Note 35) 5] (31.831) - - - - - - (31,536) - (31,536)
Deemed gain on dilution of interestin & {E&EH B2 FEXR 2

subsidiaries 63 - - - - - 38,004 - - 38,004 207482 265,486
Deregistration of subsidiaries BEERHEAR - - [1.188) - - - - 1188 - - -
Purchase of shares for Share Award 5t (3 B3t 888 8 B )

Scheme [Note 371c]] (B 2E37(c)) - - - - - - (2301) - (2301) - (2301)
Total transactions with owners REEARSAE () (31,331) [1,188) - 79 50,081 (1,768 1267 16,757 22827 259,384
Balance at 31 December 2020 et 33

TZB=t-HekH 3% 1,023,563 36,837 18,008 115,935 [16,754) (17,010 919.964) 240,950 246,936 487,886

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)
ROERBBR (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2021 HE=ZFT=—F +—_A=+—HILFE

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

KAARERAARERER
Shares held
under the Non-
Share Share  Statutory Translation ~Share option Other Share Award Retained controlling Total
capital  premium*  reserve* reserve* reserve* reserve* Scheme*  earnings*  Sub-total interests equity
RERGER
K& BROsE* iRk RERE BRERG EbRE SUREZRHET  REEAN Nt FERER Ed 4
RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBTR AR®TR ARETR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR AREBTZ ARETR
(Note 35)  (Note 36(al) ~ (Note 36(b)) (Note 36(c])  (Note 3(d)) ~ (Note 36(e]) (Note 37)

(HrsE3s)  (¥iEselal) (KiEalb)) (Wi3slc)) (HEsld) (KizE3sle)) (GEX)

Balance at 1 January 2021 RZB=-%-A-H2
&8 335 1,023,563 36,837 18,008 115,935 (16,754) (17,010) 919,964) 240,950 246,936 487,886
Total comprehensive loss for the year %2 E B84 5
Prafit for the year gl - - - - - - - 26,504 26,504 167,822 194,326
Other comprehensive loss for the year £ REH 2 EFE
Currency translation differences EBEEEE - - - (20,628) - - - - (20,628) 8,01) (28,689)
= = = (20,628) = = - 26,504 5,876 159,761 165,637
Transactions with owners REEARS
Share-based compensation NRHBEROHS
[Note 37(c] and Note 37(f) (B 3E7(c) B B 2 3716) = - - - - 5721 12,965 - 18,686 - 18,686
Transfer upon forfeiture of REKEREREE
share options - - - - (1,194) - - 1,19 - - -
Deemed gain on dilution of interestin ~ fERENBA AR Z
subsidiaries 63 - - - - - 23,275 - - 23,275 1,699 24,974
Purchase of shares for Share Award 5t (3 B3t 888 & B 7
Scheme (Note 37(c) (R £37(c)) = = = = = = (9,196) - (9,196) - (9,196)
Total transactions with owners BEEARRHE - - - - (1,194) 28,996 3,769 1,19 32,765 1,699 34,464
Balance at 31 December 2021 RZB=-%F
‘|' ZREZt-AzEH 335 1,023,563 36,837 (2,620) 114,761 12,262 (13,241) (892,266) 279,591 408,396 687,987

S The reserves accounts comprise the Group’s reserves of RMB279,256,000 (2020:  * ERERE BENEE BN R ‘:P AKE
RMB240,615,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. EEARE279256,000L (ZTE=ZF: AR
" 240,615,0007T) °

The notes on pages 120 to 268 form part of these consolidated financial 581202268 B i ¥ B ARG ISR K — 39 ©
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
TOREMER

Fortheyearended 31 December2021 HE=—ZT-_—F +_A=+—HILFE

2021 2020
—B-—fF —E_EF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 ARBT T ARBETFTT
Cash flows from operating activities RETERMEBZRERE
Profit/(Loss) before income tax B FTS R A& B, (B 48)
— Continuing operations —RBREER (135,351) (396,513
— Discontinued operations —ERIEREED 44(b) 329,643 (6,707)
194,292 (403,220)
Adjustments for: HATSEMELFE
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BERRETE 21,586 32,767
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEENE 3,426 13,814
Amortisation of intangible assets B EERE 1,653 38,627
Interest expenses FER X 6,441 45,035
Interest income B WA (2,057) (377)
Dividend income i B A (77) -
Impairment of assets BERE 2,021 126,383
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME  BEL&EE
equipment &8 — 748
Gain on deregistration/disposal of subsidiaries BCH LS E
NCIE G - (4,682)
Gain on disposal of financial assets at HERAREFABEZ
fair value through profit or loss TREEZ W (110) -
Loss on a strategic initiative M—IEEBMREZER — 25,196
Fair value changes of financial assets at BEARBEFABRZZ SR
fair value through profit or loss EEZAREED 14,218 13,373
(Gain)/Loss on conversion/redemption of it R AR R
Convertible Notes (&), BB (6,453) 47,711
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, HEERIEREEBLZ
net of tax g (FBR B 2E) 44(c) (319,033) -
Gain on disposal of an associate e — A A A s (7,608) -
Gain on forgiveness of PayCheck Protection HEREFHEREF B
Program loans and interest R (5,888) -
Fair value changes of convertible notes ARRREZ AR EE — 6,902
Fair value changes of investment properties WEMEZ AR EE (150) —
Share of profits of associates pak iy AN bkl - (3,813)
Share-based compensation expense UARR £ 7% Z 7 0 BN 2 A 2 18,686 27,735
COVID-19 related rent concession received B AR R EAEE 2
HeER — (4,395)
Exchange difference fE 5 =58 (18,426) 22,662
Operating loss before working capital changes LEESRHAIZKEEIE (97,479) (15,534)
(Increasel/Decrease in inventories FEGEM,w (142) 40
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 I H At [ W Tk TE 1 N (29,098) (53,240)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 K EH b JE 5K IE I AN 9,340 66,857
Increase/(Decrease) in deferred revenue EEW AL O ) 1,882 (14,391)
Cash used in operations KEMBZHRS (115,497) (16,268
Interest received B F B 2,057 377
Income tax (paid)/refunded (B, EEFEH (1,718) 524
Interest paid B ARTFLE - (7,732)
Net cash used in operating activities REFERMAZHESFE (115,158) (23,099)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

freRERER (B)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 £ =%

T+ A=+—HLLFE

2021 2020
—B-—fF —E T4
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 ARBT T ARBETFTT
Cash flows from investing activities RETHMBZRERE
Increase in restricted bank balances PR I SR 1T A5 RRIE AN (2,275) (32,621
Payment in strategic investment agreement HEREHRIRK - (10,355)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment HBEME  BRERZE (3,399) (4,149)
Purchase of intangible assets BERLEE (2,814) (43,986)
Purchase of investment properties BEREYE (2,750) -
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired W HE M B 2 R - kR B ERS
Re - (24)
Purchases of financial assets at fair value through 8§ AR AR BT ABZEZ
profit or loss EREE (9,000) (19,725)
Proceeds from disposal of an associate HE—MBEE QR ZAERIEA 11,858 -
Proceeds from disposal of discontinued operation, HEDRIFRELEE 215
net of transaction costs TIE - IR SR 44(c) 668,381 —
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at HERARBEFABRZZ
fair value through profit or loss TRIEEMRS A 8,460 -
Repayment of loans to third parties BERTE=ZFAZEX = 4,068
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities REZERE (A2
HEFE 668,461 (106,792)
Cash flows from financing activities METBHFMEBZ2RERE
Interest paid ERFLE (6,441) (5,294)
Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes BATAI R IR R IR AT 15 5118 - 62,129
Repayment of convertible notes BEAIRKRRE = (48,322)
Proceeds from loan payable JE& <1 B SR P15 F/E — 10,993
Repayment of loan payable BEEMNER (9,170) —
Payment for redemption of convertible notes BB O AT AR R B 2 3R (12,905) —
Proceeds from issuance of share capital of a BT EBRRRKRA
subsidiary Frig sk 1E = 48,322
Payment of lease liabilities HERBENRK (8,249) (13,164
Purchase of shares under Share Award Scheme BRI 7 22 B =t 2188 E % {5 (9,196) (2,301)
Net cash (used in)/from financing activities BMEEE (FTA), Bz
H&FH (45,961) 52,363
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ReRBRLEEYHEM
cash equivalents (RA) 8 507,342 (77,528)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginningofyear F¥BRERBELSZEY 103,122 185,848
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EREEH s HE (1,394) (5,198)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year RERZEESRESZEEY 29 609,070 103,122

The notes on pages 120 to 268 form part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
S BmETMEE

Fortheyearended 31 December2021 HE=—ZT-_—F +_A=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Ourgame International Holdings Limited [the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 4 December 2013 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law (2013
Revision) of the Cayman Islands. The address of the Company's
registered office is P.0. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman KY1-
1104, Cayman Islands. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 30 June 2014 (the “Listing”).

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”] are principally engaged in the development
and operation of online card and board games, organising and
broadcasting online to offline mind-sports events, tournaments, TV
shows and contents [collectively, the “Online Games Business”)
primarily in the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC"/"Lianzhong
Group”) and the United States (the "US"). The Group is expanding the
eSports, sports e-commerce business and other non-card-and-board
games new internet businesses (collectively, the “eSports Business”)

globally.

Pursuant to the applicable PRC laws and regulations, foreign
investors are prohibited from holding equity interest in an entity
conducting online game business and are restricted to conduct value-
added telecommunications services. In order to enable investments
be made into the restricted businesses, the Company established
subsidiaries, Beijing Lianzhong Garden Network Technology Co., Ltd.
(S RBRRERGEEIEEREME2AR, "WFOE 17 and Tianjin
Lianhzhong Lequ Technology Development Co., Ltd. (K2R 44
KERBR AT, "WFOE 27) (together, the "WFOEs"), which are wholly
foreign owned enterprises incorporated in the PRC. The WFOEs have
entered into a series of contractual arrangements (the “Contractual
Arrangements”) with Beijing Lianzhong Co., Ltd. (At F Bt R B BHA94E A%
MABRZATR], "Beijing Lianzhong”) and Beijing Lianzhong Tiandi
Technology Development Co., Ltd. (At REER KB EEFR A A,
“Lianzhong Tiandi”) formerly known as Beijing Guangyao Hudong
Technology Development Co., Ltd. Jt R} E BEHZEREGR AT,
and their respective equity holders, which enable the WFOEs and the
Group to:

= exercise effective financial and operational control over Beijing
Lianzhong and Lianzhong Tiandi;

— exercise equity holders’ voting rights of Beijing Lianzhong and
Lianzhong Tiandi;

®‘ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Fortheyearended 31 December2021 B Z—ZE - —F+ A=+ —HILFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

— receive substantially all of the economic interest returns
generated by Beijing Lianzhong and Lianzhong Tiandi and their
subsidiaries in consideration for the business support, technical
and consulting services provided by WFOEs, at WFOEs’
discretion;

= obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase all or part
of equity interest in and/or assets of Beijing Lianzhong and
Lianzhong Tiandi from the respective equity holders at a
minimum purchase price permitted under the PRC laws and
regulations. WFOEs may exercise such options at any time until
it has acquired all equity interests and/or all assets of Beijing
Lianzhong and Lianzhong Tiandi;

—  obtain a pledge over the entire equity interest of Beijing
Lianzhong and Lianzhong Tiandi from their respective equity
holders as collateral security for all of Beijing Lianzhong and
Lianzhong Tiandi’s payments due to WFOEs and to secure
performance of Beijing Lianzhong and Lianzhong Tiandi's
obligations under the Contractual Arrangements.

The details of the Contractual Arrangements are set out in the
prospectus issued by the Company dated 18 June 2014 (the
“Prospectus”] and the announcement issued by the Company dated 9
February 2017.

The Group does not have any equity interest in Beijing Lianzhong and
Lianzhong Tiandi and its subsidiaries. However, as a result of the
Contractual Arrangements, the Group has rights to variable returns
from its involvement with Beijing Lianzhong and Lianzhong Tiandi and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over Beijing
Lianzhong and Lianzhong Tiandi and is considered to control Beijing
Lianzhong and Lianzhong Tiandi and hence the Beijing Lianzhong and
Lianzhong Tiandi Group. Consequently, the Company regards the
Beijing Lianzhong and Lianzhong Tiandi Group as consolidated
structured entities under International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRSs”). The Group has consolidated the financial position and
results of the Beijing Lianzhong and Lianzhong Tiandi Group in the
consolidated financial statements.

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective
as direct legal ownership in providing the Group with direct control
over the Beijing Lianzhong and Lianzhong Tiandi Group and
uncertainties presented by the PRC legal system could impede the
Group's beneficiary rights of the results, assets and liabilities of the
Beijing Lianzhong and Lianzhong Tiandi Group. The directors of the
Company, based on the advice of its legal counsel, consider that the
Contractual Arrangements are in compliance with relevant PRC laws

and regulations and are legally enforceable.
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GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi

("RMB”], unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 were
approved for issue by the board of directors (the “Board”) on 13 June
2022.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

These annual consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with IFRSs which collective term includes all applicable
individual International Financial Reporting Standards, International
Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board.

The consolidated financial statements also comply with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and include
the applicable disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”).

On 19 January 2021, the Company's non-wholly owned subsidiary,
Allied Esports Entertainment, Inc. ("AESE”) entered into a Stock
Purchase Agreement (“SPA”), as amended on 19 March 2021 and 29
March 2021 SPA respectively, to sell 100% of the capital stock of its
wholly-owned subsidiary, Club Services, Inc. ("CSI”). CSI owns 100%
of each of the legal entities that collectively operate or engage in the
Company’'s poker-related business, commonly known as the World
Poker Tour ("WPT"). WPT is an internationally televised gaming and
entertainment company that has been involved in the sport of poker
since 2002 and created a television show based on a series of high-
stakes poker tournaments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)

Fortheyearended 31 December2021 B Z-_ZE - —F+ A=+ —HILFE

—RER @

BmBRBAN IR BRERGUA
RETAR®K] 25 -

2= E -G+ =-_A=+—HIEFEE
CHBERERRZE__F A T=HE
Exg((Esg)fEET-

EXRESTHRME

2.1 IMBEXE

ZEFEFRAMBRERTIIZBERY B

SEN(EBEHERSTERES
ERMOMEBERNERNERY B HRE
A BEEgEA BB G -

HEVBRERNATAEBTERAGI®
RERT LEEBXMES LR
(TEFRAUDERRERE

RZZEZ—F—A+NB KRAAIWkES
& [ff B A 7] Allied Esports Entertainment,
Inc. (TAESE) 5T 32 B 10 B8 B 1% &% ([ B8 IR
wmED (DR =—_ZE=—F=A+ 1A
—EZ—F=AZtNLhB&ER N
tH & H 2 & Mf B 2 5 Club Services, Inc.
(fcsl) ey 2 A AN o CSIBE A A 7] & &
INERARTEREEEBZ(BEL R
World Poker Tour ([WPT)) 89 &% & & 88
MEHER WPTAR —KERMENER
BRESRIRERR BB =TT F
B—ESREREY URE RIS
BEREFAH —EEREHE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

=)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &% =

M BRI (8)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

On 12 July 2021, AESE and the buyer consummated the transactions
contemplated by the SPA, pursuant to which, among other things,
AESE sold 100% of the outstanding capital stock of CSI to the buyer.
CSI is AESE’s indirect wholly-owned subsidiary that directly or
indirectly owns 100% of the outstanding capital stock of each of the
legal entities that collectively operate or engage in AESE's WPT
business.

As the Group committed to sell the WPT business (the “Disposal
December 2020,

reclassified as “Discontinued operations” and its assets and liabilities

Group”) prior to 31 the Disposal Group was
were classified as "Assets of disposal group classified as held for
sale” and “Liabilities of disposal group classified as held for sale” as
at 31 December 2020.

The details of the disposal of WPT business are set out in Note 44.

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
summarised below. These policies have been consistently applied to
all the years presented unless otherwise stated. The adoption of new
or amended IFRSs and the impacts on the Group’s financial

statements, if any, are disclosed in Note 3.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for investment properties and certain
financial assets and liabilities which are stated at fair values. Non-
current assets and disposal group held for sale are stated at the
lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. The
measurement bases are fully described in the accounting policies

below.

E-—F+-A=+—BLFE

2.

REETBEREE (@)

2.1 REEXE @)

R=ZZ=Z—F+A+=H AESEEER
ERERBZETRETRS Bt
(E B 15)AESER B R H & CSI& 3 &
THESNRE X = CSIBAESER [ # 2 & M

NE BEXRHEREESETEEN
EEBITEIINBRA  MZFETEEHS
[F) & 18 o it S AESE BYWPT 2 75 ©

HRASEBEERFER_ZE=_TF+ A
=+ —HAETEHEWPTER ([HEA
%D'lﬂﬁﬁmﬁaiﬁ“ﬁﬁﬁﬂg
a2k MEEERBERZ
TFE+-_A=+— Haiﬁ”ﬁﬁf
BARBHENLEHANEEI RIS
AREEHENTEEHRERNEE] -

BRALEWPTEB R F BN M GE44 -

TXBR R ZEFEAMBERRE R
RZEREHBER - BREEHEAN Z
ERREBEZINFREERER - K&
Al HEERTRR T HRE £ R H AR
SEYBHRERIZE(WA) R FEIR
R o

BRENEUARETEREERAGR
RABEIERIN REPBRREGUESE
RABRERE - FRBEERFBIELE
Z & A RIS 12 AR T (E B R A A fER
ERRNNBREERE)IIR - FTEREE
RTIXEFBREE AL

BREEERERAT —E-—EER @



SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions are
used in preparation of the consolidated financial statements. Although
these estimates are based on management’'s best knowledge and
judgement of current events and actions, actual results may
ultimately differ from those estimates. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in Note 4.

2.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31

December each year.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. When assessing whether
the Group has power over the entity, only substantive rights relating

to the entity (held by the Group and others) are considered.

The Group includes the income and expenses of a subsidiary in the
consolidated financial statements from the date it gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses
on transactions between group companies are eliminated in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Where unrealised losses on
sales of intra-group asset are reversed on consolidation, the
underlying asset is also tested for impairment from the Group's
perspective. Amounts reported in the financial statements of
subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to ensure
consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity on a subsidiary not
attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect of
which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the holders
of those interests which would result in the Group as a whole having a
contractual obligation in respect of those interests that meets the
definition of a financial liability. For each business combination, the
Group can elect to measure any non-controlling interests either at
fair value or at their proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net

identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position within equity, separately from the equity
attributable to the owners of the Company. Non-controlling interests
in the results of the Group are presented on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between non-controlling interests
and the owners of the Company.

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a
loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions, whereby
adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling interests within
consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

2.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on
disposal is calculated as the difference between [i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwilll, and Lliabilities of the subsidiary and any non-
controlling interests. Where certain assets of the subsidiary are
measured at revalued amounts or fair values and the related
cumulative gain or loss has been recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity, the amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are
accounted for as if the Company had directly disposed of the related
assets [i.e., reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to
retained earnings). The fair value of any investment retained in the
former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the
fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under IFRS
9 “Financial Instruments” or, when applicable, the cost on initial

recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

In the Company’'s statement of financial position, subsidiaries are
carried at cost less any impairment loss unless the subsidiary is held
for sale or included in a disposal group. Cost is adjusted to reflect
changes in consideration arising from contingent consideration
amendments. Cost also includes direct attributable costs of

investment.

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividends received and receivable at the reporting date. All
dividends whether received out of the investee's pre or post-
acquisition profits are recognised in the Company’s profit or loss.

2.3 Business combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using
the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum
of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair

values at the acquisition date.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity in
the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of
the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If, after
assessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value on the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is

recognised immediately in profit or loss as bargain purchase gain.

Where the consideration the Group transfers in a business
combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured
at its acquisition-date fair value and considered as part of the
consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in the
fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement
period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with the
corresponding adjustments being made against goodwill or gain on
bargain purchase. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments
that arise from additional information obtained during the
measurement period about facts and circumstances that existed as of
the acquisition date. Measurement period does not exceed one year
from the acquisition date. The subsequent accounting for changes in
the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as
measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its
subsequent settlement is accounting for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as a financial liability is remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates at fair value with corresponding gain or
loss being recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in the value of the previously held equity interest recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity before the
acquisition date are reclassified to profit or loss when the Group

obtains control over the acquiree.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

=)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &% =

M B R RMEE (8)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Business combinations (Continued)

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the
Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about
facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.

2.4 Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence, which is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control of those policies.

In consolidated financial statements, an investment in an associate is
initially recognised at cost and subsequently accounted for using the
equity method. Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the associate recognised at the date of
acquisition is recognised as goodwill. The goodwill is included within
the carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for impairment
as part of the investment. The cost of acquisition is measured at the
aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given,
liabilities incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued by the
Group, plus any costs directly attributable to the investment. Any
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the
determination of the Group’s share of the associate’s profit or loss in

the period in which the investment is acquired.

Under the equity method, the Group’s interest in the associate is
carried at cost and adjusted for the post-acquisition changes in the
Group’s share of the associate’'s net assets less any identified
impairment loss, unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in
a disposal group that is classified as held for sale). The profit or loss
for the year includes the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-
tax results of the associate for the year, including any impairment
loss on the investment in associate recognised for the year. The
Group's other comprehensive income for the year includes its share

of the associate’s other comprehensive income for the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 &% =

M BRI (8)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Associates (Continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associate
are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in the associates.
Where unrealised losses on assets sales between the Group and its
associate are reversed on equity accounting, the underlying asset is
also tested for impairment from the Group's perspective. Where the
associate uses accounting policies other than those of the Group for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances, adjustments
are made, where necessary, to conform the associate’s accounting
policies to those of the Group when the associate’s financial
statements are used by the Group in applying the equity method.

When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds
its interest in the associate, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate. For this purpose, the
Group's interest in the associate is the carrying amount of the
investment under the equity method together with the Group’s long-
term interests that in substance form part of the Group’s net

investment in the associate.

After the application of equity method, the Group determines whether
it is necessary to recognise an additional impairment loss on the
Group’s investment in its associates. At each reporting date, the
Group determines whether there is any objective evidence that the
investment in associate is impaired. If such indications are identified,
the Group calculates the amount of impairment as being the
difference between the recoverable amount (i.e. higher of value in use
and fair value less costs of disposal] of the associate and its carrying
amount. In determining the value in use of the investment, the Group
estimates its share of the present value of the estimated future cash
flows expected to be generated by the associate, including cash flows
arising from the operations of the associate and the proceeds on
ultimate disposal of the investment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 &% =

M B R RMEE (8)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Associates (Continued)

The Group discontinues the use of equity method from the date when
If the
retained interest in that former associate is a financial asset, the

it ceases to have significant influence over an associate.

retained interest is measured at fair value, which is regarded as its
fair value on initial recognition as a financial asset in accordance with
IFRS 9. The difference between (i) the fair value of any retained
interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the
associate; and (i) the carrying amount of the investment at the date
the equity method was discontinued, is recognised in the profit or
loss. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
associate on the same basis as would have been required if the
associate had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by the investee would be reclassified to profit
or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the entity
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a

reclassification adjustment] when the equity method is discontinued.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture, the Group continues to apply the equity method and does not
remeasure the retained interest.

2.5 Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB"), which is also the functional currency of the Company.

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated entities,
foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency of the individual entity using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. At the reporting date, monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at that date. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the reporting date retranslation of monetary assets and

liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated (i.e. only translated using the exchange rates at the
transaction date).

®‘ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021

E-—F+-A=+—BLFE

2.

REETBEREE (@)

2.4 BENT @)

AEEEETBHBEARNAEATE
T8 BB L AR EE o i 7 5% Al 5
ENANRBESASRHEE  BEH
BEf ks LR EIR ZRB SR
AREFE ZARBEERERVTHER
%iﬂﬁ?%% AnE-HEBEA

DHESNTMRBER R EME
EAIEE’]’A/LME R BERAEREZE
HW&%%@@W%%#%%EE$$
Rt REEFBAEREE RFR
Hih2EBaBROMESBAR &
HEEBENRERELERBEES AR

BHRERNEEMRR- - Bt WIRESH
B E R A 5 T U ES B R s Sl

B BREEEREEXREREN D
BERG MEBR I BEREDRER
HERKREXERHESENDBER
B2(EREH D RHE) -

MR ERANRERSNEEREN
RE AEBREEERAEZZEINTE
ENFTERBREEx -

2.5 SNEKIRES

HEMBBRRERAARBITARED 2
5 MARBTRARABHNEER -

REEA ARERNERMBHRERA - S
KRR 5 E BHEEBE R E R
ERNDEER -NBEBH - UIHINE
ﬁ@%*%éé&%%ﬁ%ﬁm5$ﬁ
-HBEEZERHMARBERHE
ﬁﬁ§%M§é&%%§$m%E%ﬁ
REBEBHRIEREAER

BARMBEIREAIINESHENIFEERIR
B DREEAAEEBNEXEZHIG
BB ERARUIINE S ENIFER R
BETEENRE(NEARZEBNE
KETHRE) -

l

+
\]]]E



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 &% =

M BRI (8)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual financial
statements of foreign operations, originally presented in a currency
different from the Group's presentation currency, have been
converted into RMB. Assets and liabilities have been translated into
RMB at the closing rates at the reporting date. Income and expenses
have been converted into the RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates, or at the average rates over the reporting period
provided that the exchange rates do not fluctuate significantly. Any
differences arising from this procedure have been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in the translation
reserve in equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a
foreign operation have been treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation and translated into RMB at the closing rates.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e., a disposal of the Group's
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or loss of
significant influence over an associate that includes a foreign
operation), all of the accumulated exchange differences in respect of
that operation attributable to the Group are reclassified to profit or
loss. Any exchange differences that have previously been attributed to
non-controlling interests are derecognised, but they are not

reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal (i.e., no loss of control) of a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, the proportionate share of
accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all
other partial disposals (i.e., of associates not involving a change of
accounting basis], the proportionate share of the accumulated

exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than construction in progress
as described below) are initially recognised at acquisition cost or
manufacturing cost, including any cost directly attributable to bringing
the assets to the location and condition necessary for them to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by the Group's
management. They are subsequently stated at cost less accumulated

depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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M B R RMEE (8)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and, for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group's
accounting policy. Such properties are classified to the appropriate
categories of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are

ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets, other
than construction in progress, less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, as follows:
Leasehold improvements Shorter of remaining term of the
lease and the estimated useful

lives of the assets

Computer equipment 3 to S years
Furniture and office equipment ~ 3 to 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Production equipment S years

Estimates of residual value and useful life are reviewed, and adjusted

if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
costs, such as repairs and maintenance, are charged to profit or loss

during the financial period in which they are incurred.

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021

E-—F+-A=+—BLFE

2.

REETBEREE (@)

2.6 W% - BB KRR @)

RAREE HEXEEENZERYE
12 BB AE 7] 2 HE RRORUE B 1R I Bk o K
ABEREXEANGIEEREEMS)
REAESEEAREERNEHEERK
Ko ZEMHEERTAIERERBERA
DREEZEINNME BELRE-
REBEREEMYMEEERARNESE
wE AREAERERERMAGITE -

PFrENBE BN N 5 AR FH A
R UHMEEERAN(EEZITRRIN
BE IR EE

HEXETIR BEMNFERE M E
i 5t A 2 A F 3
AR SES

EMRE 3FE5EF

BMEPHARERE 3EEF

"= B4z

EERE B

MNABERATERFHZAANERS
BEBETR T RNEE R ELBE

BESLEMELEZREHBIRRHEE
PSR REEEEECREECENE
BETE  WNEBEAER -

BREKRAFABEZREEINEE K
MR A — RER & E - A5 1R 1 & 8%
THE MR RREENSHRAE AT ERA
AEBRZEBKAERSEAE K IE
HRACEEN D 2RHEE - FIE LMK
ANBERRERN)REELEZHMB
HifM g EEAmes -



SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Investment properties

Investment properties are buildings which are owned to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation.

On initial recognition, investment property is measured at cost, and
subsequently at fair value, unless fair value cannot be reliably

determined at that time.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the investment property. The cost of self-constructed
investment property includes the cost of materials and direct labour,
any other costs directly attributable to bringing the investment
property to a working condition for their intended use and capitalised

borrowing costs.

2.8 Goodwill

Set out below are the accounting policies on goodwill arising on
acquisition of a subsidiary. Accounting for goodwill arising on
acquisition of investment in an associate is set out in Note 2.4.

Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset
at the date that control is acquired (the acquisition date]. Goodwill is
measured as the excess of the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the Group’s
interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and

liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

If, after reassessment, the Group's interest in the fair value of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised

immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and is tested annually
for impairment (see Note 2.21).

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of
goodwill capitalised is included in the determination of the amount of

gain or loss on disposal.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Intangible assets (other than goodwill) and
research and development activities

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Acquired intangible assets are recognised initially at cost. After initial
recognition, intangible assets with finite useful lives are carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
provided on straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.
Amortisation commences when the intangible assets are available for
use. The following useful lives are applied:
Computer software 1 to S years
Game intellectual properties, trademark and licenses 2 to 10 years
Brand name (of the Disposal Group) 1to 10 years
Programmes and film rights (of the Disposal Group) 5to 10 years
Unfinished contracts 1to 10 years

Customer relationships 5years

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less

any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

The assets’ amortisation methods and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Intangible assets, with finite and indefinite useful lives, are tested for

impairment as described below in Note 2.21.

Research and development costs

Costs associated with research activities are expensed in profit or
loss as they occur. Costs that are directly attributable to development
activities are recognised as intangible assets provided they meet the

following recognition requirements:

(i) demonstration of technical feasibility of the prospective product

for internal use or sale;

li]  there is intention to complete the intangible asset and use or

sell it;

(i)  the Group's ability to use or sell the intangible asset is
demonstrated;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Intangible assets (other than goodwill) and
research and development activities (Continued)

Research and development costs (Continued]
(i) the intangible asset will generate probable economic benefits

through internal use or sale;

(v) sufficient technical, financial and other resources are available
for completion; and

(vi) the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset can be

reliably measured.

Direct costs include employee costs incurred on development
activities along with an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. The
costs of development of internally generated software, products or
knowhow that meet the above recognition criteria are recognised as
intangible assets. They are subject to the same subsequent

measurement method as acquired intangible assets.
All other development costs are expensed as incurred.

2.10Financial instruments

Recognition and derecognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial

instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the
cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the financial asset
and substantially all of its risks and rewards are transferred. A
financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged,
cancelled or expires.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component and are measured at the transaction price in
accordance with IFRS 15, all financial assets are initially measured at
fair value, in case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit
or loss ["FVTPL"), plus transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial
assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in the consolidated statement

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Financial assets, other than those designated and effective as hedging
instruments, are classified into the following categories:

— amortised cost; or

—  FVTPL.

The classification is determined by both:

— the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset;

and
— the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are
recognised in profit or loss are presented within “finance costs” or
“other income”, except for expected credit losses ("ECL") of financial

assets which is presented within “impairment of assets”.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement of financial assets

Debt investments

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet
the following conditions (and are not designated as FVTPL):

— they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold
the financial assets and collect its contractual cash flows; and

— the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in “other income” in profit or loss. Discounting is
omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Group’'s
bank balances and cash, restricted bank balances, trade and other
receivables and loans to third parties fall into this category of financial
instruments.

Einancial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that are held within a different business model other

than "hold to collect” or “hold to collect and sell” are categorised at
FVTPL. Further, irrespective of business model, financial assets
whose contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and
interest are accounted for at FVTPL.

Equity investments
An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL unless the

equity investment is not held for trading purposes and on initial
recognition of the investment, the Group elects to designate the
investment at FVOCI [non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in
fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in “fair value reserve — non-recycling” in equity. Such
elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but only
be made if the investment meets the definition of equity from the
issuer’s perspective.

The equity instruments at FVOC| are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss in “fair value reserve — non-
recycling” will not be reclassified to profit or loss upon disposal of the
equity investments, and will be transferred to retained earnings.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement of financial assets (Continued)

Equity investments [Continued]

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the
dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are included
in the “other income” in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
convertible notes, loans payable and lease liabilities.

Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are initially measured
at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs
unless the Group designated a financial liability at FVTPL.

Subsequently, financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method
except for derivatives and financial liabilities designated at FVTPL,
which are carried subsequently at fair value with gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss (other than derivative financial instruments
that are designated and effective as hedging instruments).

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an
instrument’s fair value that are reported in profit or loss are included
within “finance costs” or “other income”.

Accounting policies of lease liabilities are set out in Note 2.15.

Convertible notes

Convertible notes issued by a subsidiary of the Company are
designated as financial liabilities at FVTPL on initial recognition. The
conversion option allows the holder to convert the notes into ordinary
shares and will be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed
amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the
subsidiary’s own equity instruments, and therefore it does not meet
the equity classification. At the end of each reporting period,
subsequent to initial recognition, the entire convertible notes are
measured at fair value, with changes in fair value arising on
remeasurement recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise, except for changes in fair value arising from the
subsidiary’s own credit risk which are presented in other
comprehensive income with no subsequent reclassification to profit
or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities (Continued)]
Convertible notes [Continued,

Transaction costs that relate to the issuance of the convertible notes
designated as financial liabilities at FVTPL are charged to profit or
loss immediately.

Trade and other payables and loans payable
Trade and other payables and loans payable are recognised initially at

their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported
in the consolidated statement of financial position when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal
course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or
bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty.

2.11Impairment of financial assets

IFRS 9's impairment requirements use forward-looking information
to recognise ECL — the "ECL model”. Instruments within the scope
included loans and other debt-type financial assets measured at
amortised cost and trade receivables.

The Group considers a broader range of information when assessing
credit risk and measuring ECL, including past events, current
conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the
expected collectability of the future cash flows of the instrument.

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made
between:

— financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in
credit quality since initial recognition or that have low credit
risk (“Stage 17); and

—  financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in
credit quality since initial recognition and whose credit risk is
not low ("Stage 27).

2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.11Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

“Stage 3" would cover financial assets that have objective evidence of
impairment at the reporting date.

“12-month ECL" are recognised for the Stage 1 category while “lifetime
ECL" are recognised for the Stage 2 category.

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a probability-weighted
estimate of credit losses over the expected life of the financial

instrument.

Trade receivables

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in
calculating ECL and recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime
ECL at each reporting date. These are the expected shortfalls in
contractual cash flows, considering the potential for default at any
point during the life of the financial assets. In calculating the ECL, the
Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience and external indicators, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group measures the loss allowance for other receivables equal
to 12-month ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increase in the likelihood or risk of default

occurring since initial recognition.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial assets at the reporting date with the risk of default
occurring on the financial assets at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.11Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost
(Continued)
In particular, the following information is taken into account when

assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available] or internal credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit

default swap prices for the debtor;

= existing or forecast adverse changes in regulatory, business,
financial, economic conditions, or technological environment
that are expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor; and

— an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s

ability to meet its debt obligations

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a
debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk at the end of each reporting period. A debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if it has a low risk of default, the
borrower has strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term and adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfill its contractual cash flow

obligations.

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of
default occurs when information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collateral held by the Group).

Detailed analysis of the ECL assessment of trade receivables and
other financial assets measured at amortised cost are set out in Note
42(e).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated cost of completion and
applicable selling expenses. Cost is determined using the first-in,
first-out ("FIFQ") method.

2.13Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand, demand
deposits with banks and short term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant

risk of changes in value.

2.14Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue (see
Note 2.19). A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group
has an unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding

receivable would also be recognised (see Note 2.10).

2.15Leases

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee

At inception of a contract, the Group considers whether a contract is,
or contains a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract, or part of a
contract, that conveys the right to use an identified asset (the
underlying asset] for a period of time in exchange for consideration'.
To apply this definition, the Group assesses whether the contract

meets three key evaluations which are whether:

— the contract contains an identified asset, which is either
explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly specified by
being identified at the time the asset is made available to the
Group;

— the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from use of the identified asset throughout
the period of use, considering its rights within the defined scope

of the contract; and

—  the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified asset
throughout the period of use. The Group assess whether it has
the right to direct "how and for what purpose’ the asset is used
throughout the period of use.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.15Leases (Continued)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee (Continued)

For contracts that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease and non-lease component

on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices.

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use
asset and a lease liability on the consolidated statement of financial
position. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made
up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct
costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset at the end of the lease, and any
lease payments made in advance of the lease commencement date (net
of any lease incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis
from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the end of the
useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term
unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership at the end
of the lease term. The Group also assesses the right-of-use asset for
impairment when such indicator exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability at
the present value of the lease payments unpaid at that date,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate
cannot be readily determined, the Group’'s incremental borrowing
rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability
are made up of fixed payments [including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable payments
based on an index or rate, and amounts expected to be payable under
a residual value guarantee. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised
by the Group and payment of penalties for terminating a lease, if the

lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for
lease payments made and increased for interest cost on the lease
liability. It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or lease

modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed payments.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.15Leases (Continued)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee (Continued)
The Group remeasures lease liabilities whenever:

—  there are changes in lease term or in the assessment of
exercise of a purchase option, in which case the related lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the date of
reassessment.

—  the lease payments changes due to changes in market rental
rates following a market rent review, in which cases the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

For lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of modification. The only
exception is any rent concessions which arose as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and which satisfied the
conditions set out in paragraph 46B of IFRS 16 “Leases”. In such
cases, the Group took advantage of the practical expedient set out in
paragraph 46A of IFRS 16 and recognised the change in consideration
as if it were not a lease modification.

When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is
reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the right-of-
use asset is already reduced to zero.

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases using the
practical expedients. Instead of recognising a right-of-use asset and
lease liability, the payments in relation to these leases are recognised
as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or
less.

Right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for under IFRS 9 and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)

Fortheyearended 31 December2021 B Z-_ZE - —F+ A=+ —HILFE

SXREETPREE @

2157 & (&)

HEREERAEBFRAEA®
ERAMENBHEES ER #H (&)
AEERR T EHBERENAER
BAfE:

- HEGRFAFAEBERERENTT
EHIREE  MAEUER T ERA
ERERENAHEHNEBRER
REFTRREFKEETHERR
MR AEHNE -

- EUmHEHEERIERTHEEHEH
BHREHMERNEERRE
B MmEKBRTHERERRS
BERANTHEEREETHE
RIBMIRN T A EFHTE -

R IFERBLEEARNEEERT M
FOASENERENBBERBEEE
MAEEREETHERBRBAEN T A
RECENHENHMENFEEER
E-W—FISNEREHEUBRE SRS
ERELANEMESES  EFAEEK
B E R E 1651 E | F46BERAT
i -RZEBERT  AEEFBE
W B 75 i 5 22 Bl 52 1657 BB 46ARR P &L AT
TTERESELTEIARENOEE M E
WIF—HEEEF °

EHESHNER HEABRRNERE
BETRR KMHEERAEEERCMAE
ETH - AIRNBEPRER -

AEEEERRBATRENESESR
HENHEAR BHBEREAEEE
MEERE BEZFEENRENE
HAZERZENBEER R H - B H
HERBERS12EAHIATHHEE -

ERAREENGEUBMRRRFBL—

GEXIE

RE R BN 1% & R 1R B ER B 75 3R
ERAFIRAR WRAALBED LA
E-RUTHIABFHAABHELHFAR
WRESBIHERBAGFAEREEE
oG



SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.16 Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, and it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can
be made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to
reflect the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future uncertain events not wholly within the control of the
Group, are also disclosed as contingent Lliabilities unless the

probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination which are
present obligations at the date of acquisition are initially recognised
at fair value, provided the fair value can be reliably measured. After
the initial recognition at fair value, such contingent liabilities are
recognised at the higher of the amount initially recognised, less
accumulated amortisation where appropriate, and the amount that
would be recognised in a comparable provision as described above.
Contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination that cannot
be reliably fair valued or were not present obligations at the date of

acquisition are disclosed as per above.

Probable inflows of economic benefits to the Group that do not yet
meet the recognition criteria of an asset are considered as contingent
assets.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.17Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is recognised
at the amount of consideration of shares issued, after deducting any
transaction costs associated with the issuing of shares (net of any
related income tax benefit] to the extent they are incremental costs

directly attributable to the equity transaction.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised
and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company's
own equity instruments.

(i)  Shares held for share award scheme

Share awards granted under share award scheme are satisfied by
shares acquired by the trustee from the market. Where the
Company’s shares are acquired from the market by the trustee under
the share award scheme, the total consideration of shares acquired
from the market (including any directly attributable incremental
costs) is presented as “shares held for share award scheme” and
deducted from total equity. Upon vesting, the related costs of the
vested shares for share award scheme purchased from the market
are credited to “shares held for share award scheme”.

2.18 Non-current assets, or disposal groups held
for sale and discontinued operation

Non-current assets, or disposal groups held for sale

Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets and
liabilities, that are highly probable to be recovered principally through
sale rather than through continuing use, are classified as held for
sale. Immediately before classification as held for sale, the assets, or
components of a disposal group, are remeasured in accordance with
the Group’s accounting policies. Thereafter generally the assets, or
disposal group, are measured at the lower of their carrying amount
and fair value less costs to sell. Any impairment loss on a disposal
group first is allocated to goodwill, and then to remaining assets and
liabilities on pro rata basis, except that no loss is allocated to
inventories, financial assets and deferred tax assets which continue
to be measured in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies.
Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale and
subsequent gains and losses on remeasurement are recognised in
profit or loss. Gains are not recognised in excess of any cumulative

impairment loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Non-current assets, or disposal groups held
for sale and discontinued operation (Continued)

Non-current assets, or disposal groups held for sale
(Continued)

Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment once classified
as held for sale are not amortised or depreciated. In addition, equity
accounting of equity-accounted investees ceases once classified as
held for sale.

Discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group that either has
been disposed of, or is classified as held for sale. The component
comprises operations and cash flows that can be clearly distinguished
from the rest of the Group and represents a separate major line of
business or geographical area of operations, is part of a single
coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively
with a view to resale.

When an operation is classified as discontinued, a single amount in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income comprising the total of: (i) the post-tax profit or loss of
discontinued operations and [ii] the post-tax gain or loss recognised
on the measurement to fair value less costs to sell or on the disposal
of the assets or disposal group(s) constituting the discontinued
operation.

2.19Revenue recognition

Revenue arises mainly from provision of online gaming services, in-
person services, multiplatform content services and interactive
services.

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows a 5-step

process:
(1) Identifying the contract with a customer
(2)  Identifying the performance obligations

(3)  Determining the transaction price
(4)  Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations

(5)  Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s] are
satisfied

2.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19Revenue recognition (Continued)

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is allocated
amongst the various performance obligations based on their relative
stand-alone selling prices. The transaction price for a contract

excludes any amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time, when (or
as) the Group satisfies performance obligations by transferring the
promised goods or services to its customers.

Where the contract contains a financing component which provides a
significant financing benefit to the customer for more than 12 months,
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction with the customer, and interest
income is accrued separately under the effective interest method.
Where the contract contains a financing component which provides a
significant financing benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under
that contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract

liability under the effective interest method.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition
policies are as follows:

(1)  Online gaming income

The Group is engaged in the development and operation of online card
and board games that consist of PC and mobile games. Games
include self-developed games, licensed games and third-party
operated games. The Group also organise and/or hosts online/offline

tournaments.

The Group’s revenue is principally derived from the sale of ingame
virtual goods. Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sale of goods and net of related
surcharges. Substantially all of the Group's games are free to play
and players can pay for virtual goods for better in-game experience.
Players purchase our virtual currencies for PC games or mobile
games [collectively, the “Virtual Currencies’), through third-party
payment channels or the purchase of pre-paid game cards. The
Virtual Currencies can be used to exchange for virtual goods such as
personalised avatars and membership plans. Paying players usually
exchange their Virtual Currencies for the virtual goods shortly after
purchase. Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow
to the Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be
measured reliably, revenue is recognised as follows:
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19Revenue recognition (Continued)

(1)  Online gaming income (Continued)

(a] PCgames

Self-developed games and licensed games

The Group has integrated online game platforms with multiple
distribution channels. The Group distributes locally installed PC
games and provides services through our proprietary PC client
portals, such as Ourgame Hall. The Group also offers web games
playable on web pages served by the Group on ourgame.com,
worldpokertour.com and by third-party distribution channels, which
include websites and web-based portals such as Baidu, Sina Weibo
and Qihoo 360.

For self-developed games and licensed games, the Group is
responsible for hosting the games, providing on-going updates of new
contents, technical support for the operations of the games, as well
as preventing, detecting and resolving in-game cheating and hacking
activities. Third-party distribution and payment channels are
responsible for distribution, marketing, platform maintenance, payer

authentication and payment collections related to the games.

Third-party distribution channels and payment channels collect the
payments from the paying players and remit the cash to the Group,
net of commission charges which are pre-determined according to
the relevant terms of the agreements entered into between the Group

and the third-party distribution or payment channels.

Upon the sales of Virtual Currencies, the Group typically has an
implied obligation to provide the services which enable the virtual
goods exchanged with the Virtual Currencies to be displayed or used
in the games. As a result, the proceeds received from sales of Virtual
Currencies are recorded as deferred revenue. With the pre-paid game
cards, paying players can credit their user accounts with Virtual
Currencies and exchange for virtual goods in the same way. Proceeds
received from the sale of pre-paid game cards are recorded as
deferred revenue. The attributable portion of the deferred revenue
relating to values of the virtual goods consumed are immediately or
ratably recognised as revenue only when the services are rendered to

the respective paying players.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19Revenue recognition (Continued)

(1) Online gaming income (Continued)

(a]  PC games [Continued)

Self-developed games and licensed games [Continued

For the purposes of determining when services have been provided to

the respective paying players, the Group has determined the

following:
— Consumable virtual goods represent items (i] that have a
predetermined service period; or (il where no service is

rendered by the Group for the virtual goods immediately after
purchase by the paying players. Revenue is recognised [as a
release from deferred revenue) when the goods are consumed
and the related services are rendered, or ratably over the
predetermined service period of the respective consumable
virtual goods.

— Durable virtual goods represent items that have no
predetermined service period and are accessible and beneficial
to paying players over an extended period of time. Revenue is
recognised ratably over the expected life of the respective
durable virtual goods ("Player Relationship Period”).

For self-developed games and licensed games, the computer systems
of the Group captures all player data, such as log-in data, purchase
and delivery records for the Virtual Currencies sold and the virtual
goods exchanged with the Virtual Currencies. The Group estimates
the Player Relationship Period based on an overall game by game
basis and platform by platform basis and reassesses such periods
annually. If there are insufficient data to determine the Player
Relationship Period, such as in the case of a newly launched game,
the Group estimates the Player Relationship Period based on other
similar types of games developed by the Group or by third-party
developers until the new game establishes its own patterns and
history. The Group mainly considers the paying players’ spending and
consumption behaviour in estimating the Player Relationship Period,
which typically represents the time interval between paying players’
consecutive recharges of their user accounts with additional Virtual
Currencies and represents a reasonable estimate of the average
expected life of the durable virtual items for the applicable game.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19Revenue recognition (Continued)

(1)  Online gaming income (Continued)

(a]  PC games [Continued)

Self-developed games and licensed games [Continued

If the Group does not have the ability to differentiate revenue
attributable to durable virtual goods from consumable virtual goods
for a specific product, item or game, the Group recognises revenue
from both durable and consumable virtual goods ratably over the
average life of the durable virtual products or goods, or over the
Player Relationship Period.

For revenues relating to self-developed games and licensed games,
the Group has evaluated the roles and responsibilities of the Group,
the game license holders and the third-party distribution and payment
channels in the delivery of game experience to the paying players and
concluded the Group takes the primary responsibilities in rendering
services. The Group is determined to be the primary obligor and,
accordingly, the Group records revenue on a gross basis, and
commission charges by game license holders and third-party

distribution and payment channels are recorded as cost of revenue.

Third-party operated games
The Group also distributes games developed and operated by third-

party developers on the Group's own web proprietary platform
including the Group’s client portal and websites. The Group’s revenue
mainly consists of pre-determined portions of total player payments
according to the relevant terms of the agreements entered into

between the Group and the game developers.

The games distributed on the Group’s platform are hosted,
maintained, operated and updated independently by the game
developers, and the Group mainly provides players with access to the
Group's platform to download the third-party developers” games and
limited after-sale basic technical support to the paying players. The
Group has evaluated and determined it is not the primary obligor in
the services rendered to the paying players as a platform. Accordingly,
the Group records its revenue net of the portion of sharing of
revenues with the game developers.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19Revenue recognition (Continued)

(1) Online gaming income (Continued)

(a]  PC games [Continued)

Third-party operated games [Continued

As the Group provides merely the first contact point by the players to
gain access to download the third-party developers’ games, the Group
believes that its implied obligation to the game developers do not
correspond to the game developers’ implied obligation to provide the
service which enables the virtual goods to be displayed and used in
the games. Given that games are hosted, managed, administered and
operated by the game developers, the Group does not have access to
the data on the consumption details and the types of virtual goods
purchased by the paying players. The Group only maintains individual
paying player’s purchase history of the Virtual Currencies which are
used to exchange for virtual goods in the third-party operated games.
As such, the Group has adopted a policy to recognise revenue when
the paying players exchange the Virtual Currencies for consumable or

durable virtual goods for the relevant games.

(b)  Mobile games

The Group distributes mobile games and provides services mainly for
Android and i0S operating systems through third-party distribution
and payment channels, including mobile operators in the PRC ("Mobile

Operators”).

Self-developed games
For revenue derived from self-developed mobile games, the Group

follows the policies of PC games—"Self-developed games and
licensed games” as the operations of the two types of games are
similar. The Virtual Currencies can be used to exchange for virtual
goods such as symbol and membership plans. Paying players usually
exchange their Virtual Currencies for the virtual goods shortly after
purchase.

Third-party distribution channels and payment channels collect the
payments from the paying players and remit the cash to the Group,
net of commission charges which are pre-determined according to
the relevant terms of the agreements entered into between the Group
and the third-party distribution or payment channels.
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POLICIES (continued)

2.19Revenue recognition (Continued)

(1)  Online gaming income (Continued)

[b)  Mobile games (Continued)

Self-developed games [Continued

Upon the sales of Virtual Currencies, the Group typically has an
implied obligation to provide the services which enable the virtual
goods exchanged with the Virtual Currencies to be displayed or used
in the games. As a result, the proceeds (net of allowance for ECL
assessed by Mobile Operators, if applicable) received from sales of
Virtual Currencies are recorded as deferred revenue. The attributable
portion of the deferred revenue relating to values of the virtual goods
are recognised as revenue (as a release from deferred revenue) when
the goods are consumed and the related services are rendered, i.e.
ratably over the predetermined service period of the respective virtual
goods.

For revenues relating to self-developed mobile games, the Group has
evaluated the roles and responsibilities of the Group, and the third-
party distribution and payment channels in the delivery of game
experience to the paying players and concluded the Group takes the
primary responsibilities in rendering services. The Group is
determined to be the primary obligor and, accordingly, the Group
records revenue on a gross basis, and commission charges by third-
party distribution and payment channels are recorded as cost of

revenue.

Third-party operated games
For revenue derived from third-party operated mobile games, the

Group follows the policies of PC games—"Third-party operated
games” as the operations of the two types of games are similar. The
games distributed on the Group’s and third-party distributors’
platform are hosted, maintained, operated and updated independently
by the game developers, and the Group mainly provide players with
access to the Group’s platform to download the third-party
developers” games and limited after-sale basic technical support to
the paying players. The Group has evaluated and determined it is not
the primary obligor in the services rendered to the paying players as a
platform. Accordingly, the Group has adopted a policy to recognise
revenue when the paying players purchase the virtual currencies for
consumable or durable virtual goods for the relevant games and
records its revenue net of the portion of sharing of revenues with the

game developers.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19Revenue recognition (Continued)

(2) In-person revenue
The Group's in-person revenue is comprised of event revenue,
sponsorship revenue, merchandising revenue and other revenue.

In-person revenue also includes revenue from ticket sales, admission
fees and food and beverage sales for events held at the Group's
esports properties. Ticket revenue is recognised at the completion of
the applicable event. Point of sale revenues, such as food and
beverage, gaming and merchandising revenues, are recognised when

control of the related goods are transferred to the customer.

The Group also generates sponsorship revenues for naming rights
for, and rental of, the Group’s arena and gaming trucks. Sponsorship
revenues from naming rights of the Group’s esports arena and from
sponsorship arrangements are recognised on a straight-line basis
over the contractual term of the agreement. The Group records
deferred revenue to the extent that payment has been received for

services that have yet to be performed.

(3) Multiplatform content revenue
The Group’s multiplatform content revenue is comprised of
distribution revenue, sponsorship revenue, music royalty revenue,

online advertising revenue and content revenue.

Distribution revenue is generated primarily through the distribution of
content from WPT's library. WPT provides video content to global
television networks, who then have the right to air the content and
place advertisements on the content during the related license period.
Revenue from the distribution of video content to television networks
is received pursuant to the contract payment terms and is recognised
at the point in time that advertisements are aired on the WPT content.
The Group recognises distribution revenue pursuant to the terms of
each individual contract with the customer and records deferred
revenue to the extent the Group has received a payment for services
that have yet to be performed or products that have yet to be

delivered.

The Group also distributes video content to online channels. Both the
global television networks and the online channels place ads within
the WPT content and any advertising revenue earned by the global TV
network or online channel is shared with WPT. The Group recognises
online advertising revenue at the point in time when the

advertisements are placed in the video content.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19Revenue recognition (Continued)

(3) Multiplatform content revenue (Continued)
Sponsorship revenue is generated through the sponsorship of the
Group's TV content, live and online events and online streams. Online
advertising revenue is generated from third-party advertisements
placed on the Group’'s website. Music royalty revenue is generated
when the Group’s music is played in the Group’s TV series both on TV
networks and online. The Group recognises sponsorship revenue
pursuant to the terms of each individual contract when the Group
satisfies the respective performance obligations, which could be
recognised at a point in time or over the term of the contract. The
Group records deferred revenue to the extent the Group has received
a payment for services that have yet to be performed or products that
have yet to be delivered.

Music royalty revenue is recognised at the point in time when the
music is played.

(4) Interactive revenue
Interactive revenue is generated by WPT business, which is classified
as discontinued operations.

The Group’s interactive revenue is primarily comprised of subscription
revenue, licensing, social gaming and virtual product revenue.

Subscription revenue is generated through fixed rate (monthly,
quarterly, annual] subscriptions which offer the opportunity for
subscribers to play unlimited poker and access benefits not available
to non-subscribers. The Group recognises subscription revenue on a
straight-line basis and records deferred revenue to the extent the
Group receives payments for services that have yet to be provided.

Social gaming revenue arises from the sale of online tokens and other
online purchases on the Group’s social gaming website, and is
recognised at the point the product is delivered.

Virtual product revenue is generated from the licensing of the Group's
various brands to be used on the customers’ virtual product and
social gaming platforms, and is recognised over the term of the
contractual agreement.

The Group generates licensing revenue by licensing the right to use
the Group's brands on products to third parties. Licensing revenue is
recognised pursuant to the terms of each individual contract with the
customer and is recognised over the term of the contractual
agreement. Deferred revenue is recorded to the extent the Group has
received a payment for products that have yet to be delivered.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19Revenue recognition (Continued)

(5) Online advertising services income

Starting from the year 2021, the Group provided advertising services
to companies in the information technology industry. The Group's
online advertising service arrangements involve providing the Group's
own online game platforms to customers to display advertisements

and other media insertions over the stated display period.

According to contractual terms, the Group charges the customers a
fee mainly per number of hits on the advertisements and per number
of download by viewers via the links during the display period. The
Group recognises its revenue generated from online advertising
services based on direct measurements of the contractual pricing
model, in which the relevant data record is reconciled between the
Group and its customers on a monthly basis.

Trade receivables are recorded when the Group has unconditional
rights to payments of online advertising service which are due

according to the contract terms.

Since the Group has the ability to determine the pricing of the online
advertising service and to take responsibility for monitoring the
quality of advertising service provided and to negotiate the service
terms, the Group is regarded as the primary obligor and recognises

revenue from advertising on a gross basis.

(6) Interestincome

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the
effective interest method. For credit-impaired financial assets, the
effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost [i.e. gross

carrying amount net of ECL allowance) of the asset.

(7) Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is
established.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.20Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where
there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and

the Group will comply with all attached conditions. Government

grants are deferred and recognised in profit or loss over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that the grants are intended

to compensate.

Government grants relating to income is presented in gross under

“other income” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income.

2.21 Impairment of non-financial assets

The following assets are subject to impairment testing:
— Goodwill arising on acquisition of a subsidiary;

= Other intangible assets;

— Property, plant and equipment;

— Right-of-use assets;

— Interests in associates; and

The Company's interests in subsidiaries

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful life or
those not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least
annually, irrespective of whether there is any indication that they are
impaired. All other assets are tested for impairment whenever there
are indications that the asset’s carrying amount may not be
recoverable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.21Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting
market conditions less costs of disposal, and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessment of time value of money and the

risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent from those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group
of assets that generate cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit). As a result, some assets are tested individually for
impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit level.
Goodwill in particular is allocated to those cash-generating units that
are expected to benefit from synergies of the related business
combination and represent the lowest level within the Group at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purpose and not

be larger than an operating segment.

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating units, to which
goodwill has been allocated, are credited initially to the carrying
amount of goodwill. Any remaining impairment loss is charged pro
rata to the other assets in the cash generating unit ("CGU"), except
that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below its
individual fair value less cost of disposal, or value in use, if

determinable.

An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.
In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates used to determine the
asset’s recoverable amount and only to the extent that the asset’s
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no

impairment loss had been recognised.

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect of
goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent period. This is the case
even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have been recognised had the
impairment been assessed only at the end of the financial year to

which the interim period relates.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22Employee benefits

(a) Pension obligations

The Group has various defined contribution plans in accordance with
the local conditions and practices in the municipalities and provinces
in which they operate. Defined contribution plans are pension and/or
other social benefit plans under which the Group pay fixed
contributions into a separate entity (a fund) and will have no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does
not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees benefits relating to
employee service in the current and prior periods. The contributions
are recognised as labour costs when they are due. Under the defined
contribution schemes, forfeited contributions could not be used to
reduce the existing level of contributions.

(b) Bonus entitlements

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised as a liability when
the Group has a present contractual or constructive obligation as a
result of services rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of
the obligation can be made. Liabilities for bonus are expected to be
settled within twelve months and are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when they are settled.

(c) Equity-settled share-based compensation
transactions

The Group operates a number of equity-settled share-based

compensation plans under which the Group receives services from

employees as consideration for equity instruments (options) of the

Group. The fair value of the services received in exchange for the

grant of the equity instruments is recognised as expense.

The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the
fair value of the equity instruments granted including any market
performance conditions; excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions; and including the impact of
any non-vesting conditions.

Non-market performance and service conditions are included in
assumptions about the number of options and shares that are
expected to vest. The total expense is recognised over the vesting
period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be
satisfied.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of
the number of options and shares that are expected to vest based on
the non-marketing performance and service conditions. The Group
recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in
the profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22Employee benefits (Continued)

(c) Equity-settled share-based compensation
transactions (Continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised
for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award
where non-vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for
the cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on
the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated
as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in
the previous paragraph.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The
proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs
are credited to share capital (nominal value] and share premium.

(d) Share-based payment transactions among group
entities

The grant by the Company of options over its equity instruments to
the employees of subsidiary undertakings in the Group is treated as a
capital contribution. The fair value of employee services received,
measured by reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised over
the vesting period as an increase to investment in subsidiary
undertakings, with a corresponding credit to equity (share option
reserve] in the separate financial statements of the Company.

2.23Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment income earned on
the temporary investment of the specific borrowings, for the
acquisition, construction or production of any qualifying asset are
capitalised during the period of time that is required to complete and
prepare the asset for its intended use. A qualifying asset is an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for
its intended use or sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed when
incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23Borrowing costs (Continued)

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying
asset when expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing
costs are being incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are being undertaken.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs ceases when substantially all the
activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended
use or sale are complete.

2.24 Accounting for income taxes

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those
obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to the current
or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the reporting date. They
are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to
the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the taxable profit for
the year. All changes to current tax assets or liabilities are recognised
as a component of tax expense in profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on temporary
differences at the reporting date between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the financial statements and their respective
tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised for
all deductible temporary differences, tax losses available to be carried
forward as well as other unused tax credits, to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit, including existing taxable temporary
differences, will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from initial recognition (other than
in a business combination] of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither taxable nor accounting profit or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period the liability is settled or the asset
realised, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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M B R RMEE (8)

Fortheyearended 31 December2021 HiZE =T - —F+ - A=+—HLFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.24Accounting for income taxes (Continued)

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised in profit or
loss, or in other comprehensive income or directly in equity if they
relate to items that are charged or credited to other comprehensive

income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented in net if,
and only if,

(a) the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off the

recognised amounts; and

(b]  intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities in

net if, and only if,

(a)l  the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities; and

(b]  the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to

income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either:

(i) the same taxable entity; or

(i) different taxable entities which intend either to settle
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously,
in each future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled
or recovered.

2.25 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as
a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements in
the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’'s
shareholders or Board, where appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

=)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &% =

M BRI (8)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.26Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment
information based on the regular internal financial information
reported to the board of directors of the Company for their decisions
about resources allocation to the Group’'s business components and
for their review of the performance of those components. The
business components in the internal financial information reported to
the executive director are determined following the Group’s major
product and service lines.

Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each of
the service lines requires different resources as well as marketing
approaches. All inter-segment transfers are carried out at arm’s

length prices.

According to the Company’s subsidiary, AESE has entered into a SPA
to sell 100% of the capital stock of its wholly-owned subsidiary, CSI,
together with its subsidiaries, which operates online card and board
games of WPT business. Accordingly, WPT business is being classified
as discontinued operation. The Group has identified the remaining

reportable segments as below for the year ended 31 December 2021:

Continuing operations
(i) Lianzhong Group — online card and board games business

carried out by Lianzhong Group
(il AESE Group — eSports businesses carried out by AESE Group
The measurement policies the Group uses for reporting segment

results under IFRS 8 are the same as those used in its consolidated
financial statements prepared under IFRSs.

For the year ended 31 December 2021

include all assets and segment liabilities include all liabilities from

and 2020, segment assets

the continuing operations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fn S R B M & (18)

Fortheyearended 31 December2021 HiZE =T - —F+ - A=+—HLFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.27 Related parties

For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, a party
is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and if that person:

(il has control or joint control over the Group;
(il has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group.

(b)  the party is an entity and if any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group.

(il one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv)]  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

(vil a person identified in (a)li] has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REoMBRITME (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2021 B Z—ZE - —F+ A=+ —HILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED IFRSs 3. HRMFEIRIEISEIEIIRES
BHSER
Amended IFRSs that are effective for annual RZE_—F—HB—BRB
periods beginning on 1 January 2021 LEEHRBEMEEBETE
BREZFIFZE|M S EER
In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time the RAEE AEEEEREREAEH
following amended IFRSs, which are relevant to the Group's ZERAE BEHASER T —F—
operations and effective for the Group’s consolidated financial A—ARBRzZFEHB 2R HBERE
statements for the annual period beginning on 1 January 2021: B2 & ETEE T EREERNT -
Amendment to IFRS 16 COVID-19-related rent concessions BRGEmEERN —E-—F A=
beyond 30 June 2021 B (BRIA)  THZEME
TR = AR 2
HEeEE
Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform B MR B SR B Rl R EENNE —
IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 — Phase 2 FoW - BEREEH F2BER

HERIFE 395 - B
RS ERET
5 B BRE
RIS 4 5% M B R
PR E ER S

1655 (18 7T A)
The impact of the adoption of the amended IFRSs are discussed RNEIEFTBIBR B 53R &S 0 2 25
below. Other than as noted below, the adoption of the amended IFRSs AN o BN UMLBIREE N AL (EET
had no material impact on how the results and financial position for BB EEAW ESRER 25 E
the current and prior periods have been prepared and presented. AMEBEAEREZEERYBERRTZFR

ERERTE -

BREEERERAT —E-—EER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RO BRITME (BE)

Fortheyearended 31 December2021 B Z-_ZE - —F+ A=+ —HILFE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED IFRSs

(Continued)

Amended IFRSs that are effective for annual
periods beginning on 1 January 2021(continued)

Amendments to IFRS 16 “COVID-19-related rent
concessions beyond 30 June 2021”

The Group previously applied the practical expedient in IFRS 16 such
that as lessee it was not required to assess whether rent concessions
occurring as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic were
lease modifications, if the eligibility conditions are met. One of these
conditions requires the reduction in lease payments affect only
payments originally due on or before a specified time limit. The 2021
amendment extends this time limit from 30 June 2021 to 30 June
2022.

The Group has early adopted the 2021 amendment in this financial
year. There is no impact on the Group's consolidated financial
statements as the Group did not receive any rent concessions during
the year ended 31 December 2021. There is no impact on the opening
balance of equity at 1 January 2021.

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16
“Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2” (“Phase 2
Amendments”)

The amendments provide targeted reliefs from (i) accounting for
changes in the basis for determining contractual cash flows of
financial assets, financial liabilities and lease liabilities as
modifications, and (i) discontinuing hedge accounting when an
interest rate benchmark is replaced by an alternative benchmark rate
as a result of the reform of interbank offered rates (the “IBOR
reform”). The amendments do not have an impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statement as the Group does not have contracts
that are indexed to benchmark interest rates which are subject to the
IBOR reform.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fn S W B MR M & (18)

Fortheyearended 31 December2021 HiZE =T - —F+ - A=+—HILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED IFRSs

(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective IFRSs

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial
statements, certain new and amended IFRSs have been published but
are not yet effective, and have not been adopted early by the Group.

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and related
amendments®
Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework*
Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and IAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-Current?
Amendments to IAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies’
IFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates’

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction?

Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended Use'

Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract'

Amendments to IFRSs Annual Improvements to IFRS
Standards 2018-2020'

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

Effective date not yet determined

Effective for business combination/common control combination for
which the acquisition/combination date is on or after the beginning of
the first annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2022

The directors anticipate that all of the pronouncements will be
adopted in the Group’s accounting policy for the first period beginning
on or after the effective date of the pronouncement. Information on
new and amended IFRSs are not expected to have a material impact
on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

3.

M RIBIEE] B ERES
BREEA )

ERME ERENZ B
BRSZER

RAGEMBEHRRERETERS
F%ﬁaT&,%%fzaTIﬁ%Eﬁ%#&%@E'JE%
TIBEERMAEN BXRERAEEHRER
R o

\4/

B mEER REREORBEE

1758 =
BB SRR 2EMAER
FE3%R (BFTA)

“%W%ﬁiﬁw KEEFEHREBER
FOHREEEE ARAEEDREZ
afﬁg,ﬁ\'l%%ﬁ)ﬁ HHESEAE

CCHE) E®
Bl g ERE 15 BE2EARE N
CCHE) e EY?
Bt 2R H 1597 St BUR 2 HEE?
KBRS RE
EREBRE
B2 (BETA)
Bl &t 2R FE85R St 2 ER’
CCHE)
[‘%‘i FT 2R HE-—RHEEN
F 1258 (BT A) BEENBERES
/Y IR SE 18
[‘%‘i FT 2R M BB R
F165 (IBETA) —{E¥E A& R
Frfs k18’
B B & 5T 2 Al EBREEAH — BT

E375 (BT &) B Z A
BB RELEE —E—NE-_FT—

(B3] 40) = F S B
WMEERZFE
G
! R-ZTE-_—F—A—HBszBMtEz
& [FHR AR
’ RZEZ=F—F B 2BHABZ
4[5 HIRE A K

’ T AR A

‘ NI AfESRA-—S-_—F—f—
Bz Mtz aBEEEHEMARE
Bz kT2 B/ KRZEHE
Bt R

EERY AERMZEINGREME
BMAMKZEZABENEEAARRAEE
ZEFBERBPRA - HRBEIHA K
ERBERTBERELEN ZEHN TG H AR
SESEEMBHRRELEATE -

BREREREEBAT —B_—FFR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 &% =

M B R RMEE (8)

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED IFRSs

(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 3 “Reference to the Conceptual

Framework”

The amendments update the reference in IFRS 3 to the latest version
of “Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting” issued in March
2018, and add an exception to the requirement for an entity to refer to
“Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting” to determine what
constitutes an asset or liability.

Besides, the exception also specifies that, for liabilities and contingent
liabilities that would be within the scope of IAS 37 “Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets” or IFRIC-Int 21 “Levies”
if they were incurred separately rather than assumed in a business
combination, an entity applying IFRS 3 should apply the criteria in IAS
37 or IFRIC-Int 21 respectively (instead of the “Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting”) to determine whether a present obligation
exists at the acquisition date.

Furthermore, the amendments also explicitly state that contingent
assets do not qualify for recognition at the acquisition date.

Amendments to IFRS 3 are effective for business combinations for
which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and apply
prospectively. Earlier application is permitted if, at the same time or
earlier, an entity also applies all of the amendments contained in the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS
Standards. The directors of the Group expect that the amendments
have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 “Sale or Contribution
of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture”

The amendments remove an acknowledged inconsistency between
the requirements in IFRS 10 and those in IAS 28 (2011), in dealing with
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture and require that a full gain or loss is
recognised when a transaction involves a business (whether it is
housed in a subsidiary or not). A partial gain or loss is recognised
when a transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business,
even if these assets are housed in a subsidiary.

The amendments are originally effective prospectively to transactions
occurring in annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2016.
However, such effective date has been postponed indefinitely with
earlier adoption permitted. The directors expect that the amendments
have no material impact on the financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fn S W B MR M & (18)

Fortheyearended 31 December2021 HiZE =T - —F+ - A=+—HILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED IFRSs

(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current”

The amendments provide further guidance to clarify how to classify
debt and other liabilities as current or non-current which are

summarised as follows:

— It clarifies that a liability is non-current if an entity have a right (instead
of unconditional right as stated before the amendments) to
defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months from
the end of the reporting period. This right has to be existed at
the end of the reporting period, regardless of whether the
lender tests for compliance at that date or at a later date;

— Any expectations about events after the reporting period do not
impact the assessment made at the end of the reporting period

as to the classification of the liability; and

— ‘Settlements” are newly defined as a transfer to the
counterparty that results in the extinguishment of the liability.
The transfer could be of cash, other economic resources (e.g.
goods or services), or entity’s own equity instruments. Thus, if
the counterparty conversion option is classified as Lliability
under IAS 32, the transfer of equity instruments by exercising
the conversion option constitute settlement of liability for the
purpose current or non-current classification of liabilities. One
exception to the definition is that if the counterparty conversion
option is classified as equity in accordance with IAS 32, the
transfer of equity instruments by exercising the conversion
option does not constitute settlement of liability and would be
disregarded when determining whether the liabilities is current
or non-current.

Amendments to IAS 1 is effective for annual reporting period
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply retrospectively. Earlier
application is permitted. The directors of the Group expect that the
amendments have no material impact on these consolidated financial

statements.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED IFRSs

(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2
“Disclosure of Accounting Policies”

The amendments to |IAS 1 require entities to disclose material
accounting policy information instead of significant accounting
policies in its financial statements. The amendments also provide
some guidance on how material policy information are being identified
and provide some examples of when accounting policy information is
likely to be material.

In February 2021, the IASB issued IFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making
Materiality Judgements” to provide entities with non-mandatory
guidance on how to make materiality judgements when preparing
their general purpose financial statements in accordance with IFRS.
IFRS Practice Statement 2 was subsequently revised to provide
guidance and examples on how to apply the concept of materiality to

accounting policy disclosures.

The amendments to IAS 1 are effective for annual reporting period
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and are applied prospectively.
Earlier application is permitted. Except for the disclosures of
accounting policies in note 2 to consolidated financial statements may
need to be revised to cope with the above changes, the directors
expect that the amendments have no other material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 8 “Definition of Accounting Estimates”

The amendments clarify how entities should distinguish changes in
accounting policies from changes in accounting estimates by
introducing a definition for accounting estimates, which is now
defined as “monetary amounts in the financial statements that are
subject to measurement uncertainty”.

Besides, the amendments also clarify the relationship between
accounting policies and accounting estimates by specifying that an
entity develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out
by an accounting policy. Accounting estimates typically involve the use
of judgements or assumptions based on latest available reliable
information. A change in accounting estimate that results from new
information or new development is not correction of an error.
Therefore, the effects of a change in an input or a measurement
technique used to develop an accounting estimate are changes in
accounting estimates if they do not result from the correction of prior
period errors. In addition, two illustrative examples are added to
illustrate how to apply the new definition of accounting estimates.
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M BRI (8)

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED IFRSs

(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 8 “Definition of Accounting Estimates”
(Continued)

The amendments are effective for annual reporting period beginning
on or after 1 January 2023 and are applied prospectively. Earlier
application is permitted. The directors expect that the amendments
have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 12 “Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction”

The amendments clarify that the initial recognition exemption of
deferred tax in IAS 12 “Income Taxes” does not apply to transactions
that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences,
such as lease contracts that give rise to the recognition of a lease
liability and the corresponding right-of-use assets and contracts that
give rise to the recognition of decommissioning obligations and
corresponding amounts recognised as assets. Instead, entities are
required to recognise the related deferred tax asset and liability on
initial recognition, with the recognition of any deferred tax asset being
subject to the recoverability criteria in IAS 12 “Income Taxes”.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting period beginning
on or after 1 January 2023. Earlier application is permitted. The
directors expect that the amendments have no other material impact
on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 37 “Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract”

The amendments clarify that for the purpose of assessing whether a
contract is onerous under IAS 37, the cost of fulfilling the contract
comprises the costs that relate directly to the contract. Costs that
relate directly to a contract include both the incremental costs of
fulfilling that contract (e.g. direct labour and materials] and an
allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts (e.g
an allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant
and equipment used in fulfilling the contract).
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED IFRSs

(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 37 “Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract” (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 37 are effective for annual period beginning on or
after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied to contracts for which an
entity has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the beginning of the
annual period in which the amendments are first applied (i.e. date of
initial application). Earlier application is permitted. The directors of
the Group expect that the amendments have no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements.

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2021

The Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2021 include a
number of amendments to various IFRSs, which are summarised

below.

Amendments to IFRS 1 provide an option for a subsidiary to measure
cumulative translation differences for all foreign operations at
amounts included in the consolidated financial statements of its
parent company (based on the parent company’s date of transitions to
IFRSs] if a subsidiary adopts IFRSs later than its parent company and
applies paragraph D16(a) of IFRS 1.

Amendments to IFRS 9 clarify that, for the purpose of applying the “10
per cent” test for derecognition of financial liability, the borrower
includes only fees paid or received between the borrower and the
lender, including fees paid or received by either the entity or the
lender on the other’s behalf.

Amendments to illustrative example 13 accompanying IFRS 16
remove the illustration of the reimbursement of leasehold
improvements by the lessor from the example as the example is not
clear as to why such payments are not a lease incentive, which in turn
remove any potential confusion regarding the treatment of lease

incentives that might arise.

Amendments to IAS 41 remove a requirement to exclude cash flows
from taxation when measuring fair value of a biological asset, thereby
aligning the fair value measurement requirements in IAS 41 with
those in IFRS 13.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED IFRSs

(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (Continued)

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2021
(Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9 and IAS 41 are effective for annual
period beginning on or after 1 January 2022. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments to IFRS 16 only regard an illustrative
example, so no effective date is stated. The directors of the Group
expect that the annual improvements have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes accounting estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal to the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year are discussed below

(a) Provision for ECL of financial assets

The Group determines the provision for ECL of financial assets (Note
11). These estimates are based on the ECL to be incurred, which is
estimated by taking into account the credit loss experience, ageing of
overdue receivables, debtors’ repayment history and debtors’ financial
position and an assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions. All of which involve a significant degree of
management judgements.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has trade receivable of
RMB6,283,000 (net of impairment loss of RMB943,000] (2020:
RMB4,704,000 (net of impairment loss of RMB544,000) and other
receivables of RMBA47,540,000 (net of impairment loss of
RMB9,739,000) (2020: RMB47,202,000 (net of impairment loss of
RMB17,636,000)
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

(b) Current and deferred income taxes

As detailed in Note 9, the Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. There are many transactions and events for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. Significant judgement is required from the Group in
determining the provision for income taxes in each of these
jurisdictions. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in

which such determination is made.

(c) Depreciation, amortisation and impairment
assessment of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment (Note 17), right-of-use assets (Note

18) and intangible assets (Note 23] with finite useful lives are

depreciated or amortised on a straight-line basis over the estimated

useful lives of the assets, after taking into account the estimated
residual value, if any. The Group reviews the estimated useful lives of
the assets regularly in order to determine the amount of depreciation
and amortisation expense to be recorded during any reporting period.

The useful lives are based on the Group's historical experience with

similar assets and taking into account anticipated technological

changes. The depreciation and amortisation expense for future
periods is adjusted if there are significant changes from previous
estimates.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with finite useful
lives are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. The recoverable amounts of the assets have been
determined based on the higher of fair value less cost of disposal and
value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of
judgement and estimates about future cash flows and discount rates.

In the process of estimating expected future cash flows, management
makes assumptions about future revenues and profits. These
assumptions related to future events and circumstances. The actual
results may vary and may cause a material adjustment to the carrying
amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets within the next financial year. Determination of the
appropriate discount rate and growth rate and growth rate involves
estimating the appropriate adjustment for market risk and for assets
specific risk factors. Details of the estimates of the recoverable
amount of cash generating units ("CGUs") are disclosed in Note 17.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

(c) Depreciation, amortisation and impairment
assessment of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets(Continued)

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has property, plant and equipment

of RMB29,640,000 (net of impairment loss of RMB51,318,000) (2020:

RMBA48,723,000 (net of impairment loss of RMB51,318,000]), right-of-

use assets of RMB20,527,000 (net of impairment loss of

RMB27,981,000) (2020: RMB12,196,000 (net of impairment loss of

RMB27,981,000)) and intangible assets of RMB2,411,000 (net of

impairment: RMB1,035,000) (2020: RMB1,253,000 (net of impairment

loss of RMB1,035,000)).

(d) Impairment of interests in associates

The Group makes provision for impairment in its interest in associates
(Note 21) based on an assessment of the recoverable amounts of the
associates. An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset
or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The assessment
requires the use of judgements and estimates and any changes to
these judgements and estimates could result in a material change to
the recoverable amounts of the associates.

(e) Estimation of fair value of investment properties

The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an active market
for similar property in the same location and condition and subject to
the same lease or other contracts. In the absence of such information,
the Group determines the amount within a range of reasonable fair
value estimates. In making this judgement, the Group considers

information from a variety of sources including:

(i) current prices in an active market for properties of different
nature, condition or location (or subject to different lease or
other contracts), adjusted to reflect those differences;

(i) recent prices of similar properties in less active markets, with
adjustments to reflect any changes in economic conditions
since the date of the transactions that occurred at those prices;
and
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

(e) Estimation of fair value of investment properties
(Continued)

(i) discounted cash flow projections based on reliable estimates of
future cash flows, derived from the terms of any existing lease
and other contracts, and (where possible] from external
evidence such as current market rents for similar properties in
the same location and condition, and using discount rates that
reflect current market assessments of the uncertainty in the
amount and timing of the cash flows.

As at 31 December 2021,
investment properties carried at fair value are RMB2,900,000 (2020:

the carrying amounts of the Group's

Nil). Details of the fair value measurements are disclosed in Note 19.

(f) Assessment of legal claims

In the process of estimating outcomes resulted from legal claims,
management makes assumptions related to future events and
circumstances. The actual results may vary and may cause a material
adjustment to the Group’s financial position. Details of the estimates

and assumptions involved are disclosed in Note 46.

4.2 Critical judgements in applying the entity’s
accounting policies

(a) Control over AESE

The Group holds 30.6% (2020: 31.1%) of the common stock and voting
rights in the AESE Group. The remaining voting rights are held by fund
investment companies, certain directors of AESE Group and numerous
of shareholders, none of which individually hold more than 1% of the
voting rights. There are no arrangements for the other shareholders to
consult one another or act collectively. The management has assessed
the proportion of voting rights, on the basis of the absolute size of the
Group’s holding and the relative size of the other shareholdings, and
over 50% of board of directors are nominated and recommended by the
Group. The management concluded that the Group has sufficiently
dominant voting interest to direct the relevant activities of AESE Group
and therefore has control over AESE Group. Details of the interest in
AESE Group are set out in Note 20.

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021

4.

B8 B 5t L5t R H B @)

4.1 BARSEHGE RERR @

le) REWMEQREBELZIGS (@)

(i) REEFMNREEHREMEHZ
R FRIA B (WA AT 47 ) HNFE 8 4% (A0 48
FE LRIz BAEYEERKZ
MEAES)E URFEARRE
AmEEEEREcELERZ
THEEMFHEZBREAAER
Xﬁi/}\h§2ﬂ§1ﬁﬁ‘ﬁﬁ sz
ARIRIR S mETEN ©

518

AZE-_—F+-A=+—HB x5H
EARBIRZEEMERAEAAR
#2900,000 (ZE=_FF  E) - FERQ
hEFEZFBRWFEIOEE -

(f)l ERREND
EEFERREELENERBREST &
EEFELERARKRENHRIT /RE’ME“M
ERGERIUBEAMTR LAIEEHY
$%lﬁ’]ﬁ7ﬁkﬂﬁ%{’ﬁﬁ§ﬁ§ﬁ%°ﬁﬁiﬁ
Ko a RREOFIE R M 4 KE

42 BRABRISBRCERKN
FI &R

(a) ¥AESERYIZEH]

AEBFEASEEBMI06%(ZFE_F
& 311%>jtﬂéﬁ>z&? EREHBEE
EARESRER = TAESEEEE

$&y%ﬂﬁiﬁﬁ : éé?qﬂﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁ‘Jﬁﬁ

HBIB1%IRERE - R R 2 HI & E A
HEXERTHNRHE - EEEEFHE

SERMLA BERNSERFRMH
BEHEEREMBHOBEYEHE  KE
EeRFENERLEERERES -
EREEALERABASERABEANEE
MR ERE LA S EAESEE B BT S
A T #f AESE 5 B 5 2 ] # - IRAESE & &
RS SFIE S P 5E20 ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
M BRETME (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2021 B Z—ZE - —F+ A=+ —HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. 2DHBEHR
Segment result, assets and liabilities DEEE BEREE
The board of directors of the Company, being the chief operating AprEEg(AEELERRE(E
decision maker (‘CODM"), has identified the Group’'s operating and ZRERKED)EETASENEE
reportable segments as below and further described in Note 2.26: RAI2FHHEAT (M FE2.26 R B 7B
Eoatt)
(i) Lianzhong Group — online card and board games business (i) G REE - AR EBEETHRG
carried out by Lianzhong Group FHEBRER
(i) AESE Group — eSports businesses carried out by AESE Group (i) AESESE — HAESESBEETHE
R
2021
—E--F
Lianzhong AESE
Group Group Eliminations Total
HREE AESE£ 8 i @zt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBT R AR®T R AR¥ TR
Continuing operations: BESEER:
Revenue WA
— From external customers - RBIFRP 111,836 31,979 - 143,815
Impairment of assets (Note 11) EERME(H=E11) (2,021) - - (2,021)
Reportable segment results MEHPBEE (47,109) (88,242) - (135,351)
Loss before income tax BREGERAEE (47,109) (88,242) = (135,351)
Income tax credit FEHES 34
Loss for the year FRER (135,317)
Other information HitER
Interest income SN ON 2,057 - - 2,057
Finance cost AR (87) (6,354) = (6,441)
Depreciation of property, plant and nE - BERRENE
equipment (410) (21,176) - (21,586)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ FREEENE (1,523) (1,903) - (3,426)
Amortisation of intangible assets EREESRE (1,627) (26) - (1,653)
Fair value changes of financial assets  EAR B ABEZ¢REE
at fair value through profit or loss ZAREZE (14,218) - - (14,218)
Fair value changes of investment RENERAEE
properties 150 - = 150
Gain on disposal of associates HEHE DR 2l 7,608 - - 7,608
Gain on disposal of financial assets at &R DA EFFAB@ELZ
fair value through profit or loss SREE WA 110 - - 110
Gain on conversion/redemption of Ein /B R ER 2 WS
convertible notes - 6,453 - 6,453
I RERIZERBRA T

—E——EER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

S M BRERME (&)

Fortheyearended 31 December2021 B Z-_ZE - —F+ A=+ —HILFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. 2EER @
Segment result, assets and liabilities (Continued) DEEE BEEREEMm
2021
—E_-F
Lianzhong AESE
Group Group Eliminations Total
BREH AESEE® 8 @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARYBT T ARBT T ARBT AR T
ASSETS BE
Segment assets NHEE 134,994 675,031 - 810,025
LIABILITIES 2fE
Segment liabilities DEEE 52,316 69,722 - 122,038
Other information HER
Non-current assets (other than ERBEE(SBRIARN)
financial instruments), including: B 15,871 39,607 - 55,478
Additions to non-current segment FRFRENBEE
assets [other than financial (SR T ARSI EM
instruments) during the year 17,283 1,052 - 18,335
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RS U I MER M EE ()

Fortheyearended 31 December2021 B Z—ZE - —F+ A=+ —HILFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. DEEN @
Segment result, assets and liabilities (Continued) DEEE BEEREEMm
2020
—T-ZF

Lianzhong AESE

Group Group Eliminations Total
BEREE AESEEE 18 H)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AR¥TR ARETT ARBTTT ARETT

Continuing operations: BELBER:
Revenue KA
— From external customers - RENBEF 88,242 22,165 - 110,407
Impairment of assets (Note 11) BEERE K1) (12,568) (113,815) - (126,383)
Reportable segment results 2R PEE (47,380) (349,133] - (396,513)
Loss before income tax BEBHAER (47,380) (349,133) - (396,513)
Income tax expense e X (152)
Loss for the year FRER (396,665)
Other information HitEH
Interest income FE WA 377 - - 377
Finance cost AR (60) (42,211) - (42,271)
Depreciation of property, plant and nE BERIERE

equipment (1,620] (24,917) - (26,537)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ FFRAEEEN & (1,314) (7,739) - (9,053)
Amortisation of intangible assets BYEAEHE (1,518 (27) - (1,545)
Fair value changes of financial assets  BARBFABZZEBEE

at fair value through profit or loss ZRREEY (13,373) - - (13,373)
Loss on conversion of convertible notes E# AR EE 7 B8 - (47,711) - (47,711
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries ~ BUE MK B A Al 2 Yezs 4,682 - - 4,682

HRARDRERAT —E-—FER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 9.

Segment result, assets and liabilities (continued)

DEE R (@)
DEEEBE BEEREEW@

2020
—T-ZF
Lianzhong AESE
Group Group Eliminations Total
BREE AESE& B B w@Et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBETT ARET T ARETT ARETT
ASSETS EE
Segment assets DHEE 193,011 107,503 - 300,514
LIABILITIES =
Segment liabilities PHER 48,093 109,277 - 157,370
Other information HtrgH
Non-current assets [other than FRYEE(ERIARIN
financial instruments), including: B 6,127 60,295 — 66,422
— Interests in associates - REERANER 4,250 - - 4,250
Additions to non-current segment FRERHIBEE
assets (other than financial (BT AR
instruments) during the year 1,588 2,778 - 4,366
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

S M BREME (&)

Forthe year ended 31 December 2021 & Z =T =

6. REVENUE

The Group’s principal activities are disclosed in Note 1 to these

consolidated financial statements. The Group’s revenue from external

— A=t —BILFE

[N

AEFBTFZXEBRER

NSRRI R R e

M1 - AEBERFRERBIBEFE

customers recognised during the year is as follows: JFZWART -
Continuing operations BFEKSEEK
2021 2020
—E=-—F —TFTF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARET T
Revenue from contract with customers BEEAHWA
Lianzhong Group BREH
— Online games revenue — B FFERIEA 111,836 88,242
AESE Group AESEEE
— In-person revenue —EARRBRIA 27,109 20,629
— Multiplatform content revenue —ZEERARA 4,870 1,536
143,815 110,407
2021 2020
—E-—F —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARET T
Timing of revenue recognition WA TE R B
At a point in time P — B2 132,877 98,463
Over time W B R 3B = 10,938 11,944
143,815 110,407
REBRERERAT

—E——EER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

S M BRERME (&)

Fortheyearended 31 December2021 B Z-_ZE - —F+ A=+ —HILFE

6. REVENUE (continued) 6.

Revenue from external customers recognised under discontinued

operation in Note 44(b) during the year is as follows:

Discontinued operations

WA ()

RENEMFTUbDERECRIERER
BETIHIBECESZWALT

ERIEREEER

Period from

1 January 2021
to 12 July 2021 2020

-

—HA—HZ

—EBE-—fF

tA+=H
HA R —E-THF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T

Revenue from contract with customers BEEAHEA
AESE Group AESE& E
— In-person revenue — & A B2 5 WA 6,279 11,890
— Multiplatform content revenue —ZFaRBWA 26,275 34,162
— Interactive revenue —HEEHAUWA 51,441 93,041
83,995 139,093
Period from
1 January 2021
to 12 July 2021 2020
—E_-_—F
—HA—HZ%
B —fF
tA+=H
HA R —E-THF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET ARET T
Timing of revenue recognition WA e PR B R
At a point in time ANE - g 26,862 28,296
Over time B 5 R 3B 2= 57,133 110,797
83,995 139,093

Online games revenue is derived from the development and operation
of online card and board games that consist of PC and mobile games.
Games include self-developed games, licensed games and third-party
operated games.

In-person revenue is comprised of event revenue, sponsorship

revenue, merchandising revenue and other revenue.

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021

REBBBARAREREER EHEE
BE(BEPCER R FIE)  EREHES
THEER BREBREBEF=77K%
Cokid i

BAEBBRUKABEEDEA BEBHIK
A BB AREMUA o



REVENUE (continued)

Multiplatform content revenue is comprised of distribution revenue,
sponsorship revenue, music royalty revenue, online advertising

revenue and content revenue.

Interactive revenue is primarily comprised of subscription revenue,
licensing, social gaming and virtual product revenue.

Details of revenue recognition are disclosed in Note 2.19 to these
consolidated financial statements.

Geographical information

The following illustrates the geographical analysis of the Group's
revenue from external customers, based on the country from which
the transactions are executed, and information about its non-current
assets (other than financial instruments), based on the location of
assets and the location of the operations to which they are allocated
in the case of the intangible assets and goodwill.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REoMBRITME (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2021 B Z—ZE - —F+ A=+ —HILFE

WA ()

ZTERNBRRABRERETRA EBK
ABREMNBEA REESEARRA
NG

EHARAZIZBEITERA BE-
A 22 3 B N FEE R S m A

N R B AR B TS R R
21945 5% -

TEGBAAEEKXRBIBEL KA
(REBEETRXIMEBRKERE) WA
MEFRRHEE(ERTARIIN (RE
BEMAEMREREDBE 2 EEME (5
BEVEERBEMT)AN)WNERZH
& 257 o

Non-current assets

Revenue (other than financial instruments)
FRBEE
WA (£@ T BRI
As at As at
2021 31 December 2021 31 December 2020
i RZEZTHF
—E-—F —T-FTH +ZA=+—-H +ZA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET T ARBT T ARBT T ARBTT
PRC s 111,836 88,242 14,914 6,127
USA* EE* 29,019 17,996 39,185 58,095
Others HAth 2,960 4,169 1,379 2,200
143,815 110,407 55,478 66,422
* Revenue from USA not including the revenue from discontinued b RKEEZEZWA(TEIEREBERIEE

operation amounting to RMB83,995,000 (2020: RMB139,093,000).

Information about major customers

The Group has a large number of game players, no revenue from any
individual game player or customer exceeded 10% or more of the
Group’s revenue during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

EEBZIWA) B AR 839950007T
—ZE-FF: AR¥139,093,0007T) °

EHRETESFNENR

BHE-ZT-Z—FR-ZFEZZTF+=A=
+— B IEFE - B &K B F A E R 5 B
MEAIEFPHRABBAAEEKAD
10% 8K A | o

BREREREEBAT —B_—FFR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

S M BRERME (&)

Fortheyearended 31 December2021 B Z-_ZE - —F+ A=+ —HILFE

7. OTHER INCOME 7. HEftizs
2021 2020
—E-—F —E T4
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 ARBT T AR T T
Other revenue Hi g A
Interest income FEKA 2,057 377
Dividend income i 2 A 77 —
2,134 377
Other netincome H by &5 F 5
Bad debts recovery R E 1,536 -
COVID-19-related rent concessions EWFEE MR ESHEE
received HeEE (a) = 4,395
Subsidy income from government BT 4 B A (b) = 1,431
Gain on forgiveness of PayCheck HEARETEER
Protection Program loans (‘PPP loans”)  ([PPPE ) K Fl &
and interest g 34(a) 5,888 —
Sundry income MM 989 1,437
8,413 7.263
10,547 7,640
(a) As disclosed in Note 3, the Group has early adopted a) FUOWEIFMFEE AEEERERE
Amendments to IFRS 16 “Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions” B 4 B B B 75 3R 5 R R 1655 (15
and applies the practical expedients introduced by the AR FERERESEEAZHEE
amendments to all eligible rent concessions received by the B W HEAEBETSIERAT
Group during the year ended 31 December 2020. BERZEZERBEAEBERBEZ
Z_ZEFE+RAR=+—HIEFE
NEKBRWEEERESEBE -
(b)  Subsidy income from government mainly relates to cash (b) BSABWAEZELEKRHE

subsidies in respect of operating and development activities
which are either unconditional grants or grants with conditions
having been satisfied.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Fortheyearended 31 December2021 B Z—ZE - —F+ A=+ —HILFE

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. EIEMA
2021 2020
—E-—F R TE
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T AR¥ETT

Interest charges and transaction cost on AR RN R KRR F A

Convertible Notes (Note 32) (fF3E32) 602 37,273
Interest charges on bridge loan payables FERBE R E R Z P F B
(Note 34) (B 5234) 806 —
Interest expenses B RS 326 1
Finance charges on lease liabilities HEBBENMBER 4,707 4,997
6,441 42,271
9. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE 9. FIBR(ER) BxX
2021 2020
—E-—F R
Note RMB’000 RMB'000

B aE ARET T AR¥ETT

Current tax BYHA B 18

The PRC =8

— Current year —AEFE — 152
— Prior years —BEFE (34) —
Income tax [credit)/expense FEHGER) HX (34) 152

BREEZRERAT —B-—FER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R BEBRERME (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2021 HE=ZFT=—F +—_A=+—HILFE

9. INCOME TAX [CREDIT)/EXPENSE (continued) 9.

The difference between the actual income tax charge in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income and the amounts which would result from applying the
enacted tax rate to loss before income tax can be reconciled as

(Continued)

R (ER) M m

GCEBEZREME2EAKRSERNBERE
REAMERERRKIEHATEBEN
AEMEGFESENEENEZEE RN
T :

follows:
2021 2020
—B-—fF —E-TE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BT T ARET T
Loss before income tax from continuing REFEREERZ
operations BTSRRI E 18 (135,351) (396,513)
Profit/(Loss) before income tax from REDRIEEEER 2
discontinued operations BTSRRI (B 18) 329,643 (6,707)
Profit/(Loss) before income tax BRAETSBLATER(B18) 194,292 (403,220
Tax on profit/(loss) before income tax, BRFTSR AR R (BB) BHE
calculated at the statutory rates (RHEBEREREAERBERAD
applicable to profits in the tax jurisdiction — FIJBA E# R &)
concerned 58,471 (116,750
Tax effect on non-deductible expenses A MBHAZOH G L 4,838 36,122
Tax effect on non-taxable income ERBMUWMA NG B (97,160) (2,067)
Tax effect on preferential income tax rates @A RKE R A EEATEH
applicable to subsidiaries RENBBEE 3,187 813
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not MR AR ) B IE B 1 2
recognised S & (5,708) (5,733)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised HARERIBEE 2 W2 36,372 86,983
Over-provision in respect of prior year BT ESBERE (34) _
Income tax credit FRigHE % (34) (632)
Income tax (creditl/expense reported in the #3& B M E b 2 H I & & 2 8/
consolidated statement of profit or loss ZHBH L),/ BX
and other comprehensive income (34) 152
Income tax attributable to the discontinued B 4 |FAX & 215 2 FEML TS
operation (Note 44(b)) (P 3E 44(b)) = (784)
(34) (632)
Notes: Wt & -

(a)  Cayman Islands income tax
The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands and accordingly, is exempted from Cayman Islands income tax.
(b)  Hong Kong profits tax
Hong Kong profits tax rate is 16.5%. Hong Kong profits tax has not been

provided as the Group had no estimated assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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9.

INCOME TAX (CRED|T]/EXPENSE (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

PRC enterprise income tax

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of its operations in the PRC
has been calculated at the applicable tax rate on the estimated assessable
profits for the year based on the existing legislation, interpretations and
practices in respect thereof. The applicable income tax rate is 25%.

According to relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, enterprises
engaging in research and development activities are entitled to claim 150%
of the research and development expenses so incurred as tax deductible
expenses when determining their assessable profits for that year ("Super
Deduction”). The Group made such claims for deduction for the year
ended 31 December 2021. (2020: The Group did not make such claims
for deduction for the year ended 31 December 2020).

US profits tax

Subsidiaries operating in the US are subject to US federal and state tax
on its assessable profits. The applicable tax rate for federal tax is 21%
whilst the tax rate for state tax of California, the principal place of
business of the Company’s major US subsidiaries is 8.8% (2020: 8.8%).
US profits tax has not been provided as the Group incurred a loss for
taxation purposes for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

PRC withholding tax

According to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the Group is
also liable to a 10% withholding tax on dividends to be distributed from
the Group's foreign-invested enterprises in the PRC in respect of its
profits generated from 1 January 2008. If a foreign investor incorporated
in Hong Kong meets the conditions and requirements under the double
taxation treaty arrangement entered into between the PRC and Hong
Kong, the relevant withholding tax rate will be reduced from 10% to 5%.

As at 31 December 2021, no deferred tax liabilities had been provided for
the PRC withholding tax that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings of approximately RMB282,630,000 (2020: RMB282,647,000) of
certain subsidiaries because the Group controls the dividend policy of
these subsidiaries and it is not probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the forceable future.

Unrecognised tax losses

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has unrecognised tax losses of
approximately RMB379,122,000 (2020: RMB417,077,000) to carry forward
against future taxable income. These tax losses do not expire under
current legislation except losses of approximately RMB240,456,000 (2020:
RMB242,129,000) that may be carried forward for 5 years from the year
it carry the loss.

9.

PrER (ER) Fm

BsE : (&)

(c)

(d)

(e)

()

HEREREH

AEBEREEPENEBAELSNR
SHBEDRERTHBER BER
18 B 3h 50 2N 4F [ fib 5 8 AR 0% A 3R @
FABERGHE - A BB & 5 25% e

BRIEPEBEEIEER HEWEED
Y1 SE A B TE HL 5% F S JE R B s IR
B FTE LN E FH&150%7Ea]
MBRAZBEF(MAANRD) BE=T
——F+-_A=+—HLEEFE FX&H
ERZNBRELEERR(ZZE=2FF K
EBRBEZT_TF+=A=1+—
B IEFEBERZINRIEL BR) o

EL T

REBREZHBARAREERH
i ) B 4 5 B B 0 e N B o i PR D RS
R H21% MmN (R AR E B XM
BAGZ T EZLEME)MMEREAR
88% (=T _ZT4F:88%)  HNRALEH
BE-_Z-_—k=-_ZF-_Z2F+=A8
S+t HLEEEELERBERE RIE
HEBFERATIREME -

hEEAH

RIE R EERARER - ASEINAER
MPEIERECEABAR =N
F—A—BRELEMNHFETHIKH
IR BB AR10% 0 TE N o 6 5 B 7 5T
MK INEEEERAERRHEFBT
KR B ISAR K R HE IR R E
MBATFEMT R K 10%BEE5% °

R—ZE-—E+-_A=+—H #H&
RETHBARARELARINHOARE
282630000 C( ZFE T F: AR
282,647,000 7T ) 78 &4 4% &9 H BX 78 40 B &t
REEFHIBAERGB REAXSBEZEGIZ
EMBARMBREKE  MERKEESE
NAREIRE S TEA] B i SR B[ -

RERBEGE

R_FE-_—F+=-_A=+—H ~5H
AEBAEIKEEBERTERANK
ERBIEEE L A AR 379,122,000
(ZZE=ZFF: AR%417,077,0007T) °
BKEELAEBEFEENABRAFZE
Y AR K2£0456,000( 8B = F
£ NR#E242,129,0007T) 5N - 185 B AT
FHR ZEHEBENRER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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10. LOSS FOR THE YEAR FROM CONTINUING
OPERATIONS

10. REKFBEREXFZFR
BiR

REFBEREEB 2FABRLNGR
GFIFA R T EHEBED:

Loss for the year from continuing operations is arrived at after
charging/(crediting):

2021 2020
—E-—F —EEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T AR®F T
Lease charges related to short-term leases H/EHiFIEERINHEE R 662 780
CQVID-19-related rent concessions received 2 WH AW BRFSHBELLER - (4,395)
Auditors’ remuneration % BURD B &
Audit services EARE 3,745 3,781
Non-audit services AT RS 260 200
Depreciation: E:
Owned assets (Note 17) P BB (P aE17) 21,586 26,537
Right-of-use assets (Note 18) A EE (Fizt18) 3,426 9,053
Total depreciation mERE 25,012 35,590
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 23) & /2 & /2= # §4 (M9 7£ 23) 1,653 1,545
Net foreign exchange loss SNEE E5 18 % 2R 253 1,506
Gain on disposal of an associate (Note 21) & — & 2 & 2 W
(B &E21) (7,608) —
Gain on disposal of financial assets at HERARBEFABREZZ
fair value through profit or loss TREE W& (110) -
(Gain)/Loss on conversion/redemption @i RO AR R E R 2
of Convertible Notes (W) BB (6,453) 47,711
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME BELREEB2ZEE
equipment - 748
Loss on a strategic initiative (Note 28] EEREREE 2 EE
(P EE28) - 25,197
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fn S W B MR M & (18)

Fortheyearended 31 December2021 B Z—ZE - —F+ A=+ —HILFE

11. IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

1.

EERE
2021 2020
—E-—F R TE
Note RMB’000 RMB'000

B &E ARET T AR¥ETT

Non-current prepayment JEMENTEAT IR 26 — 34,516
Property, plant and equipment Y- BEREE 17 — 51,318
Right-of-use assets EREEE 18 - 27,981
Trade and other receivables B 5 R H e W IE 27 1,980 12,568
Inventories TE 41 —
Total @t 2,021 126,383

During the years ended 31 December 2020, the Group face regulatory
headwinds in the same business of highly challenging conditions.
Accordingly, impairment loss were provided on various assets, with
reference to the recoverable amount determined based on value in

use of respective CGU, refer to Note 17 for details.

12. DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

13. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

(a) Basic earnings/(loss) per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss
attributable to equity holders of the Company and on the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the

year.

12.

S

HE-_Z -5+ -_A=+—HIHF
B AEEEHRAKERETHE@E
HEEBHNESHED - At 2R
BHARcEEEMNERAEBEEMET
WAl El & EE% - DS EEEEDR
BEEERE BRFBERKE17-

% 2
EEfERakNBE-_TE-_—F+_- A
=+ —BUEFEZRBERE(ZEZF
&F M)

BIREBA,(BR)

(a) BIREXRRF (Ei8)

BREABBRDRARAEEG R
BEAREEBEERFABSHTHE
BEINEFHBETERE -
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13. EARN'NGS/[LOSS] PER SHARE (continued)

(a) Basic earnings/(loss) per share (Continued)

13. 8RB (B1R) w
(a) BREXERF(5R)

(&)
2021 2020
—E-—F —E T4
Profit/(Loss) attributable to equity holders of ANQ A #E 53585 A JE(L
the Company for the year (RMB’000) FREF,(EE)
(AR®EBTT)

— Continuing operations —REBEREER (74,367) (180,806)
— Discontinued operations —BRIEREET 100,871 (5,586
26,504 (186,392)

Weighted average number of ordinary FRDEITHEBRINE

shares in issue during the year (Note (i)

Fa g ()

1,055,122,400

1,055,951,175

Basic earnings/(loss) per share (in RMB

GREREN,(E8)

cents per share) (LNEBRARESE)
— Continuing operations —REREER (7.05) (17.12)
— Discontinued operations —BRIEREET 9.56 (0.53)
2.51 (17.65)

(b) Diluted earnings/(loss) per share from

(b)

continuing operations and discontinued
operation

The calculation of diluted earnings/(loss) per share is based on
the loss attributable to equity holders of the Company and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the
year after adjusting for the effects of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company has six
categories of potential ordinary shares, being the Company's
share option schemes, options, warrants, restricted common
shares, unit purchase options and contingent consideration
shares issued by a subsidiary of the Company. The impacts had
anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per share amounts
presented.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
M BRETME (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2021 B Z—ZE - —F+ A=+ —HILFE

13. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE (continued) 13. BREF(BR) mw
(b) Diluted earnings/(loss) per share from (b) REFEBREEZEFRER
continuing operations and discontinued IEEXBNEREITR
operation (Continued) R (B8) @
For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company has seven HEZT=F ¢ TZA=+— EI
categories of potential ordinary shares, being the Company’s IEEE ARaARE-REES
share option schemes, options, warrants, restricted common f% - BRARA 72%]‘&% FrEl - EEIK
shares, convertible notes, unit purchase options and contingent NA—KMNBR AT ZBEARE
consideration shares issued by a subsidiary of the Company. RRER IREIEER  TBRR
The impacts had anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per share 2R BUEEHERIANRER
amounts presented. - BRATEEHM2I 2 BRE
AEBEBERNRESZE -
Note: B 5
()  Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (i) ERTEERMETHE
The calculation of weighted average number of ordinary shares in FARNB BT BRME TS HIZ
issue during the year is based on outstanding ordinary shares BEATAE SN A IROR B AR 10 SR B ET
less weighted average number of ordinary shares repurchase of &5 [ /Y X 38 A% A9 X 3m A% N #E
ordinary shares for the Share Award Scheme. HYEE -

14. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 14, (ESigfIBE sz (215 & = B
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) &)

2021 2020
—E_—F —EFF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETT

Salaries, bonus and allowances e B4 KERL 50,205 37,755
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 3R K& F 5t 2|t =& 5,705 883
Severance payments BB 2,581 1,142
Share-based compensation expense IR BERS &M 18,686 25,978

77,177 65,758

HRARSRERAT —E_—EER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
R BEBRERME (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2021 B Z-_ZE - —F+ A=+ —HILFE

15. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 15. ESREEBITHRAEF M
EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ and chief executive’'s emoluments disclosed pursuant to B ETRB - FE D B EHZE383(1) 5§
the Listing Rules, section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies NEARI(HEESAEER) HAIFE2
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information W EBEEREETHRABNE B ES
about Benefits of Directors) Regulations is set out below: A :
Salaries,
allowances  Retirement Share-
Directors’  and benefits benefit based
fees inkinds contributions payment Total
He 2R BB BRG5H
EEHe REVRZ R EBRHAX st

Notes  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ME ARBTT ARBTT ARETRE ARBTT ARETRL

Year ended 31 December 2021 BE-Z--F
+TZBA=Z+-BLEE

Executive directors: HITES:

Mr. Li Yangyang FHEHEE (1) 659 - - - 659

Mr. Lu Jingsheng BERELE (2) 247 509 - 3,687 4,443

Mr. Gao Hong mEEE (3) = - - - -

Non-executive directors: FHITES:

Mr. Liu Jiang TR = = = - =

Mr. Chen Xian Rz EE (4) = = = - -

Ms. Fu Qiang BRIt (3) - = = = =

Mr. Hu Wen sk (3) = = = = -

Mr. Liu Xueming SR E (5) 21 - - 377 398

Mr. Gao Liping aEFEE (6) 16 - - - 16

Mr. Hua Yumin EYREE (6) 16 - - - 16

Ms. Wu Libing REAZT (7) Al - - - Al

Independent non-executive directors: B FHTES :

Mr. Ma Shaohua EpELL 250 — — — 250

Professor Huang Yong BEREAK (3) 125 - - - 125

Mr. Zhang Li ENRAE 8) 102 = = = 102

Mr. GUO Yushi PEREE 9) 41 - — = 41
1,518 509 - 4,064 6,091

Year ended 31 December 2020 HE-_ZT_-_ZTF

+tZA=+t—BHILFE

Executive directors: HTES:

Mr. Li Yangyang THBRAE (1) - 392 - - 392

Mr. Gao Hong BERLE (3) - - - - -

Mr. Yang Eric Qing BEEE (10) - 1,755 b - 1,799

Non-executive directors: FHTES:

Mr. Liu Jiang T kE - - - - -

Mr. Chen Xian BRoZ % (4) - - - - -

Ms. Fu Qiang Brat (3) - - - - -

Mr. Hu Wen M kA (3) - - - - -

Independent non-executive directors: B FHTES :

Mr. Ma Shaohua EpELes 126 — _ _ 126

Mr. Lu Jingsheng fie R AL 2) 126 — — — 124

Professor Huang Yong BERAK (3) 229 - - - 229

Mr. Lu Zhong BREHE (11) 73 - - - 73

Dr. Tyen Kan Hee Anthony H#EEL (1) 114 - - - 114

668 2,147 A - 2,859
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REoMBRITME (B)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &% =

15. DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Notes:

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

(10)

(11)

Mr. Li Yangyang, an executive Director has resigned from the position of
acting chief executive officer ("CEQ”) of the Company with effect from 1
May 2021 and being re-designated as a non-executive Director with
effect from 31 March 2022, and will continue to serve as the Chairman
of the Board and the Chairman of the Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee.

Mr. Lu Jingsheng, an independent non-executive Director was re-
designated as an executive Director, CEOQ of the Company and the
Chairman of the risk prevention and digital
Committee with effect from 1 May 2021.

assets management

Resigned on 6 May 2021.

Resigned on 5 February 2021.

Appointed on 6 May 2021.

Appointed on 4 November 2021.

Appointed on 6 May 2021 and resigned on 24 September 2021.

Mr. Zhang Li was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
and the Chairman of the audit Committee with effect from 6 May 2021.

Mr. Guo Yushi was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
and the Chairman of the remuneration Committee with effect from 4
November 2021.

Mr. Yang Eric Qing resigned as Chairman of the Board, the co-CEO of
the Company, an executive Director on 30 June 2020, the chairman of
the Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee and an
authorised representative of the Company with effective from 30 June
2020.

Resigned on 30 June 2020.

There were no arrangements under which a director of the Company

waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the years ended
31 December 2021 and 2020.

E-—F+-A=+—BLFE

15. ESREBITHRAEE O

(&)

B 5

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

(10)

(11)

HITESTHBEEBHELARRAR
BABAH(THRER]) BT =—
FRA—BRER YHTAERTE
E AT __F#=-H=+—H#4E
B MBEEETESSEREURESR
MEEEARZESERE -

BYFATESERELEED FAELH
TEF  RNRRTTEAHIARR R E

rEFEEEEEZEEEXF A=
—ERA—BRER-
R=ZZTE=——FRAHEE-

R-B-_—F_-_AHBAHEE-

RZEZ—FHAABEZEE-
RZE——F+ - AMBERE-
RZZE-_—FRANAEZERRZ
T_—FAA-TMBE/E-
ENAEBREZERBUFRTEER

ERZECXRF B _ZE-_—FRAN
B #R £ o

BEALERZERBIUIFATES
rEFMESe IR BT _—F+—
AmMBREX-

BELAEEBER -_Z-_ZFA=1H
BHEEZRXRE A2ABETRE
BOBMTESE REAREXREARZR
TFEARARRRARERR AT _F
FRA=TBEREX -

P

RoB-BEARASTABE-

BHE-ZT-Z —FRZZEZZTF+=ZAH=
T—HALEFE TEARARAAESNESK
AEREEMME 228
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RO BRITME (BE)

Fortheyearended 31 December2021 B Z-_ZE - —F+ A=+ —HILFE

15. DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 15. EEREZITHAS F

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Directors’ retirement benefits

During the year ended 31 December 2021, no retirement benefits
were paid to or receivable by the directors in respect of their services
as directors of the Company and its subsidiaries or other services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company or its
subsidiary undertaking (2020: Nil).

Directors’ termination benefits

During the year ended 31 December 2021, no payments or benefits in
respect of termination of directors’ services were paid or made,
directly or indirectly, to the directors of the Company (2020: Nil).

Consideration provided to or receivable by third parties
for making available the services of a person as directors
During the year ended 31 December 2021, no consideration was
provided to or receivable by third parties for making available

directors’ services (2020: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate and
connected entities

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, there are no
other loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of the directors,

their controlled bodies corporate and connected entities.

Material interests of directors in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to
the Company’'s business to which the Company was a party and in
which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

S M BREME (&)

Forthe year ended 31 December 2021 & Z =T =

— A=t —BILFE

16. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUAL 16.

EMOLUMENTS

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group

for the year included one director (2020:

no director) whose

emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above. The

emoluments paid/payable to the remaining four (2020: five) individuals

during the year are as follows:

hB2RaeFMAL

FARKELEREFMALO R EHE
—RER(ZT_TF TREFH) H
MeEERBRREXASNF - FREMS
ENBTOHR(ZE_FF:AK)AL
ST

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥ T ARETT

Salaries and other emoluments e MEMiNe 19,788 8,538
Share-based payments VAR 1 7% B B0 A5 3K 12,889 21,970
32,677 30,508
The emoluments fell within the following bands: < 25 & > F A S4B Rl ¢

2021 2020
:g == qE — = —i qf

Emolument bands: B < 78 A1 -
HK$2,000,001 - HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7T & 2,500,0007% 7T = —
HK$2,500,001 - HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7% 7T 2 3,000,000% 7T — 1
HK$3,000,001 - HK$4,000,000 3,000,001 T £ 4,000,000 T — 2
HK%$4,000,001 - HK$5,000,000 4,000,001 7T 25,000,000 7T 2 1
Over HK$5,000,000 5,000,000/ 7T A £ 3] 1

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors or the

five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining

the Group or as compensation for loss of office during the year ended

31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

RBE-_Z_—F+_A=+—HIF
B AEEBEREMEEFIEELEED
A T X AERB S A EREMAR
SERMAKREE R REREBAHE
(ZF=_FF:8)-

HREEERERAT —E-—FER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RS U MR 5 (18)

Fortheyearended 31 December2021 B Z-_ZE - —F+ A=+ —HILFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. Y% - BB R E
Furniture
Leasehold Computer and office Motor  Construction Production
improvements equipment equipment vehicles inprogress equipment Total
BHR
HENREE ERRE BOERE AE ERIR EERE st

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETT AREBTT AR®TR ARETT ARBTR ARET:R

At 1 January 2020 R-ZB-Z%-A-H
Cost KA 119,78 43,351 23,030 9,194 647 54,948 250,448
Accumulated depreciationand  ZiH 1 E RAERFE

impairment losses 33,425) (33,487) [16,448) (3,780) - (18,050) (105,188)
Net book amount EHFE 85,853 9,864 6,584 5414 647 36,898 145,260

Year ended 31 December 2020 HE-E-F %

+=A=1+-H
LEE
Opening net book amount FNEBFE 85,853 9,864 6,584 5414 647 36,898 145,260
Additions AE 470 2917 762 — - - 4,149
Disposals HE (1) (38) (41) - (640) (28) (748)
Acquisition of subsidiaries W B2 R - - 24 - - - 2
Depreciation nE [12,363) [4,393) 3,240) 1,803) - (10,9¢8) (32,767)
Reclassified to held for sale BEHDEREEHE
(Note 44(a)) (Mizr4cla)) (8,773) (822) (1322) - 7 - (10924
Impairment (Note (3]} L (Fi5E (a) (44,295) (7,023) - - - - (51,318)
Exchange differences ERER (2.460) (166) (65) (251) - (2011) (4,953)
Closing net book amount EREEFE 18,431 339 2,702 3,360 - 23,891 48,723
At 31 December 2020 R-B-%%
+=BA=+-H
Cost A 102,096 12,184 18,267 7,590 - 51,164 191,301
Accumulated depreciationand R T E REEEE
impairment losses (83,665) [11,845) 15,565) (4,230) - (27,273) (142,578)
Net book amount FHFE 18,431 339 2,702 3,360 - 23,891 48,723
Year ended 31 December 2021 HZ-Z=-—%&
+=A=1+-H
LEE
Opening net book amount ENREFE 18,431 339 2,702 3,360 - 23,891 48,723
Additions NE 1,544 556 113 611 77 498 3,399
Depreciation & (8,226) (404) (1,071) (1,667) - (10,218) (21,586)
Exchange differences EREH (331) (7) (59) (59) - (440) (896)
Closing net book amount FRETFE 11,418 484 1,685 2,245 77 13,731 29,640
At 31 December 2021 RZB=-f
TZA=t-H
Cost KA 58,377 12,660 18,068 8,047 71 50,449 147,678
Accumulated depreciationand  RiH 1 E RAERFE
impairment losses (46,959) (12,176) (16,383) (5,802) - (36,718) (118,038)
Net book amount FEEE 1,418 484 1,685 2,245 77 13,731 29,640
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
M BRETME (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2021 B Z—ZE - —F+ A=+ —HILFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 17. W2 - BAE R R & @)

Depreciation charges of property, plant and equipment recognised is

analysed as follows:

ERRVE BERREFEBAHF
-

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-TF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T AR T T

Cost of revenue W A B AR - 179
Selling and marketing expenses HELTBHEEER 26 191
Administrative expenses THAX 21,536 32,397
Research and development expenses ik 24 —
21,586 32,767

Less: Discontinued operations (Note 44(b))  J&t © B #% 1 48 & % 75 (M 5 44(b)) — (6,230)
21,586 26,537

Note (a):

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

During the years ended 31 December 2020, the Group's CGU of eSport business
was under performed, management of the Group has conducted an impairment
assessment on eSport business CGU. The recoverable amount of CGU of
eSport business of RMB30,001,000 is lower than carrying amount, the Group
recognised an impairment loss on to the leasehold improvements under
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use asset of RMB51,318,000 and
RMB27,981,000, respectively. The related impairment loss was recognised and
included under “Impairment of assets” in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income and attributed to the Group’s segment
— AESE Group. In determining value in use for the CGU of eSport business, the
Group prepared the projected cash flows in present value discounted at a rate
of 33% on a pre-tax basis.

As at 31 December 2021, the management of the Group determined that no
indication of impairment or reversal of impairment of the eSport business.

Mt & (a) -

ME BRERREUAREAREEZRE
BHE-_Z_ZE+_A=+—HIEEE K
SEEREBRCELABUREARE A&
EEEECHERERRSELBEMETR
B EREBHReELBMNATRES
2 AR ¥30,001,000 cEREAEME "EBE
MWE BERSEBETHHEEREARER
BEEDRERBEREARES1,3180007T
M AR¥279810007T - fHRAREEEE 7 #
RIEFFAGEBELEMEERZIRANIE
EREIRGBERANEE S IPASEEE - B
EREKBRSEABENNEREEKR A%
ERUBEMNBEARESRE  ERBAEE
LA33% Yy bt = AL 35 -

R-ZE-_—F+-_A=+—"HB A£EEHE
BEETEREK T ELERED R KREE
B o

HRARSRERAT —E_—EER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RS U MER M EE ()

Fortheyearended 31 December2021 B Z-_ZE - —F+ A=+ —HILFE

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 18. EHEEE

eSports
Buildings arena Total
gF = 5 5 i HEE
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARET T ARBET T
(Note (a)) (Note (b))
(Bt aE(a)) (B 5% (b))
At 1 January 2020 R-ZB-ZTF—-H—H
Cost B AR 38,210 64,520 102,730
Accumulated depreciationand ~ REFHITE KIREEE
impairment losses (5,177) (7,821) (12,998]
Net book amount BREF(E 33,033 56,699 89,732
Year ended 31 December 2020 HBEZE_-Z_ZTF
+ZA=+—HBHLEE
Opening net book amount FYIREFEE 33,033 56,699 89,732
Depreciation e (6,075) (7,739) (13,814)
Modification 1&35] — (8,142) (8,142)
Impairment (Note 17(a)) B AE (M FE17(a)) - (27,981) (27,981)
Reclassified to held for sale ENOEARFEHES
(Note 44(a)) (M 5 44(a)) (24,579) - (24,579)
Exchange differences ME 3, = % (1,753) (1,267) (3,020
Closing net book amount FREHEFE 626 11,570 12,196
At 31 December 2020 R-ZBE-ZEF
+t=ZA=+—8H
Cost BN 4,008 26,200 30,208
Accumulated depreciation and At ImE R EERE
impairment losses (3,382) (14,630) (18,012
Net book amount BREEE 626 11,570 12,196
Year ended 31 December 2021 HZE_-ZT=-—f
+TZA=+—HLEE
Opening net book amount FYEREFE 626 11,570 12,196
Addition NE 9,372 —_ 9,372
Depreciation e (1,523) (1,903) (3,426)
Modification EXE — 2,854 2,854
Exchange differences &N =% — (469) (469)
Closing net book amount FREEEFE 8,475 12,052 20,527
At 31 December 2021 R-ZB=-—%F
+=BA=+—H
Cost X AR 13,380 28,216 41,596
Accumulated depreciation and  ZEEFHTE KIR{EE B
impairment losses (4,905) (16,164) (21,069)
Net book amount BREFE 8,475 12,052 20,527
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RS U I MER M EE ()

Fortheyearended 31 December2021 B Z—ZE - —F+ A=+ —HILFE

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 8. EHEEEM@®
Depreciation charges of right-of-use assets recognised is analysed as EHRRAERAEEENEERI>TAOT
follows:
2021 2020
—B=—% —T-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETT

Administrative expenses THRX 3,426 13,814
Less: Discontinued operations (Note 44(b)] 8 : B 4% 1 4% & 5 % (B £ 44(b)) - (4,761)
3,426 9,053
The details in relation to their leases are set out in Note 33. EHEERENFBEHNMFES -
Notes: Pt = -
(a)  Buildings represent office premises in Hong Kong and PRC. @) BFEUREARTENBHAEEFFN -
(b) eSport arena represent flagship gaming arena in Las Vegas, USA. (b) B 350 45 b 4 0 55 B A AT A 0 AT 9 T
R 105 1835 b, o
19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 19. LEYE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E_THF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBET T
Completed investment properties ERTIREME 2,900 -

HRARDRERAT —E-—FER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e M BRKTME (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2021 B Z-_ZE - —F+ A=+ —HILFE

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 19. BEWEmw)
Changes to the carrying amounts presented in the consolidated RERE B AR R K P oI R 2 BR B & &)
statement of financial position can be summarised as follows: AR N R
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETT

R
|
:DJ

El — —
— i 2,750 —
Change in fair value of investment properties MIBZZHER ZIHEWE

1 January
Additions — acquisition

Iﬂﬂi

W

recognised in profit or loss NREZE 150 —

At 31 December R+=-—A=+—H 2,900 —
The following table shows the Group's investment properties TRERUKEEHEEERNGZE BB
measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial KEAANEFENAERREYE B
position on a recurring basis, categorised into three levels of a fair PAEEBRBEAE=F -HBETE2H

value hierarchy. The levels are based on the observability and ANBBZABEEREENEETER :

significance of inputs to the measurements, as follows:

Level 1:  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical —ER:-NHREERBERERTS
assets and liabilities. ZHEOCREAE) -

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 F_EL:BEXBEZAEBR(EEZEK
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly HE) AR E-—HRAE
or indirectly, and not using significant unobservable SZWmEKRIN) - BIXEGFEA
inputs. BAPAHE R ARE -

Level 3:  significant unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. FoER BEIABIZERTAHE

W A BUR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fn S W B MR M & (18)

Fortheyearended 31 December2021 B Z—_ZE - —F+ A=+ —HILFE

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 19. REVZX @)

As at 31 December 2021
R=-ZE-_—-f+=-H=t-—H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

F-ER B ZF=EBR At

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBTR ARBTR ARETR

Recurring fair value measurement &EE M4 QX REFTE

Investment properties: REWE
— Buildings in PRC —RHPBEZEF — 2,900 - 2,900
Total #Et — 2,900 - 2,900
There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the year REBEE-_ZE-_—F+-A=+—HI#F
ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil). B F-ERRF_ERZELEFR
(ZE_TF:8|)-

The Group’s investment properties were revalued at 31 December
2021 by independent professional qualified valuers who have the
recent experience in the location and category of property being
valued. The management performs valuations of the investment
properties for financial reporting purposes in consultation with the
valuers for complex valuations. Valuation techniques are selected
based on the characteristics of each property, with the overall
objective of maximising the use of market-based information. The
finance team reports directly to the chief financial officer and to the
audit committee. Valuation processes and fair value changes are
discussed among the audit committee and the valuation team at each
interim and annual reporting date.

The fair values of the Group's investment properties categorised
under Level 2 fair value hierarchy are determined using market
comparison approach by reference to recent sales prices of
comparable properties on a price per square basis using market data
which is publicly available and adjusted for specific conditions relating
to the properties.

AEEZEENER=_TE=_—F+=A
S+ —HEBUFESERMGERME
BEEMEEDEME RER 2 8K
BEM BEERVBHREEMNETRE
MEETHE UHREMGELZRGE
B - BESRMBESYEZ BEEE
BRECZABRENAMEER - GB%
ENEENERVBEEREREZECIE
H-BEREZESRHEERSN S+ H
MEEREBHTREERERAAE

AEBOBRAARBEERE-_ERZ
RENMEERTSHLEEEEAAE"
ETRK2ENELBYNERES VL HER
(ERARABMSREYMEZE
FHEBZARBBERTUABR)AEZE
HISH & (B -

HRARSRERAT —E_—EER @
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20. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 20. RIEEB R IBVER

R-FB-_—FR-_F_FFE+-_A=+
—BEXELEMBRARFBNOT :

Particulars of the principal operating subsidiaries as at 31 December
2021 and 2020 are as follows:

Issued and paid in

Country/Place and date of capital/registered Principal activities and place of
Name of company incorporation/establishment Type of legal entity capital  Equityinterestheld operation
ERAL/RINER/ BRTREAER/
CEL HERAH EARH ARER BHERE IEXBRELHY
Directly held by the Company
ARFERKA
Lianzhong Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong/18 December 2013 Limited liability company 100 ordinary shares 100%  Investment holding
(2020: 100%)
SRER(ER)ERAA EE/_T-ZET-ATNB  BREARA 100 EBR 100% REZR
(C2ZFF:100%)
Primo Vital Limited BVI/13 February 2018 Limited liability company 100 ordinary shares 100% * Investment holding
(2020: 100%)
Primo Vital Limited AREBRES/ EREMAAT 100RERR 00% REER
“E-\fZAtzR (CBZFF:100%)
Indirectly held by the Company
ARABERA
Beijing Lianzhong Garden Network Technology ~ PRC/21 January 2014 Limited liability company US$350,000 100%  Provision of computer related
Co, Ltd" 2020: 100%) ~ technical support, in PRC
IRBRFRREHRERAELT" hE/E-ME-A-t-H AREMAA 35000057 0% RPERETERABEM R
(ZFZFF:100%)
Beijing Lianzhong" PRC/23 March 1998 Limited liability company RMB72,000,000 100%  Development and operation of online
(2020:100% ~ card and board games, in PRC
ERER HE/-AMNEZAZTZE AREMAA ARH72,0000007 / 100% R ERERE R ERERER
(ZFZFF:100%)
Hainan Lianzhong Zhiqu Technology PRC/15 April 2015 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 59.4%° PC and mobile games development

Development Co,, Ltd ("Hainan Lianzhong’| (2020:59.4%)  and operation, in PRC
BEEREENREREARAT hE/"Z-REMATEAE AREMAA ARH1,0000007 59.4%° R ERE R 2EPCREHER

(emBz))

Tianjin Juxian Tongchuang Technology
Development Co., Ltd."

RERERAMRRRERLA"

PRC/31 Octaber 2014

HE/-F-mE+A=1-8

Limited liability company

EREMELA

RMB1,000,000

ARH1,0000007

(ZBZFF 1 50.4%)

0%
2020: 100%)

Mobile games development and
operation, in PRC

ReBEREREEBDES

Tianjin Lianzhong Yidong Technology PRC/11 November 2014 Limited liability company RMB10,000,000 59.4%" PC and mobile games development
Development Co., Ltd." (‘Tianjin Lianzhong’) 2020: 59.4%) and operation, in PRC
RERREDMRERERAR" hE/_F-DET-At-B EREELA ARH10,0000007 594%° REEREREEPCRBDES
([X282)) (CB-FF:594%)
Lianzhong Tiandi* PRC/7 December 2016 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100%  Investment holding, in PRC
(2020: 100%]
BRI ME/ZT-RETZALH EREMEAR ARH1,0000007T 100% RPEREER

Tianjin Shengyou Shidai Technology

Development Co., Ltd." (KB BEREHR

KEBRAF), Tianjin Shengyou’)
REZHFEARHERERAA
((Rz&E])

PRC/21 July 2015

HE/-F-TEtA-1+-A

Limited liability company

RMB1,000,000

AKH1,0000007

(ZEFE:100%)

100%
(2020: 100%)

100%
(ZEZZE:100%)

Investment holding, in PRC

ReBRERR

AESE* US/5 November 2018 Limited liability company US$10,000 30.6%" Investment holding, in US
(2020: 31.1%)
AESE? *8/-%5-\F+-AEA AREALT 10000% 7T 6%t REERERR

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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20. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

20. KRB IHVEZS @)

Issued and paid in

Country/Place and date of capital/registered Principal activities and place of
Name of company incorporation/establishment Type of legal entity capital  Equityinterestheld operation
EREL/RINER/ BRfTREMER/
LEL HERAH EARH ARER BHERE IZXBRELHY
Indirectly held by the Company (Continued)
ALARERE ()
Allied Esports International, Inc.” US/25 January 2017 Limited liability company - 30.6%* Operation of eSports activities, in US
(2020: 31.1%)
Allied Esports International, Inc.” FB/-F—+E-A-tRR EREARA - Ne% REALLERED
(ZRZFE:311%)
eSports Arena Las Vegas, LLC" US/14 November 2017 Limited liability company - 30.6%* Operation of eSports activities, in US
(2020: 31.1%)
eSports Arena Las Vegas, LLC’ ¥8/-F-tF1-FtEE EREALA - N6% REALEERED
(ZEZFF:311%)
Allied Esports Atlanta, LLC™ US/5 December 2020 Limited liability company - 0%  Operation of eSports activities, in US
(2020: 31.1%)
Allied Esports Atlanta, LLC* ZE/-F-26+-A4A BREARA - 0% REBEEERED
(ZRZFF:311%)
ELC Gaming GmbH" Germany/2 June 2016 Limited liability company EUR?25,000 30.6%* Operation of eSports activities,
2020:31.1%)  in Europe
ELC Garning GrmbH’ BE/-F-~"ErAZA BEREMARA B00BT 08% REMELERED
(ZR-FE:311%)
cslf US/3 March 2010 Limited liability company 1 ordinary share 0%** PC and mobile games development
(2020:31.1%]  and operation, in US
Cslt X8/-2-2£=0=4H BREALA IREER 0% REERERELPCRBEEA
ZFRE30%)
WPT Enterprise Inc.* US/16 October 2009 Limited liability company T ordinary share 0%** Television production, brand
(2020:31.1%] licensing and tour management,
inUS
WPT Enterprise Inc.* X0/-FTNETA+RA EREART 1REER W REBERZEENAEE QRE
(CEZ2F:311%) %&m§aﬁ
Peerless Media Limited* Gibraltar/27 September 2004 Limited liability company 2,200 ordinary shares 0%** Television production, brand
(2020:31.1%] licensing and tour management,
in Gibraltar
Peerless Media Limited® ERER/ BREALA 22008 & R W RERERHZERAAEE.
“REMEAAZTLA (ZZZRF:00%) mERERLEEE

# These companies are accounted for as subsidiaries of the Group even # EPR A B 75 3R 3Rk MY 5 4.2(a) P 36 B Y
though the Group has 30.6% (2020: 31.1%) equity interest based on the B & - BN 2R & B 8 A /9 BR# /5 30.6%
factors explained in Note 4.2(a) to the consolidated financial statements. (ZZE=FF:311%) r ZZ ARINE

REEEHRBRARIAR-

o The English name of certain companies referred herein represent " AMEXMRIMEOE T A A0 E LB
management’s best effort at translating the Chinese names of these DNEBEBERRZRAZENHZERAZ
companies as no English name has been registered. AR TR B R T 2R R L NP o A 2 ST

H R o

& Decrease in equity interest held because of exercising of convertible o FEBRERLTTHREEFSEATE

notes by the note holders. AMBREE -
*k

— On 12 July 2021, AESE and the buyer consummated the transactions
contemplated by the SPA, pursuant to which, among other things, AESE
sold 100% of the outstanding capital stock of CSI to the buyer. CSI is
AESE's indirect wholly-owned subsidiary that directly or indirectly owns
100% of the outstanding capital stock of each of the legal entities that
collectively operate or engage in AESE's WPT business. Details refer to
Note 44.

RZTE=Z—FtA+=H AESEEHE}H
TERERBEEETHARS  Eik(H
R EIE)  AESEM E A i ECSIE B 31T
HEINIE AR o CSIBAESER) I # 2 & K B
AR EEESHERFLAREERH
FEAESERWPTE B S A TEEENH 2
AT INR AN o F BB 544 ©

BREREREEBAT —B_—FFR
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20. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 20. KB R IBVEZ (@)

Due to Company reorganised related game operating businesses during
the year 2020 and transfer the related game operation businesses to
two subsidiaries, Hainan Lianzhong and Tianjin Lianzhong from 1
January 2021.

Before the reorganization of game business, Hainan Lianzhong and
Tianjin Lianzhong are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Beijing Lianzhong.
In December 2020, Beijing Lianzhong entered into respective
shareholders agreements with management personnel of Beijing Maipu
Taigi Technology Co., Ltd. HERBE KA R AR AR ("Beijing MPTQ")
and an independent third party to offer them for subscription in capital
of Hainan Lianzhong and Tianjin Lianzhong. The subscriptions were
deemed to be completed as of 31 December 2020 and the shareholding,
directly and indirectly, held by Beijing Lianzhong in Hainan Lianzhong
and Tianjin Lianzhong were diluted to 59.4% and 59.4% respectively.

ERARAER-_Z_ZTFEHER
HEZEXY T T —F—H—
BEBEEEREEXEEETMME
M B AR BNE R b AR R R R o

MEEEBEARN  SEBRRREER
RIERBIAZEZEMNBRAA - K==
TFE+-A L RBRESLREL KA
BEERAG(IEREEAT) 2EE
BAEBR—RZBBIUF=ZFFTILTEZ
BERZ KAFESREREENRESE
BMBERREHER BN ZEREEE
RIEBE-_ZT_TF+=-_A=+—H
B 5EA - b R R 8 B R R R E
BB EEREERER B #8
£59.4% 5% 59.4% °

These companies were deregistered during the year 2021. . ZERNRR T - —FEEHER
The following table list out the financial information related to AESE TREIEBEEE-_ESE-_—F+=-_H=
Group, of which the Group has material non-controlling interests +—HIEFEAESEE B (REEREAH
during the year ended 31 December 2021. The summarised financial BEERNEERER) WHBEER - TX
information presented below represents the amounts before any 2IHMHBERNBEREREMNEREAR

inter-company elimination.

&1 K 35 Al RO FRIR o

AESE Group AESE&E

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥ T ARETT

Proportion of ownership interests EERBREMFEMEEER

and voting rights held by BEEAE LB

the non-controlling shareholders 69.40% 68.90%
Current assets mENEE 634,750 47,172
Assets of disposal group classified DERFIEHELLE

as held for sales AREE = 320,546
Non-current assets EMBEE 39,608 60,294
Current liabilities mBRIE (36,189) (113,748
Liabilities of disposal group classified DERFEHEZLE

as held for sales ARlaE = (88,679)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (45,000) (57,079)
Net assets BEFE 593,169 168,506
Carrying amount of the non-controlling R RREE

shareholders 411,659 116,101

@4 Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RS U B 5E (88)
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20. KRB IHVEZS @)

2021 2020
—EZ—F —E-_FTF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBTT
CONTINUING OPERATIONS: FRERERE
Revenue W A 31,979 22,164
Total expenses R (120,195) (371,295)
Loss for the year from continuing operation RABBERKEEBTN
FARE (88,216) (349,131)
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS: ERIEERE -
Profit/[Loss) after tax for the year from RECKRIEEEEBTHNFENRN
discontinued operations B8 m (& 1) 329,643 (5,923)
Profit/(Loss] for the year F o FL (EE) 241,427 (355,054)
Other comprehensive income for the year FREMEEEA 507 378
Total comprehensive income/(loss] for the year ~ FRZEW A (E518) 458 241,934 (354,676)
Profit/(Loss) attributable to equity holders of AARRERAE A
the Company FEAE % R (E518) 73,877 (145,630
Profit/(Loss) attributable to non-controlling FE5 AR AR B B 1S
shareholders AL (&) 167,550 (209,424)
241,427 (355,054)
Total comprehensive profit/(loss) attributable to AR A& G AJE(L
equity holders of the Company 2% (EEB) e 74,032 (145,514)
Total comprehensive profit/(loss) attributable to 32 B% A% 5 & 46
non-controlling shareholders 2Hm A/ (Ei18) 85 167,902 (209,162)
241,934 (354,676)
CONTINUING OPERATIONS: FFREEERT
Net cash flows used in operating activities KEEHMARSREFE (63,574) (35,718
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities & & EB 1S (FFB) R &
mEFE 674,364 (38,013)
Net cash flows (used in}/from financing activities B & /EZ8) (FT ), FTBE S
mEFE (21,794) 63,247
Net cash inflows/[outflows) BERACR) F5E 588,996 (10,484)
I RERERTRAT

—E-—EER @
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21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 21. RIEE T BV

2021 2020

—B--F —E_FHF

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT T AR T T

1 January mn—HA— 4,250 437

Disposals & (4,250) —

Share of (losses)/profits of associates, net G B & 2 7 (E518), & 7 )F 58 - 3,813

At 31 December R+=—A=+—H — 4,250

Share of net assets and goodwill NEEEFERESE 39,484 47,309
Provision for impairment of interests in REEE R Bz Ea REREG

associates (39,484) (43,059)

—_ 4,250

Movement in the provision for impairment of interests in associates is

REEE R R B EREZESNT

as follows:
2021 2020
—E-—F —ET_FTHF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET ARET T
1 January w—H—H 43,059 43,059
Amount written off during the year FRMBERNEHE (3,575) —
At 31 December Rt+t-—A=+—H 39,484 43,059

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021
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21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had interests in the following

associates, all of which are considered not individually material to the

21. R E LTV @)

R_BE-_—5+-_A=+—H &x&H

HEUNTHRAE

ERUAEELTEXR

Group: B B A8 D T RE 25
Attributable equity
Country of interest held by  Principal activities and
Name of company establishment Paid in capital the Group place of operation
DAL B MEIR BARE ARESANEGRE IEXBRELHY
Beijing Chinese Racing Pigeon Sports PRC RMB10,000,000 0% Operation of racing pigeon
Culture Development Co., Ltd. (2020: 39.5%) sports competitions in PRC
“Beijing Chinese Racing Pigeon”) H AR 10,000,000 7T 0% EHELLHRGEELE
ERPBEERE UL ERERAA (ZZ2 225 :39.5%)
(MHERF 5]
Tianjin Zhonggi Weiye Sports Development PRC RMB10,526,320 40.6% Mobile games development and
Co., Ltd. ["Zhongqi Weiye) (2020: 40.6%) operation, in PRC
AETHEXEBEERARADA P H AR#10,5263207C 406% RTRREREERDES
(T tER]) (ZZZZF: 40.6%)
Beijing Weichu Information Technology ~ PRC RMB1,538,460 35.0% Mobile games development and
Co., Ltd. ["Beijing Weichu") (2020: 35.0%) operation, in PRC
ERMEERRMERA ] P H ARH1,538,4607C 35.0% RTBEREREELDEM
(M=) (Z2 T :350%)
Zhike Zongheng Cultural Media (Beijing] ~ PRC RMB289,465 20.0% Mobile games development and
Co., Ltd. [, "Zhike Zongheng") (2020: 20.0%) operation, in PRC
BRABRCERAR)ERAR  +E AR 2894657 200% REERERZEVLYER

(MEE4R))

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the subsidiary of the Group

and the partial owner of Beijing Chinese Racing Pigeon, Tianjin
Shengyou and the buyer entered into an agreement, pursuant to which,
Tianjin Shengyou sold 39.5% of the outstanding capital stock of Beijing

Chinese Racing Pigeon to the buyer. Tianjin Shengyou received the
consideration of RMB11,858,000 and included in the deposit of disposal
of an associate as at 31 December 2020 (Note 30(b)). During the year
ended 31 December 2021, the transfer of equity interest in Chinese
Racing Pigeon was completed and a gain on disposal of an associate of

RMB?7,608,000 was recognised in the profit or loss.

(ZZZFF :20.0%)

» REBZE=

Z_TE+_HA=+—HL

¢V AEEMBEARRIERFHEELZ
DEWAARZEFEBE R HH

TJ*JLt RIERE
Z BTSN B 239.5% °
F+=-—A=+—R0 XREH

IR B R L R R

R-—Zm-—%

—= —=

s B R

B8 AR #11,8580007t » W&t AHE&—

el Bt & A A) 2 7T & (M

F7E30(b)) - REZE

ZE - F+ZA=+—HLFE I
RAP R RIEEED T - WREE
BRALE —HBHEARZKREARE
7,608,000 7T °

BREREREREAT —FZ

—FFR
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22. GOODWILL 22. &
The net carrying amount of goodwill can be analysed as follows: EEREFEADTAT :

2021 2020

—E-—% —E T

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T ARET T

At 1 January R—A—H — 101,249

Net exchange differences M H =R E - (6,558

Reclassified to held for sale (Note 44(a)) BEHOBRIFIEHESE (Msdsla) — (94,691

At 31 December R+—A=+—H — —
As at 31 December 2020, goodwill related to WPT business were R-_EBE-_ZTFE+-_F=+—H BWPTEKH
reclassified to held for sale in Note 44(a). RN EEE RN UL ET D EERHIEHE -

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RS MR 5 (18)

Fortheyearended 31 December2021 B Z—ZE - —F+ A=+ —HILFE

S
23. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 23. MICEE
Game
intellectual
properties,
trademark Programmes
Computer and Brand and  Unfinished Development  Customer
Software licenses name filmrights contracts costs relationships Total
BEHAS
B BE HARER

ERBHA  RATER  BREHE R AZEMAK HERAX  EFHE gt
RMBOOD ~ RMBOO0 ~ RMBOO0  RMBOOD  RMBO00  RMBO00  RMBO00  RMB00O
ARBTT ARETE ARETE ARBTI ARETE ARETT ARETT ARETT

At1 January 2020 R-B-%%
-R-H
Cost A 18,104 232,227 203,052 288,988 33,498 34,351 47357 857,577
Accumulated amortisation and R &1 % 8 K5 EE B
impairment losses [16,425) (229,887) (81,733) (132,871) (33,498) (34,351) (47,357) (576,122)
Net book amount RHEFE 1,679 2,340 121,319 156,117 - - - 281,455
Year ended 31 December 2020 HZ-Z=FF
+=A=+-"H
LEE
Opening net book amount FUREFE 1,679 2,340 121,319 156,117 - - - 281,455
Additions NE 325 217 23,769 19,675 — - - 43,986
Disposal He - (371) - - - - - (371)
Amortisation 3] (452) (1,095) [24,971) (12,109) - - - (38,627)
Reclassified toheld forsale B D EEHEHE
(Note 44(a)) (W5t 44la)) (1,290] - [112,324) (153,155) - - - (266,769
Exchange differences ERER 85) (15) (7,793) (10,528) - (18,421)
Closing net book amount FARERE 177 1,076 - - - - - 1253
At 31 December 2020 R-ZBZ-2%
+=A=+-~H
Cost AR 14,345 163,773 - - - 32,785 47,357 258,260
Accumulated amortisationand 2zt # 5 MR EE B
impairment losses [14,168) (162,697) - - - (32,785) (47,357) [257,007)
Net book amount FEFE 177 1,076 - - - - - 1253
Year ended 31 December 2021 HZE-Z=—#
+=A=+-~H
LFE
Opening net book amount ENEEFE 177 1,076 - - - - - 1,253
Additions NE T4 2,740 - - - - - 2,814
Amortisation B (180) (1,473) - - - - - (1,653)
Exchange differences EAEE 2 (5) - - - - - (3)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 73 2,338 - - - = = 2,611
At 31 December 2021 RZB=--%
t=R=t-R
Cost AR 14,421 166,507 - - - 32,785 47,357 261,070
Accumulated amortisationand &% 3 KR EE B
impairment losses (14,348) (164,169) - - - (32,785) (47,357) (258,659)
Net book amount EmFE 73 2,338 - - - - - 2,611

HREEERERAT —E-—FER @
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23. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 23. BIEEE @)

Amortisation charges of intangible assets recognised is analysed as

follows:

ERRBEBEVEELHFEERONTMOT

2021 2020
—E-—& il ¥
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET ARET T
Cost of revenue W AR AR 180 1,246
Administrative expenses THHEX 1,473 37,381
1,653 38,627
Less: Discontinued operations (Note 44(b))  J& © B #% 1 48 & 2 7% (M 3£ 44(b)) = (37,082)
1,653 1,545
24. LOANS TO THIRD PARTIES 24. BMIPE=PLZER

2021 2020
—E-—&F —E_EF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 2 AR%ET ARBT T

Current portion BDHA 3 &
Loans B (a) 48,237 48,237
Interest receivables & W 7 B, 1,843 1,843
50,080 50,080
Less: ECL allowance B TEEEEEEEE (b) (50,080) (50,080
Total @st — —

@; Ourgame International Holdings Limited
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24. LOANS TO THIRD PARTIES (continued) 24. P E=PZER®@®
(a)  As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the loans to third parties of (a) R-E-—FEr-_ZE-_FTF+_-A1

RMB48,237,000 are due within next 12 months and are included
in current portion. The amount comprises of:

(i) RMB26,452,000 loan secured by a personal guarantee of
Ms. Fu Qiang, a non-executive director of the Company,

with interest rate of 5.5% per annum;

(i) RMB13,285,000 unsecured loan with interest rate of 1%

annum;

(i) RMB8,500,000 were secured by unlisted equity interest in
companies of the debtors incorporated in the PRC, of
which RMB4,000,000 were with interest rate 4.75% per
annum and RMB4,500,000 were interest-free.

=t+—B BFE=ZFZEFAER
#& 48,237,000 70 1A A 2R+ — & A A F
H AT ABVEAEE D o sX s EBAE

)  AR#264520007CH & X &
RNARIEMITEEBR LT
REMEAERER &F
FE5 5% &

i) AR#13,285,0007T &) & 1
BERUAFREI% L

lii) A E #8,500,0007T B R &
A AR S B B A 2 B 3E
FHEEER ERARE
4,000,000 7T 1% F F F4.75% 71
B M A K #4500,0007T &

=N
(b)  The movement in the ECL allowance is as follows: b) EHEEBERGIEBHET :
2021 2020
—E-—F —EEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AR®F T
At the beginning of the year R E ) 50,080 55,463
Amount written off during the year FREMESHE - (5,383
At the end of the year RERX 50,080 50,080
(c)  During the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no ) REBEE-_ZT-_—FRER_ZT_ZF
impairment was recognised in “Impairment of assets”. +TZA=T—HLEFE HER

[BERE|ERRME -

HRARSRERAT —E_—EER @
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25.

26.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 25. BRARESARBZEM
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS BE
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
Included in non-current assets STAERBEE
Unlisted equity investments FELEMBRAKZE 48,615 69,683
Included in current assets FTARBEE
Unlisted equity investments FEETRAKRE 7,577 -
56,192 69,683
The fair value of the Group's investments have been measured as AEEKEN DR BEE WK EL2(g) BTl
described in Note 42(g). {EEtE -
NON-CURRENT PREPAYMENTS 26. FEREENANRE

For the year ended 31 December 2019, non-current prepayments
represent US$3,500,000 (equivalent to RMB24,417,000) paid to TV
Azteca, S.A.B. DE C.V., a Grupo Salinas company ("TV Azteca”), in
connection with a strategic investment agreement with TV Azteca in

order to expand the Allied Esports brand into Mexico.

Additional US$1,500,000 was paid during the year ended 31 December
2020, and the total balance of non-current prepayment was
US$5,000,000 (equivalent to RMB34,516,000).

As at 31 December 2020, the directors of the Company considered
that the future cash flows are not expected to be sufficient to recover
the carrying value of this investment, an impairment loss of
US$5,000,000 (equivalent to RMB34,516,000) (Note 11) was recognised
in “Impairment of assets”.

As at 31 December 2021, the directors of the Company considered
that no future cash flows are expected to be recovered from this
investment, no reversal of the impairment was made for the year
ended 31 December 2021.
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27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 27. ES R EMEWRIE
2021 2020
—E-—F R TE
Note RMB’000 RMB'000

B &E ARET T AR¥ETT

Trade receivables B 5’ IE (a)
From third parties RKEE=FH 7,226 5,248
Less: ECL allowance B TREEEEERE (943) (544)
6,283 4,704
Other receivables H 1t FE WK E (b)
Deposits, prepayments and other Be - BNFRIER
receivables H b e W 5k IA 52,271 59,808
Advances to employees [1{E 8 EH BB 37 550
Loan to an ex-director of a subsidiary BT —RNB AR
(2020: Loan to a director of a subsidiary) —HAESHEN
(ZF=TF:
BT BB AR
—REBENER 4,637 4,480
57,279 64,838
Less: ECL allowance B TRHEEEERE (9,739) (17,636)
47,540 47,202
53,823 51,906
The directors of the Group considered that the fair values of trade and AEBEERAEZ MEMEKRFIEN
other receivables are not materially different from their carrying AREHEAKRABETEERERE D
amounts because these amounts have short maturity periods on their HRZESERELELE AR -
inception.
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27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 27. EZREMBINRIE @)
(a) Trade receivables (a) ESBIRIE
The credit terms of trade receivables are usually 30 to 90 days. BESRWFENEEHRBT A0
Ageing analysis based on recognition date of the gross trade Z90H - RBEAHRIEE ZEIK
receivables at the reporting dates is as follows: HIEHABENBEREBNRER DN
R

2021 2020

—E-—F —EZTF

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARET T

0-30 days 0230H 3,533 2,959

31-60 days 312 60H 1,073 534

61-90 days 61290H 961 575

91-180 days 912180 H 756 359

181-365 days 181&365H 300 283

Over 1 year BiRI1F 603 538

7,226 5,248

The movement in the ECL allowance is as follows: TEHEEEEREBESHNT

2021 2020

—2=—F —EZEF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BT T AR T T

At the beginning of the year REA) 544 27,582

ECL allowance recognised EHEREHEEZESEEE TAAA 460

Amount written off during the year REARMEZ &5 (45) (27,498)

At the end of the year RER 943 544

The Group applies simplified approach to provide for ECL

prescribed in IFRS 9. Provision for ECL have been included in

“Impairment of assets” in the consolidated statement of profit

or loss and other comprehensive income.

As at 31 December 2021, 38% (2020: 26%) of trade receivables
are due from two (2020: three) major distribution channels and

payment vendors in cooperation with

and board games business.

the Group's online card
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
M BRETME (B)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &% =

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(b)

Other receivables

E_—F+A=+—HILFE

Other receivables included loan receivable of a principal

amount of RMB19,951,000 (2020:

refundable prepayment of

financial assets of RMB10,000,000) which was reclassified from

refundable prepayment of financial assets, prepaid operating
expenses of RMB9,103,000 (2020: RMB10,882,000); advance to

(b) H it EURIR
H fth 8 4k 3K 08 B

27. ES R E MBI @)

B—FX2BAR

AE% 19,951,0007C A & I B 3
(ZE_ZEF:e@MEEZARME

& fF 3

E A R #10,000,0007T )
HESREEZAEE

SRR s

share repurchase scheme of RMB49,000 (2020: RMB6,831,000],
rental deposit of RMB2,689,000 (2020: RMB5,514,000), advances
to employees for various expenses to be incurred in the ordinary
course of business and advances to related companies. These
advances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand. The loan receivable is secured by properties in the

PRC, interest-free and repayable within one year.

E%ﬁ"iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂgﬁﬂi/\ﬁﬁ%
9103000 ( =T =T F: ARK
10,882,0007T) i 15 Bk 1n B [ 51 &
AREELO00T(ZEZFF: AR
#6,831,000) ek E& AR
268900 (T T F: AR
5514,0007C) BA K gt 4§ 1A B 8 % 75
BREFEANZHEAIMAES
EH Z 2R KA BB AREDZ
BR-ZEBHAEET - 288
BIRBEREE - ZERKERAN
PR EERR 28 AR —
FREE -

The movement of gross balance of other receivables (excluding B W RIB 2 e BB E (1
non-refundable prepayments) is as follows: BIETAREBNRE)WOT :
Stage 1 Stage 3 Total
Rl = FE=EER st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT AR®FT ARETT
Balance at 1 January 2020 RIZB_ZTF-F-HAZHER 19,839 12,027 31,866
New amounts originated EEZHEE 34,710 — 34,710
Amounts recovered or repaid FRBRIHKEEZ LB
during the year (15,981) (610) (16,591)
Transferred from loan to EYERTE=ZFZEXK
a third party — 6,443 6,443
Amount written off during FAMBE R
the year — (2,472) (2,472)
Transfer from Stage 1 to HE-—RBREBEEF=ER
Stage 3 (4,070) 4,070 —
Balance at 31 December 2020 R=—ZE=_FF+-_A=+—HEK
and 1 January 2021 T —F—R—BzH& 34,498 19,458 53,956
New amounts originated EEXZH&5E 19,333 — 19,333
Amounts recovered or repaid FRNBREKEEZ &5
during the year (15,394) (286) (15,680)
Amount written off during FAMBE 22
the year — (9,433) (9,433)
Balance at 31 December 2021 R=Z = — %
TZA=+—-HZ&& 38,437 9,739 48,176
I RERIZERBRA T

—E——EER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 27. ES R EMEWFRIE @)

(b) Other receivables (Continued) (b) E & WRIE @)
The movement in the ECL allowance of other receivables (Stage EmERZENEREEBER
3)is as follows: HEH(F=BR)WAT :
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBTTT

At the beginning of the year R EF ) 17,636 8,000
ECL allowance recognised EmRAEREEEERE 1,536 12,108
Amount written off during the year RERAMEZ 25 (9,433) (2,472)
At the end of the year RER 9,739 17,636
28. RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES 28. = PR &R 1T #E &R
As at 31 December 2021, the restricted bank balances primarily R—_TE-—F+_-_A=+—H8B ' %R
represented US$5,000,000 (equivalent to RMB31,852,000] (2020: HETER T EREEEASZETERN
US$5,000,000 (equivalent to RMB32,622,000)) placed into an escrow 5,000,000 7T (8 & 7 A K #31,852,000
account to be used for developing integrated eSports experience 7L)( == = F 4 :5000000E T(HEHE
venues at mutually agreed upon shopping malls owned and/or B AR #326220000T)) » E & B R &H
operated by Brookfield or any of its affiliates, that will include a Brookfield sk H fE /Bt B A L AT A &~
dedicated gaming space and production capabilities to attract and to gEENBMPLERBEERGESS
activate eSports and other emerging live events. GERGE RSHELEE —EEM

Mz ZE R S B BERE ) - DA 3]
AR EH R EME RIBIGES -

In June 2019, the AESE entered into a strategic initiative agreement [(the RZZE— %75 A ' AESEESimon Equity
“Simon Agreement”) with Simon Equity Development, LLC (“Simon”], Development, LLC ([Simon] + AESE 2 % %)
a shareholder of the AESE, pursuant to which Allied Esports would A1 — IR BB B 17 & ([Simon &)
conduct a series of mobile esports gaming tournaments and events at ¥& Itk » Allied Esports#§ 1A = & — JL &
selected Simon shopping malls and online called the Simon Cup, in T EER T —FEFEELHK
each of 2019, 2020 and 2021, and would also develop eSports and i Z7SimonE W5 RAF £ 8 —
gaming venues at certain Simon shopping malls in the US. RANBHEFRLEREE  WHHRE
SimonfE T & THEYE IS B R E R K iF
B35 3,

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Fortheyearended 31 December2021 B Z—ZE - —F+ A=+ —HILFE

28. RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES (continued) 28. = PR iR 1T 5 &R (m)

In March 2020, as the COVID-19 pandemic accelerated in the US,
Simon notified the escrow agent that the parties had not agreed on a
2020 spending plan and requested the return of the remaining funds
in the escrow account. The escrow agent returned the remaining
US$3,650,000 to Simon on 26 March 2020. During the year ended 31
December 2020, AESE recorded US$3,650,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB25,196,000), of loss of restricted bank balance by
the withdrawal of cash held in escrow account.

As at 31 December 2021, the remaining restricted bank balance of
RMB3,045,000 represented cash at a bank account which was frozen
by the court. The details of this restricted bank balance are set out in
Note 46 (b).

29. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

RZTEZFTF=F BEEZBERERNNE
‘ﬂﬁrar| F+i8  Simon® A€ B
REBBITOARMAE S _TF IR
Bt gERBE LEXEIEREA
ZHBRTESEB -AEARBER=-_Z=
TF= A=+ /NH B T3,650,000% T
R EISimon BHE_ZE_ZEF+ -8 =
+—BIFE  AESEEBIRIEERFE
Fr#38 £ 8% 153,650,000 7T (B E R4 A
R #25,196,00070) 2 3[R #l $5 17 4 82 18
950

RZFZ—F+ZA=+t—R %X
BR i) R 17 45 #& A R %6 3,045,000 7T 5 )X
fo R 2 RITIRF R E - AL X R
RAITAE B 2 BB E 46(b)

29. RITKBHRERRE

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-EF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AR T T
Cash at bank and on hand RITRFBEES 609,070 103,122
Bank balances and cash per the consolidated #r& B 75 kR & BT SR 17 45 84
statement of financial position KIR& 609,070 103,122
Reclassified to held for sale (Note 44(a)) EFHBRERIEHEE
(M4 5 44(a)) — (23,705)
609,070 79,417
Included in bank balances and cash of the Group is RMB19,303,000 REBNRTERERSBREFRRE
(2020: RMB&4,814,000) of bank balances denominated in Renminbi BHRITUARBETAREDFEZA

("RMB”) placed with banks in the PRC. The conversion of RMB into
foreign currencies is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign
exchange control promulgated by the PRC government. As of 31
December 2021 and 2020, other than the restriction from exchange
control regulations, there is no significant restriction on the Group.

R#19303000 (T2 F: ARK
64,814,0007T) W IRTT &8R- AR K18
HNEE Z B b B B AT A8 A6 /O SN BE B I i 1)
FHRENKRE - HE_ZT-_—FEK_F
—ZEF+_A=+—H BRIIIIEE
il 16 B 9 PR ) 9 + 2N £5 [ 7 4% 5 i ]
E AR o

BREREREEBAT —B_—FFR
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30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

3. ESREMEBNARE

2021 2020
—E-—% —E T4
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt 5 ARET T AR T T

Trade payables- to third parties BB ENRIE — BN
E=F (a) 10,053 11,589

Other payables H fth FE {3 TR E
Other payables and accrued charges H N IE R B A (b) 20,472 34,057
Staff costs and welfare accruals B IRk A N EREF 17,566 5,627
Accrued interest on convertible notes MR EENESTT A — 955
38,038 40,639
48,091 52,228
All amounts are short-term and hence the carrying values of trade FEcBEBREENRE RZT-_—FK

and other payables as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 were considered

to be a reasonable approximation of their fair values.

(a) Trade payable

The credit terms granted to the Group are usually 30 to 90 days.

The ageing analysis of trade payables to third parties based on

recognition date is as follows:

—E_EHET_A=+T—HWEZRE

it FE 5 BKIR O BR (B B 1T R B B

ENREHH -

(a) BEZEURIER

AEEERNEEHETRIE

90H -

BNFE=ZTHNEHENKALRE

REAHAOREITOT :

2021 2020

—E-—F —EEF

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARBT T

0 -30days 0%30H 5,271 5,816
31 - 60 days 31&260H 534 69
61 -90 days 61290H 600 3
91 - 180 days 912180 H 288 284
181 - 365 days 181&365H 720 3,100
Over 1 year HBiE1F 2,640 2,317
10,053 11,589

73;. Ourgame International Holdings Limited
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30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

(b) Other payables and accrued charges

As at 31 December 2020, other payable included a deposit
received in respect of disposal of an associate of RMB11,858,000
(Note 21].

31. DEFERRED REVENUE

30. EZ R EMBENRIR @)

(b) HMEITRIRRESTER

R-_ZE-_FEFE+_-_A=+—H =
fMhEMNRIBERER LS — HHE
AR WE 2 5T & A K #11,858,000
7T (B EE21) ©

1. BEWA

2021 2020
—E-—F —EZEF
RMB’000 RMB000

AR T ARMTTT

Contract liabilities arising from billing in BHRMBREMEEANENER

advance of performance

At 1 January mn—H—H 13,493 40,741

Recognised as revenue R AN (13,493) (40,741)

Addition NE 16,571 26,350
Reclassified to held for sale (Note 44(a)) ENOEERHEHES

(Bt 5% 44la)) - (12,857)

At 31 December R+=ZA=+—H 16,571 13,493

Deferred revenue represented service fees prepaid by the game
players for the Group's online games in the forms of prepaid game
cards, virtual currencies and virtual goods, for which the related
services had not been rendered at the reporting dates.

When the Group receives in advance before the services rendered,
this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a contract until
the revenue recognised for the services exceeds the amount of the
receipt in advance.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s deferred revenue is expected to
be recognised as revenue within one year. As a practical expedient,
this amount does not need to be considered for the effects of a

significant financing components.

I FE YA 48 7S SR B AR b e 8 e 25 B B 3K
NEMNERR EREERERD D
FABRNHREE MAKERHRSE A
5 i R SR A AR R AR TS

B & B R R AR 75 AT TR 5T WX GROR
B BEEREORARKELESADE
18 B =5t IR R 00 A B B TR MR
HEESLE -

RZZE=Z—F+=-—A=+—H A5H
ZEEWATERR —FARREKA -
ERAITTHEEA L LeBEBERER
BMELD 2 HBETUNER -

HRARSRERAT —E_—EER .@
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32. CONVERTIBLE NOTES

32. JRIRRE

2021 2020
—E-—F —E T4
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T AR¥ETT

Non-Current portion JEBPEA &8

Convertible Notes issued in 2020 RZE-TFET2BREREER - 9,734
Current portion BY HA &R o

Convertible Notes issued in 2019 RZE—NFETZ2IBREE - 13,610

- 23,344

Convertible Notes issued in 2020

On 8 June 2020, the Group’s subsidiary, AESE, issued convertible
notes with an aggregate principal amount of US$9,600,000 (the “2020
Convertible Notes”) (equivalent to approximately RMB66,271,000] and
immediately vested five-year warrants to purchase an aggregate
1,454,546 shares of common stock of AESE at an exercise price of
US$4.125 per share for net cash proceeds of US$9,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB62,129,000). The 2020 Convertible Notes are
secured by the assets of AESE, interest bearing at 8% per annum and
mature on 8 June 2022, with an aggregate of interest guaranteed to
be paid to the noteholders of US$1,536,000. The 2020 Convertible
Notes were accounted for as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss.

The 2020 Convertible Notes and two years of interest are payable in
equal monthly instalments (the “Monthly Redemption Payment”],
commencing on 7 August 2020.

Each Monthly Redemption Payment may be paid at the AESE’s option
in cash, or in AESE's common stock (the “Stock Settlement Option”)
at a price equals to 87% of the lowest daily volume weighted average
price in the 10 days prior to the scheduled payment date (the “Stock
Settlement Price”). The Stock Settlement Price cannot be lower than
US$0.734 per share. Monthly Redemption Payments paid in cash
require the payment of a 10% premium in addition to the monthly
instalment.

Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021
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32. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued)

Convertible Notes issued in 2020 (Continued)

Immediately prior to each Monthly Redemption Payment, the holders
of the 2020 Convertible Notes may accelerate up to four Monthly
Redemption Payments and may elect to have such accelerated
Monthly Redemption Payments paid in AESE's common stock at the
Stock Settlement Price, instead of in cash.

The 2020 Convertible Notes are convertible at each holder’s option, in
whole or in part, and from time to time, into shares of the AESE's
common stock (the “Holder Conversion Option” and together, with the
Stock Settlement Option, the "ECOs”) at US$3.30 per share (subject to
adjustment to convert at the same price as any subsequent issuances
of AESE common stock at a lower issuance price, subject to certain
exceptions) (the “Holder Conversion Price’]; provided, however, that
the parties may not affect any such conversion that would result in a
note holder (together with its affiliates) owning in excess of 4.99% of
the number of AESE's common stock outstanding immediately after
giving effect to the conversion (the “Beneficial Ownership Limitation”).
Each holder, upon notice to AESE, may elect to increase or decrease
its Beneficial Ownership Limitation, provided that the Beneficial
Ownership Limitation may not exceed 9.99%.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the remaining outstanding
principles of the 2020 Convertible Notes amounted to US$582,000 (2020:
US$9,018,000) was converted into AESE’s common stock on 2 January
2021.

Gain on conversion of convertible notes of RMB5,896,000 (2020: Loss
on conversion of convertible notes of RMB11,486,000) was credited to

profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Convertible Notes issued in 2019

On 15 May 2019, the Group issued convertible notes with an aggregate
principal amount of US$4,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB26,479,000) (the “2019 Convertible Notes”). The 2019 Convertible
Notes carry interest at 12% per annum, payable annually in arrears.
The 2019 Convertible Notes will mature in 12 months and the Group

shall redeem at 100% of the principal amount on the maturity date.

32. JRBREEm)

TECEFRITIUREK
E=E-30 )

EREHERFIEMN  — T T FA#H
BREBRFEATERRAIZNEZ ME
9 A B8 [0 5117 - 7 Al E 32 DAAESER) & R
AR REEE (MIENRE) X
BRERREF NS ABRERE -

—E_TFUAREBRURERFAAN
BETH B2 A2 RERI0ET
(B & T HISMERSN - AT IR E R ABIR B
1718 3 17T AESE & 3B A 19 48 [7) (B 18 & 5
B)([#H4E ANBH®(E|) =i SAESEE R
MRt ([H55 A g )@HH%‘?%Z
BommIREEnED: Rl ESS
%%EB@EE%%WMEKTTF‘WVE/\(
REBMBAL)REEBNERBERE
AR AESEE TSN B BIREE 194.99%
(ExEAERY]) SHEAFAEA

AESE% - A] 32 T%i‘bﬂ‘}ZMQ\EiﬁE%
RS EESEEERS TEEA
9.99% °

BE_ZT_—F+-_A=+—HBLL#F
B —ZE_ZFUBREREBERGRESR

K4 582,000k 7t (= ZT = 4 : 9,018,000
ELT)R-_ZE-_—F—A_HBHE®RA
AESE ¥ B % °

EH TR R E IR 2 W A R %5,896,000
T(ZEZTF ERIBKEBRZBE
AR¥114860000) EREBE =T = —
F+-_A=+—HLFEFABE-

"_E-NFROTITRRK
£
T-NAFHEA+EA AREHT

Z'Sé%ﬁé/ﬁtwooooo%ﬁ(m%mm)\
R #26,479,00070) 2 Al B = 5% ([ =

—NEFETHREER]) - _?*HE—H@
BERZRFEF 2% 8 BEREFER
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32. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued)

Convertible Notes issued in 2019 (Continued)

The noteholders shall have the right to convert the 2019 Convertible
Notes into equity securities of either each of Allied Esports and Black
Ridge (the “Conversion Equity Securities”), in each case in the event of
a qualified financing. The number of Conversion Equity Securities to
be issued to the noteholders shall equal to the product of (i} the
principal amount of the Convertible Notes being converted into
Conversion Equity Securities, divided by (i) US$8.50 (the “Conversion
Price”). The 2019 Convertible Notes were accounted for as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

On 5 August 2019, pursuant to the amendment agreements, 2019
Convertible Notes are secured by all property and assets owned by
AESE and its subsidiaries (after the Spin-off completed in 2019). The
maturity date was amended to 23 August 2020 (the “Maturity Date”).
The 2019 Convertible Notes were convertible into shares of AESE
common stock at any time before the Maturity Date at a conversion
price of US$8.50 per share. Further, the minimum interest to be paid
under each 2019 Convertible Notes shall be the greater of (a) 18
months of accrued interest at 12% per annum; or (b) the sum of the
actual interest accrued plus 6 months of additional interest at 12%
per annum. In the event of default, the 2019 Convertible Notes shall
become immediately due and payable upon the written notice of the
holder.

On 8 June 2020, principal amount of US$2,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB13,807,000) was repaid in cash together with
accrued interest.

Further, on 8 June 2020, the Group and the remaining two noteholders
in the aggregate principal amount of US$2,000,000, entered into a
Secured Convertible Note Modification (Extension] Agreement,
pursuant to which, among other things, the noteholders agreed to
extend the maturity date of their respective 2019 Convertible Notes to
23 February 2022. Interest on the 2019 Convertible Notes will continue
to accrue at 12.0% per year and may be prepaid without penalty. The
remaining provisions of the 2019 Convertible Notes remain unchanged
and in effect.

The 2019 Convertible Notes are secured by the WPT business.
Accordingly, it will necessary to pay-off the 2019 Convertible Notes
and the related interest payable upon the closing of the disposal of
WPT business. Hence, the 2019 Convertible Notes and the related
accrued interest have been classified as current liabilities as of 31
December 2020.
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32. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued)

Convertible Notes issued in 2019 (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the remaining principal
amount of US$2,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB12,905,000)
was repaid in cash together with accrued interest.

Gain on redemption of convertible notes of RMB557,000 was credited
to profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Convertible Notes issued in 2018

On 11 October 2018, the Group issued convertible notes with an
aggregate principal amount of US$10,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB68,632,000) (the “2018 Convertible Notes”). The
2018 Convertible Notes carry interest at 12% per annum, payable
annually in arrears. The 2018 Convertible Notes will mature in 12
months and the Group shall redeem at 100% of the principal amount
on the maturity date.

The noteholders shall have the right to convert the 2018 Convertible
Notes into equity securities of either (i} each of Allied Esports and
Noble Link, or (ii) a holding company was incorporated to hold the
Group's interests in Allied Esports and Noble Link ("AESWPT
Holdco"), in each case in the event of a qualified financing. Upon
exercise of the conversion right attached to the 2018 Convertible
Notes in full, the noteholders will receive up to 10% of the outstanding
equity securities of (i) each of Allied Esports and Noble Link or (ii]
AESWPT Holdco immediately prior to the closing of a qualified
financing (assuming full conversion or exercise of any convertible and
exercisable securities then outstanding other than the 2018
Convertible Notes). The 2018 Convertible Notes were accounted for as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

On 5 August 2019, pursuant to the amendment agreements, 2018
Convertible Notes are secured by all property and assets owned by
AESE and its subsidiaries (after the Spin-off completed in 2019). The
maturity date was extended to 23 August 2020 (the “Maturity Date 1°).
The 2018 Convertible Notes were convertible into shares of AESE
common stock at any time before the Maturity Date 1 at a conversion
price of US$8.50 per share. Further, the minimum interest to be paid
under each Note shall be the greater of (a) 18 months of accrued
interest at 12% per annum; or (b} the sum of the actual interest
accrued plus 6 months of additional interest at 12% per annum. In the
event of default, the 2018 Convertible Notes shall become immediately
due and payable upon the written notice of the holder.
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32. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued) 32. TRBRRR @
Convertible Notes issued in 2018 (Continued) RZE—N\EFRITZTRK
L340

On 29 April 2020, the Group and a noteholder of a US$5,000,000 2018 R-ZE_ZFWA_tAB AEEHE
Convertible Notes, entered into two amendments to offer the — % {B{A /5000000 T = — N\F7
noteholder to convert at reduced conversion price. On 19 April 2020, BMEEBRNRBERA AT LMEER]

principal amount of US$2,000,000 were converted at a reduced LRZEBFEARLDENEZESTHE
conversion price of US$1.60 per share, and on 22 May 2020, principal MELETER - R_T_FFMA+AI
amount of US$3,000,000 converted at a reduced conversion price of B A& #2000000X LB &AL THAS
US$1.40 per share. Interest payable in the amount of US$1,421,096 BMESRIOXTETESR: SR _F
(equivalent to approximately RMB9,272,000) (the “Accrued Interest”) —FFAA=-+=H A %%3000000
on the US$5,000,000 principal amount owed to the noteholder prior to XTERKETHABERESRILET
conversion will continue to accrue through the Maturity Date 1 (Note #1788 o 5L A £ #5,000,000%€ T 7%
34). HERAIGRZEBREAZEMNFE

1,421,096 3 7T (8 & R4 A R # 9,272,000
o) (R B D) BEERTEEZE H
B 1 (Fff5E34) A Ik ©

Loss on conversion of convertible notes of RMB36,225,000 was BHE-_Z_FEF+-_A=Z+—HL
charged to profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2020. FE BRUALAREBENEREARK
36,225, UUUEEATEﬁq:‘?Dﬁ% g

On 8 June 2020, principal amount of US$5,000,000 (equivalent to RZZEZFF;XA//\B - A& 5,000,000
approximately RMB34,515,000) was repaid in cash together with Fr(BERK AR345150007T) B A
accrued interest. ReEREFBEE-
The movements of Convertible Notes are as follows: MR ERNZEBEHF 0T
2021 2020
—E=-—F —E-ETF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARETT

At 1 January 3’\‘— )E] —H 23,344 96,506
Issue of 2020 Convertible Notes BT T BEREE — 66,271
Conversion to shares of a subsidiary — @Tﬁ/’%— fEl Bt BB & R]—AESE Z

AESE & 19 (3,754) (96,770)
Redemption of Convertible Notes g o) n] I =45 (12,905) (48,322)
Fair value changes recognised in profitor ~ RIETER 2 AR EBEEE

loss — 6,902
Gain on conversion/redemption of Bt TEE R MR R W

Convertible Notes (6,453)
Exchange difference [E N =% (232) (1,243)
At 31 December R+—_B=+—H — 23,344
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33. LEASE LIABILITIES 3. HE&E

2021 2020
—E-—% —E T4
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T AR T T
Total minimum lease payments: RIRHE N AEEE
Due within one year R—FREH 11,786 10,443
Due in the second to fifth year REZ_EZRFANIHEH 46,824 42,816
Due after the fifth year 2 A F 1% 5 B 14,892 13,456
73,502 66,715
Future finance charges on leases liabilities FfAE BB ARG E W E (16,314) (15,540)
Present value of leases liabilities HEBEMRE 57,188 51175
Present value of minimum lease payments: &K & ZHAIRE
Due within one year A — & A EI| Hf 7,457 6,231
Due in the second to fifth year NG e s E 35,774 32,241
Due after the fifth year RERFIEEH 13,957 12,703
57,188 51,175
Less: Portion due within one year included J&k : BT ARBBEN R —FA
under current liabilities FIHAE (7,457) (6,231)
Portion due after one year included under Bt AFERBEBEHN —F1&
non-current liabilities I H & 49,731 44,944
The lease liabilities arising from leases of buildings and eSports HEBFRERSEELEEERR

arena.

Eii?::%_—i‘f'_ﬂi—f'—ﬁﬂ:

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the total cash outflows for

the leases are RMB13,618,000 (2020: RMB21,674,000). FE ZSHEMNBEESRLABEAA
EMBMSOOUE(;T THE: AR
21,674,0007T) °

=
~ 7
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33. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued) 33. HE&Emw)

HETEEFR

R—_ZE-_—F+-_A=+—H A£E
MHBERELERSEILAS -

Details of the lease activities

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has entered into leases for offices
and eSport arena.

Financial statements

Types of items of right-of-use Range of remaining
right-of-use assets assets included in Number of leases lease term Particulars
FSATFIREZ
EREEENHK BHTAEH
EREEESS B HEHE #E &
Office Buildings in “right-of- 4 1.6t03years o Nooption to renew the lease after the end of the
assets” (2020:3)  (2020: 0.1 to 0.6 years) contract
D ES A [(EREEAEITZET 4 16Z3F . REBRRANBEREBENE
(ZB=%%:3) (ZE-ZF:01206%)
eSport arena eSports arena in 1 b.years o Contains an option to renew the lease for
“right-of-assets” (2020:1)  (2020: 6.2 years) additional 5 years after the end of the contract
by giving notice to landlord no earlier than 15
months and no later than 9 months prior to the
expiration of the initial term of the contract
BHIHE [(EREEEITZ 1 64%F s RE-REBRUNANARKESMES
EHRAE (Z2=ZFF:1) (ZE=ZF:6029) 5% ABRA NN S BRERARF 15
AREEIEAMEEZH LA
34. LOANS PAYABLE 4L BB
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-EF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR¥T T AR T T
Non-current portion I BN EA &
Other loans payables ERHEMER (a) — 2,401
Current portion BPHA 3 &
Other loans payables JE - H B 3R (a) - 3,517
Bridge loan payables JE B R B 3R (b) - 9,272
- 12,789
- 15,190
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34. LOANS PAYABLE (continued) 34. BINERm
(a)  As at 31 December 2020, the amount represents US$907,000 a) R-ZE-_FEF+-_A=+—8"
loans under PPP Loans in the United States. The amount is ZHIEERPPPEXRETHNE
interest-bearing from 0.98% to 1.00% per annum and mature in X 907,0003 T ° #Z X JH & F F X
Year 2022. In August 2021, AESE was awarded full forgiveness 0.98%Z=1.00%5t &8 WR=ZFT ==
of the PPP Loans and accrued interest thereon. During the year FEEB RZZT=Z—F/)UH ' AESE
ended 31 December 2021, the Group recognised a gain on B2 HEE2PPPE & & H E &t F
forgiveness of the PPP Loans and accrued interest in the Bo#HETE - —F+=ZA=+—
amount of US$912,000 (equivalent to RMB5,888,000). HIEFEE AEEBERERLPPPE

RN FEETF) B U £5912,000 3 JT (40
B AR#58880007T) °

(b)  The amount was converted from Accrued Interest (Note 32). (b) ZIEEIE ERFE (FEE32) ©
The amount is interest-bearing at 12% per annum and mature FZRIBEFENERI2%TE - LR =
on 23 February 2022. During the year ended 31 December 2021, T —F-AF-+=ZHEH - RE
AESE repaid the bridge loan in full. E-FT-_—F+-A=+—H1

FE AESEERHERZBERE
%ﬁ’\ o
35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. B
The movements in the share capital of the Company are as follows: AABIEAEESHMT ¢
Equivalent
Nominal nominal
Number value of value of
of shares shares shares
R4 #
RH#E RO EE ZEHH
Notes US$000 RMB'000
(i TErn AREFT
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares: B
At 31 December 2020 and 2021 RZE-LTER-F-—F
+-A=+—H 10,000,000,000 500
Issued and fully paid: BERTRHE:
Ordinary shares: ZBR -
At 1 January 2020 RZZE-_FTF—F—H 1,093,355,443 56 340
Cancellation of issuance of shares HAHEROET (i) (15,555,556) (1) (5)
At 31 December 2020, 1 January 2021and R-ZE-ZTF+-A=+—-H"
31 December 2021 —EZ-§-A-BRZ=%
——%+-ZA=1+—H 1,077,799,887 55 335

HRARSRERAT —E_—EER @
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35. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Note:

(i)

Cancellation of issuance of shares

On 9 February 2018, the Company issued 15,555,556 ordinary shares at
an issue price of HK$2.62 (equivalent to approximately RMB2.16) per
share as share consideration for the acquisition of the entire equity
interest in Nanjing Haoyun Meicheng Electronics Co., Ltd. ("the Nanjing
Acquisition”). The closing price of the shares was HK$2.51 (equivalent to
approximately RMB2.02) per share on 9 February 2018.

On 23 December 2019, the Company received a binding arbitral award
issued by Nanjing Arbitration Commission that the Nanjing Acquisition
being cancelled, therefore the 15,555,556 consideration shares issued to
Ms. Zhu Guifeng was returned to the Company for cancellation. On 8
January 2020, the 15,555,556 consideration shares were returned to and
cancelled by the Company.

Further details of the Nanjing Acquisition and cancellation of shares are
set out in the Company’s announcements dated 16 January 2018, 30
January 2018, 9 February 2018 and 23 December 2019.

36. RESERVES

(a)

(b)

Share premium

Share premium represents the excess of the net proceeds from
issuance of the shares of the Company over its par value, less
any dividends paid out of the share premium account and any
premium paid for the repurchase of shares of the Company.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations for the
Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC, it is required
to appropriate 10% of its annual net profit determined in
accordance with China Accounting Standards for Enterprises
issued by the Ministry of Finance of PRC, after offsetting any
prior years' losses, to the statutory reserve. When the balance
of such a reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital of the
respective company, any further appropriation is at the
discretion of shareholders. The statutory reserve can be used to
offset prior years’ losses, if any, and may be converted into
share capital by issuing new shares to shareholders in
proportion to their existing shareholding or by increasing the
par value of the shares currently held by them, provided that
the remaining balance of the reserve after such an issue is not
less than 25% of registered capital. The statutory reserve is

non-distributable.
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36. RESERVES (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Translation reserve

Translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
for the translation of financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policy in Note 2.5.

Share option reserve

Share option reserve represents the fair value of share options
granted by the Company to employees recognised and is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2.22.

Other reserve

Other reserve represent (i) capital reserve arises from capital
contribution by the controlling shareholders; and [(ii] the
difference between the consideration and the carrying amount
of the net assets attributable to the additional and reduction of
interests in companies comprising the Group being acquired
from and disposed to non-controlling equity holders
respectively.

37. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS

(a)

Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme of
the Company in 2014

Pursuant to an unanimous written resolution of the Board on 7
March 2014, a share option scheme (“Management Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme”] and respective share options granted by
the Company on 20 February 2014 was adopted and ratified by
the Board. The Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme was
adopted for the purpose of providing participants an opportunity
to acquire proprietary interests in the Company and help
motivate such participants to optimise their performance and
efficiency, and also to help retain the participants for the
continual growth and development of the Group. The maximum
number of shares to be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Management
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme must not in aggregate exceed 6%
of the issued share capital of the Company after an initial public
offering ("IPO”), as defined. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options in
cash.

36. BB

(c)

(d)

(e)
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37. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a)

Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme of
the Company in 2014 (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2014, share options (in
aggregate to purchase 6% of the issued share capital of the
Company after an IPO were granted by the Company) on 20
February 2014 to senior management of the Group with
estimated total fair value of approximately RMB52,870,000. The
exercise price of the share options granted is US$0.34398035
per share (subject to adjustment]. The share options are valid
for a period of 10 years from 20 February 2014 to 19 February
2024. Twenty five percent of options granted shall vest on the
first anniversary of the grant date, and the remaining options
granted shall vest on 36 equal monthly instalments with the
first instalment vesting upon the 13th monthly anniversary of
the grant date and each of the remaining instalments vesting
on each monthly anniversary of the 13th monthly anniversary of
the grant date, and for the participant continuing to be an
employee of the Group or director of the Company until and on
the relevant vesting dates. In addition, the share options are
only exercisable after the completion of an IPO.

On 30 June 2014, upon the completion of the capitalisation
issue and the Listing, the total number of share options granted
equate to 50,042,553 share options at an adjusted exercise price
of US$0.16714303 per share.

37. MR RERNMER S
()

(a) “TES—NFERANTERE
BRLHBERNBIRES
2l ()

HE-_Z—MNMF+=-A=+—H
FTEE ARBAR T —MF =
AZt+ERASESAEREER
EHERE(RTEERNRAFARE
RAFABEEREBITRAMNGS)
FFRA R EDN A ARS52870,000
ToERLERENTEEAER
0.34398035% 7T (A T &) - BB R
EAEBE-ZT—NF-_A=FTHZE
ZE_WNFE_ATABIETFEA
AR -ERELBREMNEDS Z =T
ABRAELASENE —EAFA
RE B TCEEMBEREANIS
BMEARNZAEENHEE £
SEARE B HMNE13E A
ﬁia i eR B0 RE R R R A
HEBEAABRFAET AN HE
% B2HEEREEZEHEEEH
H(eEEZB)MAAEEMNES
HADNBIMES - I BRREE
ARERARBEETKEITE-

R-ZZE—NESA=1+8 TKE
NEBETR EME  DEEARST
1# {8 & 1% 0.167143033= 7T % I &9 B8
fi% % 48 2 450,042,553 17 °

Exercise price Outstanding as at

Exercisable period per share 31 December 2021
R=-TB=-—F
+=HA=+—H
1THEH BRTEE i R AT R
Us$
XL
Directors 1 Jul y 2017 to 30 June 2026 0.16714303 41,702,128
) —+F+tA—BEZE-_RF,A=1H
Employee 20 February 2015 to 19 February 2024 0.16714303 4,517,802
Ea —E-RAF-A=-tHEZZ-_WMF=-A+AhAH
46,219,930
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37. SHARE-BASED COMPENS